O
2
€23

Leicester
City Council

MEETING OF THE CHILDREN, YOUNG PEOPLE AND EDUCATION
SCRUTINY COMMISSION

DATE: TUESDAY, 24 JANUARY 2023

TIME: 5:30 pm

PLACE: Meeting Room G.01, Ground Floor, City Hall, 115 Charles
Street, Leicester, LE1 1FZ

Members of the Commission
Councillor Batool (Chair)
Councillor Willmott (Vice-Chair)

Councillors Khan, Dr Moore, Riyait and Thalukdar
(1 unallocated Labour place)
(1 unallocated Conservative/non-grouped place)

Co-opted Members (Voting)
Carolyn Lewis Church of England Diocese
Mr Mohit Sharma

Standing Invitees (Non-Voting)

Youth Representatives

Jennifer Day Teaching Unions representative
Janet McKenna UNISON Branch Secretary

Members of the Commission are invited to attend the above meeting to consider the items of
business listed overleaf.

For the Monitoring Officer
Officer contacts:

Tel: 0116 454 5843, e-mail: jacob.mann@leicester.gov.uk
Leicester City Council, City Hall, 3rd Floor Granby Wing, 115 Charles Street, Leicester, LE1 1FZ



Information for members of the public
Attending meetings and access to information

You have the right to attend formal meetings such as Full Council, committee meetings, and Scrutiny
Commissions and see copies of agendas and minutes.

However, on occasion, meetings may, for reasons set out in law, need to consider some items in
private.

Due to Covid we recognise that some members of the public may not feel comfortable viewing a
meeting in person because of the infection risk.

Anyone attending in person is very welcome to wear a face covering and we encourage people to
follow good hand hygiene and hand sanitiser is provided for that purpose.

If you are displaying any symptoms of Coronavirus: a high temperature; a new, continuous cough; or
a loss or change to your sense of smell or taste, and/or have taken a recent test which has been
positive we would ask that you do NOT attend the meeting in person please.

Dates of meetings and copies of public agendas and minutes are available on the Council’'s website
at www.cabinet.leicester.gov.uk or by contacting us using the details below.

Making meetings accessible to all

Wheelchair_access — Public meeting rooms at the City Hall are accessible to wheelchair users.
Wheelchair access to City Hall is from the middle entrance door on Charles Street - press the plate on
the right hand side of the door to open the door automatically.

Braille/audio tape/translation - If you require this please contact the Democratic Support Officer
(production times will depend upon equipment/facility availability).

Induction loops - There are induction loop facilities in City Hall meeting rooms. Please speak to the
Democratic Support Officer using the details below.

Filming and Recording the Meeting - The Council is committed to transparency and supports efforts to
record and share reports of proceedings of public meetings through a variety of means, including
social media. In accordance with government regulations and the Council’s policy, persons and press
attending any meeting of the Council open to the public (except Licensing Sub Committees and where
the public have been formally excluded) are allowed to record and/or report all or part of that meeting.
Details of the Council’s policy are available at www.leicester.gov.uk or from Democratic Support.

If you intend to film or make an audio recording of a meeting you are asked to notify the relevant
Democratic Support Officer in advance of the meeting to ensure that participants can be notified in
advance and consideration given to practicalities such as allocating appropriate space in the public
gallery etc..

The aim of the Regulations and of the Council’s policy is to encourage public interest and
engagement so in recording or reporting on proceedings members of the public are asked:

to respect the right of others to view and hear debates without interruption;

to ensure that the sound on any device is fully muted and intrusive lighting avoided,;

where filming, to only focus on those people actively participating in the meeting;

where filming, to (via the Chair of the meeting) ensure that those present are aware that they
may be filmed and respect any requests to not be filmed.

DN NI NN

Further information

If you have any queries about any of the above or the business to be discussed, please contact:


http://www.cabinet.leicester.gov.uk/
http://www.leicester.gov.uk/

, Democratic Support Officer on 0116 454 5843.
Alternatively, email jacob.mann@Ieicester.gov.uk, or call in at City Hall.

For Press Enquiries - please phone the Communications Unit on 0116 454 4151.



)

City Council JSEFUL ACRONYMS IN RELATION TO OFSTED AND

EDUCATION AND CHILDREN’S SERVICES
(updated November 2015)

Acronym | Meaning

APS Average Point Score: the average attainment of a group of pupils; points
are assigned to levels or grades attained on tests.

ASYE Assessed and Supported Year in Employment

C&YP Children and Young People

CAMHS Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service

CFST Children and Families Support Team

CicC Children in Care Council

CIN Children in Need

CLA Children Looked After

CLASS City of Leicester Association of Special Schools

COLGA City of Leicester Governors Association

CPD Continuing Professional Development

CQcC Care Quality Commission

CYPF Children Young People and Families Division (Leicester City Council)

CYPP Children and Young People’s Plan

CYPS . . .

Scrutiny Children, Young People and Schools Scrutiny Commission

DAS Duty and Advice Service

DCS Director of Children’s Services

EAL English as an Additional Language

EET Education, Employment and Training

EHA Early Help Assessment

EHCP Education Health and Care Plan

EHP Early Help Partnership

EHSS Early Help Stay Safe

EIP Education Improvement Partnership




Early Learning Goals: aspects measured at the end of the Early Years

ELG
Foundation Stage Profile

EY Early Years

EYFS Early Years Foundation Stage: (0-5); assessed at age 5.

EYFSP Early Years Foundation Stage Profile
Foundation Stage: nursery and school Reception, ages 3-5; at start of

Es Reception a child is assessed against the new national standard of
‘expected’ stage of development, then teacher assessment of
Foundation Stage Profile areas of learning

FSM Free School Meals

GCSE General Certificate of Education

GLD Good Level of Development

HMCI Her Majesty’s Chief Inspector

HR Human Resources

ICT Information, Communication and Technology

IRO Independent Reviewing Officer

JSNA Joint Strategic Needs Assessment

KPI Key Performance Indicator

KS1 Key Stage 1: National Curriculum Years (NCYs) 1 and 2, ages 5-7;
assessed at age 7.

KS2 Key Stage 2: NCYs 3, 4, 5, and 6, ages 7-11; assessed at age 11.

KS3 Key Stage 3: NCYs 7, 8 and 9, ages 11-14; no statutory assessment.

KS4 Key Stage 4: NCYs 10 and 11, ages 14-16; assessed at age 16.

KTC Knowledge Transfer Centre

LA Local Authority

LADO Local Authority Designated Officer

LARP Leicester Access to Resources Panel

LCCIB Leicester City Council Improvement Board

LCT Leicester Children’s Trust

LDD Learning Difficulty or Disability

LESP Leicester Education Strategic Partnership

LLEs Local Leaders of Education

LP Leicester Partnership




LPP Leicester Primary Partnership

LPS Leicester Partnership School

LSCB Leicester Safeguarding Children Board
LSOAs Lower Super Output Areas

MACFA Multi Agency Case File Audit

NCY National Curriculum Year

NEET Not in Education, Employment or Training
NLEs National Leaders of Education

NLGs National Leaders of Governance

OFSTED | Office for Standards in Education, Children’s Services and Skills
PEPs Personal Education Plans

Pl Performance Indicator

PVI Private, Voluntary and Independent

QA Quality Assurance

RAP Resource Allocation Panel

RI Requires Improvement

SA Single Assessment

SALT Speech and Language Therapy

SCR Serious Case Review

SEN Special Educational Needs

SEND Special Educational Needs and Disabilities
SIMS Schools Information Management Systems
SLCN Speech, Language and Communication Needs
SLEs Specialist Leaders of Education

SMT Senior Management Team

SRE Sex and Relationship Education

TBC To be Confirmed

TFL Tertiary Federation Leicester

TP Teenage Pregnancy

UHL University Hospitals Leicester

WIT Whatever it Takes

YOS Youth Offending Service




YPC

Young People’s Council




PUBLIC SESSION

AGENDA

FIRE / EMERGENCY EVACUATION

If the emergency alarm sounds, you must evacuate the building immediately by the
nearest available fire exit and proceed to the area outside the Ramada Encore Hotel
on Charles Street as directed by Democratic Services staff. Further instructions will
then be given.

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Members are asked to declare any interests they may have in the business to
be discussed.

3. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING Appendix A
(Pages 1 - 6)

The minutes of the meeting of the Children, Young People, and Education
Scrutiny Commission held on 6 December 2022 are attached and Members are
asked to confirm them as a correct record.

4. CHAIR'S ANNOUNCMENTS

5. PETITIONS

The Monitoring Officer to report on the receipt of any petitions.

6. QUESTIONS, REPRESENTATIONS, AND
STATEMENTS OF CASE

The Monitoring Officer to report on any questions, representations, or
statements of case received.

7. DRAFT REVENUE BUDGET 2023/24 AND DRAFT Appendix B
CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2023/24 (Pages 7 - 72)

The Director of Finance submits the following reports setting out the City
Mayor’s proposed Draft Revenue Budget 2023/24 and Draft Capital Budget
2023/24. The Commission is recommended to consider and comment on the
Children, Young People and Education element of the budgets. The
Commission’s comments will be forwarded to the Overview Select Committee



10.

11.

as part of its consideration of the reports before they are presented at the
Council meeting on 22 February 2023

PUBLIC HEALTH REPORT - THE IMPACT OF COVID- Appendix C
19 ON CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE IN THE (Pages 73 - 120)
EAST MIDLANDS

The Director of Public Health submits a report by the Office for Health
Improvement and Disparities into the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on
children and young people in the East Midlands.

Commission Members are asked to note the contents of the report and
consider it's implications for Children’s and Education Services in Leicester.

RESIDENTIAL CHILDREN'S HOMES - VERBAL
UPDATE ON CONSULTATION

The Strategic Director of Social Care and Education will present a verbal
update on the consultation for the proposed expansion of Children’s Homes in
the city.

WORK PROGRAMME Appendix D
(Pages 121 - 124)

The Commission’s Work Programme is attached for information and comment.

ANY OTHER BUSINESS






A Appendix A

Coo

o

Leicester
City Council

Minutes of the Meeting of the
CHILDREN, YOUNG PEOPLE AND EDUCATION SCRUTINY COMMISSION

Held: TUESDAY, 6 DECEMBER 2022 at 5:30 pm

PRESENT:

Councillor Batool (Chair)
Councillor Willmott (Vice Chair)

Councillor Khan Councillor Dr Moore

Standing Invitees (Non-Voting)

Henry Zawadzki Youth Representative
Jennifer Day Union Representative

Also Present

Councillor Russell — Deputy City Mayor

*k*k*x ** ***x

41. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies were received from Councillor Riyait, Janet McKenna, and Mohit
Sharma.

42. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Members were asked to declare any interests they may have had in the
business to be discussed.

There were no declarations of interest.

43. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
AGREED:

1. That the minutes of the meeting of the Children, Young



44.

45.

46.

People and Education Scrutiny Commission held on 25
October 2022 be confirmed as a correct record.

PETITIONS

The Monitoring Officer reported that none had been received.

QUESTIONS, REPRESENTATIONS, AND STATEMENTS OF CASE

The Monitoring Officer reported that none had been received.

CHILDREN OUT OF SCHOOL REPORT

The Strategic Director of Social Care and Education submitted a report to
provide an overview about the provision of education to children who were not
on the roll of a state-maintained school, also those who were on roll but
attending alternative provision, and the statutory responsibilities and processes
of the local authority.

The Principal Education Officer presented the item, it was noted that:

It was a parental duty to ensure that their children had access to
education, and the Council’'s powers and responsibilities around children
out of school were limited.

There had been a significant increase since the pandemic of children
being electively home educated.

The Council took action to follow up on those children who were missing
from education.

There were 14 independent schools in the city, the Council now received
the data of who was coming onto and off of those school rolls.

There was a new duty to ensure that independent schools had
appropriate safeguarding audits in place. There were specific
inspections around safeguarding.

There were also responsibilities around monitoring those moving
schools, applying for schools when emigrating, or leaving the city.

In response to questions from Members and Youth Representatives, it was
noted that:

There was a through approach in finding children whose cases needed
to be followed up.

The largest change on numbers in previous years was the numbers
being electively home educated. There had been a fluctuation in
independent school numbers as well.

The level in movement in numbers was now more dynamic than in
previous decades.

The start of the school year was a hotspot point for parents to withdraw
their children from school rolls.



47.

e These figures were not published on a national level so comparison with
other authorities was not currently possible. However, DfE were
expected to soon be publishing more data in this area which could lead
to comparison.

e The increase in those being electively home educated seemed to be a
national trend.

e There was now only one independent school which had not provided a
safeguarding audit, an escalation process was ongoing. This could lead
to the school being identified to the Independent Schools Inspectorate.

e The Council had no role in regulating the provision of online education. It
was anticipated regulatory powers may be brought in with the upcoming
Online Safety Bill.

e The DfE were not currently providing any additional funding for these
new responsibilities despite the expectation of new burden funding,
there was widespread concern about this. Efforts were ongoing to
manage the increased demand with lesser resources.

e Current guidance suggested the Council do an annual check on each
home educated child.

e There was evidence that there were home educating groups to allow
contact with peers. Is there was no evidence of socialisation for children
then that would be of concern from the Council regarding this.

e There was no obligation for parents home educating to follow any given
curriculum.

AGREED:

1. That the Commission expresses concern over the lack of new burden
funding for the additional responsibilities around monitoring children out
of school.

2. That the Commission asks for a verbal update at a future meeting
regarding the outstanding safeguarding audit from the independent
school

YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2022-23

The Strategic Director of Social Care and Education submitted a report on the
Youth Justice Plan for 2022-23.

The Deputy City Mayor for Social Care and Anti-Poverty introduced the item,
noting that the recent Youth Service Awards had shown several examples of
the positive impact of the Council’s work with young people in the criminal
justice system.

The Strategic Director of Social Care and Education noted that due to the
timetables set out by the National Youth Justice Board, the Plan had already
been submitted and approved by the Board several months ago. Comments to
build into the Plan for 2023-24 were welcomed.

The Head of Service for Early Help presented the item, it was noted that:



e The format of the Plan had to be changed to fit the new template set out
by the Board. However, the focus was still on examining the approach of
Services, the performance of Services, and the financial picture.
Celebrating achievements and sharing ambitions were a key part of the
Plan.

e Local successes included inroads in reducing the numbers of CLA
entering the criminal justice system.

e The prevention agenda remained a high priority.

e The REACH Team pilot focused on reducing school exclusions. This
had been successful and further funding had been received.

e There had been an emphasis on participation to ensure co-production.

o KPIs were measured by the Government.

e During the pandemic there were issues with post-16 employment
retention due to casual contracts being ended quickly.

e Another area of emphasis was work with victims, including meditation
sessions.

In response to questions from Members and Youth Representatives, it was
noted that:

e The numbers of young people committing crime in Leicester was
consistently reducing.

e There was extensive work with schools to help raise awareness for the
support available for vulnerable young people but also to make clear the
consequences of crime.

e Officers were not fond of the new template set out by the Board.

e There had been a number of campaigns focusing on gang crime.

e There had been a task and finish group into disproportionality in young
people entering the criminal justice system. The group found that black
males were more likely to enter the system at a earlier age and receive
a more significant outcome. There was also a disproportion of white
males in the system.

e The Board gave the Council a grant, often late in the year. This year
there had been an uplift of £90k in the grant. There was also additional
funding for prevention work. This work was becoming increasingly
dependent on grants from Government and other partners as opposed
to being funded from the general fund. This made it difficult to have a
longer-term approach.

e The area of evidence-based interventions required more investment,
however work with partners helped to ensure more efficient work.

e There had been no additional funding to help with regard to the recent
issues in the east of the city.

e The Service used the Lundy model of participation and had a strong co-
production arm.

AGREED:

1. That the Commission requests that Officers enquire with the National
Youth Justice Board to see comparison data with local comparator

4



48.

Council’s on serious youth violence and exploitation.

2. That the Commission requests that Officers provide the findings of the

task and finish group into disproportionality to Commission Members.

JOURNEY TO EXCELLENCE: ONE YEAR ON FROM THE OFSTED
INSPECTION OF LOCAL AUTHORITY SERVICES (ILACS)

The Strategic Director of Social Care and Education submitted a report
updating the Commission on the follow on steps for Children’s Services from
the OFSTED inspection in 2021.

The Strategic Director of Social Care and Education presented the item, it was
noted that:

Every 3 years there was a full ILACS inspection which produced a
grade, in other years there would be joint targeted inspections, focused
visits, and annual engagement meetings.

A new inspection framework for SEND Services had recently been
signed off.

The Youth Justice Service was subject to inspections by the Probation
Service.

The outcome of the previous ILACS inspection in 2021 was a ‘good’
rating. Despite this there was a still an ambition to improve Services, not
to get an improved outcome of the next inspection but to provide the
best Service possible.

An Excellence Board had been created to bring partners together to
focus on improving Services. The previous President of the Association
of Directors of Children’s Services had agreed to Chair the Board, and
north Tyneside Council would also support the Council.

There were challenges with the increased demand for Social Care and
Early Help, financial pressures, and the shortage of qualified Social
Workers. Work was ongoing to look at how work was allocated to see if
there could be less dependency on qualified Social Workers.

There would be a focus on Early Help so that less support would be
needed later down the line. Other Councils with the ‘outstanding’ rating
had that focus on early intervention. The concern was around the lack of
resources for this.

The joint targeted inspection originally scheduled for December had
been postponed, a focused visit would instead be held on the week
commencing 12 December 2022. A narrative report will be published on
30 January 2023.

There was always 1 week notice ahead of inspections.

The Chair thanked Officers and wished everyone the best of luck for the joint
targeted inspection.

AGREED:

That the Commission notes the update.



49.

50.

51.

COMMISSIONING APPROACH TO SEND TRANSPORT - UPDATE

The Strategic Director of Social Care and Education submitted a report
providing the Commission with an update on the commissioning programme for
Special Education Needs and Disabilities (SEND), including the Taxi re-
procurement exercise to ensure new contracts were in place with effect from 1
April 2022 and progress on managing demand and reducing reliance on the
use of taxis.

The Director of SEND and Early Help presented the item, it was noted that the
new taxi provision was now in place.

In response to a question from the Chair, it was noted that there was no
evidence could be provided of collusion in the dynamic purchasing system.

The Chair requested a report on who the contractors were for the last 5 years,
how many were engaged, and what the criteria for contractors was.

AGREED:
That the Commission requests that Officers provide Commission
Members with information on who has received SEND taxi
contracts in the last 5 years, how many companies were
engaged, and what the criteria for the contracts was.

WORK PROGRAMME

Members of the Commission were invited to consider content of the work
programme and were invited to make suggestions for additions as appropriate
to be brought to future meetings.

ANY OTHER BUSINESS

The Director of SEND and Early Help presented a brief verbal update on the
situation regarding residential amenity at Ash Field Academy. It was noted that
the consultation had been extended for a further 2 weeks and would now end
on 9 January 2023. A copy of the report was also attached to the consultation.
School Governors had been contacted regarding the possibility of opening up
the provision, they stated that a decision on funding needed to be made first.

There being no other business, the meeting closed at 7.10pm.



Appendix B
Councill

Date: draft for 22" February 2023

Revenue B 2023/24

Lead director; Direc f Finance

N

é’? City Mayor

DRAFT GF Budget Report 23-24



Useful information
B Ward(s) affected:

B Report author: Catherine Taylor/Mark Noble

B Author contact details: catherine.taylor@leicester.qov.uk

mark.noble@leicester.gov.uk

B Report version number: 1

1.
11

1.2

2.2

2.3

Purpose

The purpose of this report is to present the City Mayor’s proposed budget for
2023/24 and to describe the future financial outlook.

The proposed budget is described in this reportgsubject to any amendments the
City Mayor may wish to recommend when he makes a firm proposal to the Council.

Summary

The medium term financial outlookdis the most severe we have known, in our
twenty six years as a unitary authority. We are facing restricted Government
funding at a time of increasing costs, which will inevitably leadtoypainful spending
cuts.

The background to this severe outlook is:

(a) a “decade of austerity” between“2020 and 2020,in which services other than
social care had tesbe reduced by 50% in reabterms. This has substantially reduced
the scope toimake further cuts;

(b) the covid-19,pandemic where we set “stop gap” budgets whilst we dealt with
the immediate emergency..Budgets in 2021/22 and 2022/23 were supported by
reserves oh£17m and£24m respectively;

(c) the recent'spike in mflation, which has led to significant pressures particularly
Inrespect of pay,‘energy andypackages of social care;

(d) theyAutumn Statement in.November, which provided no new money for
inflation:Whilst some additional money has been made available for social care, it
is insufficient to meet our forecast cost growth. This money has in large part been
recycled, fromisavings arising from delayed reforms limiting the costs of care to
individuals;

(e) a new round of austerity (also announced in the Autumn Statement) which will
lead to further cuts to local authority funding from 2025/26.

As yet, we only have national information, and have had to prepare a draft budget
without the benefit of our own local funding settlement. This has required us to
make assumptions based on a share of national amounts. We have also had to
make more contingencies than usual reflecting uncertain costs (e.g. the direction
of energy prices) and paucity of information (e.g. any residual costs arising from
the deferral of adult social care reforms). At the time of writing, we do not know
whether our finance settlement will cover one or two years.

DRAFT GF Budget Report 23-24 8


mailto:catherine.taylor@leicester.gov.uk
mailto:mark.noble@leicester.gov.uk

2.4

2.5

2.6

2.7

2.8

2.9

2.10

2.11

The “fair funding” review of local government finance has been continuously
delayed, meaning that most of the data on which our funding is based is now at
least 10 years old (and disregards, for instance, increases in the city’s population).

The Council’s approach to achieving budget reductions is to make savings in a
planned way, using our reserves to avoid the crisis cuts which many authorities
have (and are) facing. This is our “managed reserves” strategy. Our approach
leaves us in the fortunate position of starting 2023/24 with an estimated £55m of
reserves which will help us plan the reductions we need.

The budget you are asked to approve will exceed our income in both 2023/24 and
2024/25, and will therefore be supported by reserves for a further two years. The
precise sums shown in this draft report are provisighal (we do not have the finance
settlement) but the gap between income anddexpenditure will be substantial —
current estimates are included in the report.<The reserves required to balance the
budget would exceed those required in_the last twowears. However, we do not
have enough money — we estimate reserves will run out part way through 2024/25.
Thus, the achievement of significapt savings is essentialtoilive within our means.
Furthermore, without savings we willFhave nothing to shield us from the immediate
impact of government cuts in 2025/26.

The budget reflects savings of,£6m per year across all departments, which will
already have been reported by theitime Council eonsiders the budget in February
(the most recent tranche is‘being reperted to ‘Overview Select Committee in
December). Nonetheless, delivery of savingsiis a continuous process, which does
not start or stop at budget setting."The City Mayonwill continue to approve savings
during the next,12 months, which will reduce the budget gap in 2024/25 (and the
level of reserves required in 2023/24, which then become available to offset the
gap.ins2024/25). Deeisions t0 'make savings will be taken in the normal manner
and publishedien the'Council’'s website. There is no doubt that painful cuts will be
required over the eoming years.

Increases to budgets for growth,pressures have been made only where absolutely
essentiahto maintain'service provision. In practice, this amounts to £27m in
2023/24,"afwhich the largest amount is for adult social care. Provisions have also
been made fonkey inflationary pressures such as energy costs.

Like social careauthorities up and down the country, our costs of providing care
are increasing faster than government support. Unfunded social care pressures
present a severe threat to the financial sustainability of the Council and are the key
risk described in this report.

The budget proposes a tax increase of just under 5%, which is the maximum we
believe we will be allowed to set without a referendum.

The medium term outlook is attached as Appendix Four and shows the escalating
scale of the financial pressures facing the council.

DRAFT GF Budget Report 23-24 9



3. Recommendations

3.1 Atits meeting in February, the Council will be asked to:

(@)
(b)

(€)

(d)
(e)

(f)

()

approve the budget strategy described in this report;

approve a formal budget resolution, which sets the council tax level for
2023/24 and the council tax premia for 2023/24 and 2024/25;

approve the budget ceilings for each service, as shown at Appendix One to
this report;

approve the scheme of virement describe ppendix Two to this report;

note my view on the adequacy of s and the estimates used in

preparing the budget;

note the equality implication osed tax increase, as

described in paragraph 11

ng from the

resented at

DRAFT GF Budget Report 23-24 10



4, Budget Overview

4.1 The table below summarises the proposed budget for 2023/24 (summary
projections for a three-year period are included in the medium term strategy at
Appendix Four):

2023/24

£m

Service budget ceilings 359.9
Corporate Budgets 9.7
Energy costs provision 2'5
Capital Financing 1: 9

Miscellaneous Corporate Budgets

Contingency 4.0

Total forecast spending

Rates retention scheme:
Business rates income
Top-up payment

Revenue Support Grant

Other resources:
Council Tax
Collectio

) reserves (33.1)

NIL

4.2  The draft budget forecasts are more uncertain than usual, because we have had
to prepare them before getting details of funding from the government. However,
it is clear that the future financial position is very serious.

DRAFT GF Budget Report 23-24 1 1



5.1

5.2

5.3

5.4

5.5

5.6

Construction of the Budget and Council Tax

By law, the Council’s role in budget setting is to determine:

(@  The level of council tax;
(b)  The limits on the amount the City Mayor is entitled to spend on any service
(“budget ceilings”) - proposed budget ceilings are shown at Appendix One;

In line with Finance Procedure Rules, Council must also approve the scheme of
virement that controls subsequent changes to these ceilings. The proposed
scheme is shown at Appendix Two.

The draft budget is based on a proposed Band D tax for 2023/24 of £1,833.00, an
increase of just under 5% compared to 2022/23«

The tax levied by the City Council constitutes only part of the tax Leicester citizens
have to pay (albeit the major part — 84% in 2022/23). Separate taxes are raised by
the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Combined Eire Authority. These are
added to the Council’s tax, to constitute the total tax charged.

The actual amounts people will be paying, howewver, depend upon the valuation
band their property is in and their entitlement to any discounts, exemptions or
benefit. Almost 80% of properties in the city. are in band A or band B, so the tax
will be lower than the Band D figureiguoted above., The Council also has schemes
for mitigating hardship.

The Police and CrimeyCommissioner and Combined Fire Authority will set their
precepts in@Eebruary 2023. The formal resolution will set out the precepts issued
for 2023/24, tagether with the total tax payable in the city.

Depaktmental Budget«Ceilings

Budget ceilingssthave been prepared for each service, calculated as follows:

(@), The starting point isllast year’s budget, subject to any changes made since
then which are permittechby the constitution (e.g. virement);

(b)  An allowance s made for non-pay inflation on a restricted number of
budgets. Our general rule is that no allowance is made, and departments
are expected to manage with the same cash sum that they had in the
previous year. Given the recent surge in inflation, this is now going to prove
very challenging, but due to the overall budget outlook the usual position
has been maintained. In practice, we believe over £5m of inflationary
pressures will need to be absorbed. Exceptions are made for the budgets
for independent sector adult social care (2%) and foster care (2%) but as
these areas of service are receiving growth funding, an inflation allowance
is merely academic (we pay from one pot rather than another). Budgets for
the waste PFI contract have been increased by RPI, in line with contract
terms;

(© Unavoidable growth has been built into the budget, as described in the
sections below;

DRAFT GF Budget Report 23-24 12



6.2
6.3

6.4

6.5

6.6

6.7

6.8

6.9

6.10

(d)  As discussed in the summary, action is being taken to reduce budgeted
spend, and where decisions have already been taken budget ceilings have
been reduced (this process will continue up to approval of the final budget).

The proposed budget ceilings are set out in Appendix One.

The local government pay award for 2022/23 has recently been finalised,
averaging 6.4%. A provision is held centrally to fund this (and is shown within the
“service budgets” line in the table above, as it will be transferred to the relevant
budget ceilings for the final budget). The draft budget assumes a 5% pay award in
2023/24, also held centrally.

Additionally, and unusually, £9.7m has been set aside in a central contingency for
increased energy costs, but has not yet been allocated to budget ceilings pending
greater certainty over the final amounts

The role of the Council is to determine the financial'envelopes within which the City
Mayor has authority to act. Notwithstanding the "way the budget has been
constructed, the law does not enable the Council to determine how the City Mayor
provides services within these envelgpes: this is within his diseretion.

Adult Social Care

Adult social care services natienally have been facing severe cost pressures for
some years, and these are expected,to continue.

The budget for 2022/23 reflected a level of uncertainty caused by the pandemic
(which dampened demand for services without,providing any indication whether
future demand would remain dampened, returnt@ nermal or catch up for previous
under-demand).As a consequence; the budget report for 2022/23 indicated that
the figures would be reviewed in-year: after this was completed the budget was
reduced by £9m. We now anticipate cost growth of £19m in 2023/24 (compared to
the revised budget for 2022/23), aceelerating in future years, as a consequence of
rsing numbers of older and younger adults requiring care, increases in the level of
need of the average care recipient, and pressure on providers due to National
Living'Wage increases.

The government has generally responded to growth pressures on an ad-hoc basis,
making one-offyresources available year by year. This has made planning
extremely difficult.

In the Autumn Statement, the government announced that planned reforms to the
way social care is funded (chiefly limiting the amount individuals would have to
contribute) will be delayed for at least two years. At the time of writing, it is not
clear whether there will be any residual costs from deferral of the plans, and a
provision of £5m per year is held centrally until more clarity is available.

The Autumn Statement announced additional funding for pressures in adult social
care, in a combination of the Better Care Fund paid via the NHS, and additional
social care grant paid directly to local authorities. While the distribution of this
funding is not yet known, we estimate that our share could be some £12.7m in
2023/24, rising to over £19m in 2024/25. [In the draft budget, these amounts are

DRAFT GF Budget Report 23-24 13



6.11

6.12

6.13

6.14

6.15

6.16

6.17

held as corporate resources, and are not shown in service budget lines]. The
Government has funded these grants chiefly from the savings arising from
deferring the reforms.

The proposed budget includes growth of £18.8m in 2023/24 for increased
packages of support, estimated to rise to £32.4m by 2024/25 (considerably in
excess of the increased support). These increases were calculated as 6% of the
estimated net ASC budget in 2023/24, falling to 4% in 2024/25 (the latter being
consistent with national estimates made by the Local Government Association).
These increases are less than suggested by past experience, and spending within
them will prove challenging. The director is taking action to change and improve
support designed to reduce people’s need for formakcare, social work assessment,
and commissioning practice to ensure we can live within these allowances, but it
remains a risk. The risk is compounded byhe fact that we have a backlog of
reviews of clients’ needs, due to difficulty in recruiting, staff to carry them out.

The above estimates of growth are based on a nationahliving wage of £10.42 in
2023/24, as announced on 17" November.

Education and Children’s Services

In common with authoritiesyacross the country, iIncreased demand for children’s
social care services has createdhsubstantialdudget pressure for many years.

A forecast of placement costs in 2023/24 and 2024/25 has been made, and £3.0m
added to the budget for 2023/24,, The foreeast builds'en a budget that is already
under pressure (it"is expected tooverspend in,2022/23). It assumes a net 10
children per.year enterthe care system from 2023/24 (against the backdrop of a
worsening economic situation), with each new entrant costing an average £39,000
per year.and leavers,reducingicost by an.average £50,000 per year.

Work'is continuing to take place to reduce placement costs:

(a) Regular review oflong-term, emergency and high cost placements;

(b). . Work with partners ta agree joint funding solutions for complex, high-need
children;

(c) Development of additional internal residential homes to mitigate against
independent sector price increases;

(d) Development'of an advanced foster carer scheme for children with more
complex needs.

The cost of placements will continue to be monitored through routine budgetary
control reports.

The department continues to experience cost pressures from growth in demand
for education, health and care plans (EHCPs), which then also lead to increased
demand for personal transport. The most significant aspect of cost is the use of
taxis by some 800 to 900 children with special needs, which are costing over £10m
per year (2022/23). Taxi costs have been increasing due to fuel cost increases, a
limit in the number of firms which are prepared to undertake this work and their
pricing. An additional £1.5m is included in the 2023/24 budget, but this will still
leave a shortfall against spend on current trends. The department is seeking to

DRAFT GF Budget Report 23-24 14



6.18

6.19

6.20

6.21

6.22

6.23

tackle this by promoting personal budgets as a default option: both to promote the
independence of children and to demonstrate value for money (taxis cost on
average 5 times the amount of a personal budget). The department is also seeking
to review in-house fleet options.

In addition to the General Fund budget, Dedicated Schools Grant (High Needs
Block) budgets for children and young people with special educational needs and
disabilities continue to be under severe pressure. In common with most authorities,
the Council has a deficit on its DSG reserve estimated to stand at £9m by the end
of 2022/23 resulting from unavoidable overspends (in fact, most authorities are in
a significantly worse position). The budget is prepared on the assumption that we
will continue to run such a deficit by virtue of a “statutory override”, which was
originally planned to end in March 2023. If this'is not extended, the deficit will
reduce our general fund reserves, and hencedur ability to balance this and future
budgets. Indications are, however, that itéwill"be“extended. We are preparing a
deficit recovery plan, which all authoritiésywith deficits are required to do but it is
unclear how the situation is retrievable without further Gevernment support, given
the relentless increase in the number of children with EHCPs, a pattern seen
across the country.

City Development and Néighbourhoods

The department’s costs are reasonably predictable, when compared to social care.
The pandemic made a dent in the department’shincome budgets, and there
continue to be seme,limited shartfalls. £1.1m,was set aside for further temporary
shortfalls in 2023/24“when we set the budgetfon2022/23, although it is hoped it
will not all be required.

Growth of £1m hasybeen added to the'budget to meet costs of accommodation for
incréasing numbers of families presenting as homeless (a pressure of £0.8m in
2022/23), and for shortfalls in planning income. There is a plan to address the
needs of homeless, families, through the Housing Revenue Account, which will
provide partial relief.

Health“and Wellbeing

The Healthiand Wellbeing Division has been at the centre of the authority’s
response to Cavid 19, and the pandemic is expected to have a lasting impact on
mental and other-aspects of the population’s health. The cost of living crisis is also
likely to increase the need for services.

The division, together with a number of services provided by other departments, is
paid for from the public health grant. This grant is ring-fenced for defined public
health purposes wherever they are provided in the Council. General Fund monies
have also been spent on public health services, both before and after 2013/14
when the function transferred from the NHS.

The future of public health grant is unclear. It is not known whether it will remain
as a separate grant when local government funding reforms are eventually
introduced; previous proposals have suggested it will be included in general
funding arrangements.

DRAFT GF Budget Report 23-24 15



6.24

6.25

6.26

7.2

7.3

7.4

7.5

The department is able to live within its resources in 2023/24, and no budget
growth is proposed.

Corporate Resources Department

The department primarily provides internal support services together with leading
on good corporate governance, but also some public facing services such as
benefits, collection of council tax and customer contact. Since 2022/23, it has also
been responsible for sports services (although given the clear links with public
health, we continue to include these services with Health and Wellbeing in
Appendix One). The department has made considerable savings in recent years
in order to contribute to the Council’s overall savings targets. It has nonetheless
achieved a balanced budget each year.

Whilst the budget is broadly balanced, a number of factors may lead to budget
pressures in the department, most notablydin respect of Revenue and Customer
Services (where the cost-of-living crisis 1S expected to generate significant
increases in customer contact from people struggling financially). Sports Services
is continuing to suffer reduced inéome in the aftermath ‘of the pandemic: whilst
membership subscriptions now exceedypre-pandemic levels; easual income has
failed to recover. However, the department, willl manage within its'budget and no
growth is required in 2023/24.

Corporately held Budgets ‘and Provisions

In addition to the.services’ budget ceilingsy.some hudgets are held corporately.
These are described below.

The budget“for, capital financing represents the cost of interest and debt
repayment on pastyears’ capital spending, less interest received on balances held
by the'council. The net cost-hasyreduced recently due to increasing interest rates
leading to better returns,on balances, (while the majority of our borrowing is on
fixed rates and is net immediately affected by interest rate variations). As we spend
our reserves, however, interest received will fall.

A contingency of £4m has been included in the budget to manage significant
pressures that arise during the year. These are further described in paragraph 12
below.

Miscellaneous ‘¢entral budgets include external audit fees, pension costs of
some former staff, levy payments to the Environment Agency, bank charges,
general insurance costs, money set aside to assist council tax payers suffering
hardship and other sums it is not appropriate to include in service budgets. These
budgets are offset by the effect of recharges from the general fund into other
statutory accounts of the Council.

For this draft budget, central provisions are also held for the costs of pay awards,
increasing energy costs, any residual costs from adult social care reforms, and for
the costs of additional waste to be disposed of. These will be allocated to
departmental budget lines when there is more clarity about the costs. Growth of

DRAFT GF Budget Report 23-24 16



8.2

8.3

8.4

8.5

8.6

8.7

£1m has been added for the costs of reprocurement when the current waste
contract ends in 2028. This is a substantial planning exercise.

Resources

At the time of writing, the local government finance settlement for 2023/24 has not
been published, and is expected just before Christmas 2022 (as late as it has ever
been). Current estimates of government funding we will receive are therefore
based on information included in the government’s fiscal statements, and are liable
to change.

The majority of the council’s core funding comes from business rates; government
grant funding; and council tax. Service-specific sources of funding, such as fees &
charges and specific grants, are credited to the sélevant budget ceilings, and are
part of departmental budgets.

Business rates and core grant funding

Local government retains 50% of business rates collected,locally, with the balance
being paid to central government. In‘recognition of the factthat different authorities’
ability to raise rates do not correspondito needs, there are additional elements of
the business rates retention scheme: a top-up' to’local business, rates, paid to
authorities with lower taxbases, and Revenue Support Grant (RSG).

Forecasts for business rates are particularly sensitive to assumptions about the
current economic downturn. In additionpa rates revaluation will take effect from
April 2023, whieh™will, redistribute, funding between“areas of the country. In the
Autumn Statement, the Government.announced new reliefs in addition to the usual
transitional relief which follows a revaluation: these include a new small business
scheme; and impreved relief for retail; hospitality and leisure businesses.

Inqaddition te, new relief schemes, Government decisions in recent years have
reduced the“amount “ofyrates collected from businesses, by limiting annual
ncreases in the multiplier'used to calculate rates. It has done so again in 2023/24
by freezing the multiplier at 2022/23 levels (in practice, at current rates of inflation,
this represents a significant real'terms reduction for businesses).

The government’s practice is to compensate authorities for lost income due to
changes to the scheme. So many changes have been made in recent years that
by 2022/23 compensation made up around a third of the “rates” income received
by the Council. This proportion will rise further in 2023/24: given the multiplicity of
changes this year (and the fact that any one ratepayer can be affected by more
than one of them), and the unknown impact of revaluation, calculating our likely
income is a particularly hazardous enterprise. The estimates in this draft report are
the best we can make at present. In practice, we believe that the system of
business rates is becoming unsustainable in its current form.

The figures in the draft budget assume no significant growth or decline in “rates”
from the current position, apart from inflationary increases. In effect, we are
assuming we will get £ for £ compensation for all changes the Government is

DRAFT GF Budget Report 23-24 17



8.8

8.9

8.10

8.11

8.12

making which affect payable rates. These figures will be revised for the final budget
to be approved in February.

Other funding streams in 2022/23, including the £7m Services Grant, were
introduced as one-off grants that are not included in funding baselines, allowing
the Government more scope to reallocate the funding in future years. While we do
not know the future of these funding streams, the draft budget assumes that any
changes will have a neutral overall effect, apart from an expected reduction to
reflect the cancellation of the recent increase in employers’ National Insurance
Contribution rates.

Council tax

Council tax income is estimated at £143.4m in 2023/24, based on an assumed tax
increase of just below 5% (the maximum allowed without a referendum). The
proposed tax increase includes an additional “sociahcare levy” of 2%, designed to
help social care authorities mitigate the growing costs of social care. Since our tax
base is relatively low for the size of pepulation, the levyraises just £2.7m per year.

The estimated council tax base has increased since last'year’s budget; this is
largely the result of reducing costs of the locald€ouncil tax support scheme, as
employment and the econemy recover afterthe pandemic.

Since 2013, we have been‘able to,charge additienal council tax as a premium on
some empty properties. This‘\was introduced to provide an incentive to get empty
homes back into,use. The “seheme“has, changed several times since its
introduction, «and “further changes are’ planned from April 2024, subject to
legislation in Parliament;

e Authorities wilbbe able to charge the premium on properties empty for over 1
year(instead of 2 years as atpresent)

¢ For the firstitime, empty homes’ premium can be charged on furnished empty
properties (often referred to as ‘second homes) as well as unfurnished
preperties.

In February, the Council will be asked to approve the premia to be charged on
empty propesties for the next two years. The exact wording will set out the terms
of any exemptions tofthe general policy (we will, in particular, consider members
of the armed forces who may have particular accommodation needs):

Premium Premium
2023/24 2024/25

Unfurnished properties empty for:

Over 1 year NIL 100%
Over 2 years 100% 100%
Over 5 years 200% 200%
Over 10 years 300% 300%
Furnished empty properties (second homes) NIL 100%

DRAFT GF Budget Report 23-24 18



8.13

8.14

8.15

8.16

8.17

9.2

Other grants

The majority of grant funding is treated as income to the relevant service
departments and is not shown separately in the table at paragraph 4.1. Grants held
corporately include:

e New Homes Bonus, which provides additional funding where new homes are
built or long-term empty properties return to use. It has become less generous
in recent years, and is expected to be phased out entirely. The draft budget
assumes that any replacement will have a neutral effect on our budget.

e Social Care Grant, which has been provided each year since 2016/17 to reflect
national cost and demographic pressures. In 2022/23, our share of this funding
was £17.7m. In the Autumn Statement on 17" November, additional social care
grant funding was announced, totalling£1.9bn nationally in 2023/24 and rising
to £2.8bn in 2024/25. We do notgyet know haow, this will be allocated to
authorities; the budget assumes a‘share similar to previous social care funding
allocations.

Collection Fund surplus / deficit

Collection fund surpluses arise when more tax is collected than assumed in
previous budgets. Deficits arise‘when the converse is true.

The Council has an estimated counciltaxcollectramfund surplus of £1.3m, after
allowing for shares toybe paid by the police and.fire authorities. This largely relates
to reductions inthe ceost, of the couneil tax suppert scheme: employment rates
remain high sinee the pandemic.

The Council has anestimated,businessrates collection fund surplus of £4.4m.
BeCause of 'ehanges to reliefs‘in recent years that were funded by government
grants, the actual collection fund“paosition is distorted and various technical
acceunting adjustments (that will balance out over the years) are required. For
claritythis budget presents the,net underlying figure. The net balance is largely
the resultyof lower than \expected appeals against property valuations at the last
revaluation in 2017.

For both councihtaxfand business rates, there is a further adjustment relating to
deficits from the ‘pandemic period in 2020/21, when collection across the country
was severely affected.

Managed Reserves Strateqgy

Since 2013, the Council has employed a managed reserves strategy, contributing
money to reserves when savings are realised and drawing down reserves when
needed. This policy has bought time to more fully consider how to make the
recurrent cuts which have been necessary in nearly every budget year.

As at April 2022, resources available for the strategy totalled £79.2m. Of this,
£24.1m is likely to be required to balance the 2022/23 budget, taking account of
expected pressures since the start of the year (and described in budget monitoring

DRAFT GF Budget Report 23-24 19



9.3

10.
10.1

10.2
10.3

11.
111

11.2

11.3

reports to Overview Select Committee). This will leave an estimated £55m for
future years.

Unless further savings are found, the draft budget will require £33.1m of support
from reserves in 2023/24, leaving just £22m to offset pressures in 2024/25. This
indicates that substantial cuts will be required to balance the budget in that year:

£m
Available to support budget as at 1/4/2022 79.2
Required in 2022/23 (24.1)
Estimated amount required for 2023/24 budget (33.1)
Balance Remaining for 2024/25 220

Earmarked Reserves

In addition to our general reserves,ghe Council also*holds earmarked reserves
which are set aside for specific purposes. These include“ringfenced funds which
are held by the Council but for which we have gbligations“teyother partners or
organisations; departmental reserves, which are held for specifie,services; and
corporate reserves, which aresheld for purposes applicable to the organisation as
a whole.

Appendix 5 gives a summary of .earmarked reservesias at 315t March 2022.

The planned_se of earmarked reserveS will be monitored through the regular
revenue budget monitoring processy and reported’to members throughout the
2023/24 financiahyear.

Budgetrand Equalities

The Council'is committedito promoting'equality of opportunity for its residents; both
through its policies,aimed at reducing inequality of outcomes, and through its
practices aimed at'ensuring fair, treatment for all and the provision of appropriate
and culturally sensitive services'that meet local people’s needs.

In accordance with section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, the Council must “have
due regard”, when making decisions, to the need to meet the following aims of our
Public Sector Equality Duty :-

(@) eliminate unlawful discrimination;

(b) advance equality of opportunity between those who share a
protected characteristic and those who do not;

(c) foster good relations between those who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not.

Protected groups under the public sector equality duty are characterised by age,
disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy/maternity, race, religion or belief, sex
and sexual orientation.

DRAFT GF Budget Report 23-24 20



114

11.5

11.6

11.7

12.
12.1

12.2

12.3

When making decisions, the Council (or decision maker, such as the City Mayor)
must be clear about any equalities implications of the course of action proposed.
In doing so, it must consider the likely impact on those likely to be affected by the
recommendation; their protected characteristics; and (where negative impacts are
anticipated) mitigating actions that can be taken to reduce or remove that negative
impact.

The budget does not propose any service changes which will have an impact on
residents. Where appropriate, an individual Equalities Impact Assessment for any
service changes will be undertaken when these decisions are developed.

The budget does recommend a proposed council tax increase for the city’'s
residents. The City Council’s proposed tax for 2023/24 is £1,833.00, an increase
of just below 5% compared to 2022/23. As the xécommended increase could have
an impact on those required to pay it, an asseSsment has been carried out to inform
decision makers of the potential equalities implications. This includes the potential
impact of alternative options.

A number of risks to the budget aref@@ddressed within this report (section 12 below).
If these risks are not mitigated effectively, there could be a dispreportionate impact
on people with particular protected “characterstics and therefore ongoing
consideration of the risks and any potential disproportionate equalities impacts, as
well as mitigations to address disproportionate impacts for those with particular
protected characteristics, is required.

Risk Assessmént and Estimates

Best practi¢e requires ‘'me to identify‘any risks associated with the budget, and
Section 25 of‘the Local Government, Act 2003 requires me to report on the
adequacy of reserves and thesrobustness of estimates.

In the current climatetit Is inevitable that the budget carries significant risk. In my
view, although very difficult, the budget for 2023/24 is achievable subject to the
riskSiand issues described belew.

The mastsignificant risks in the’2023/24 budget include:

(@) Inflation, which/has risen sharply and at the time of writing is over 10% per
year, and,has put extreme pressure on pay and other costs. In addition,
inflationary pressures on household budgets are likely to increase demand
for a range of services across the Council. Economic forecasts expect
inflation to reduce during 2023, although it is likely to remain higher than in
recent years. If inflation remains higher than forecast, it will further increase
costs in 2023/24 and in subsequent years;

(b) Energy costs are a particular inflationary pressure - they have increased
sharply recently and remain difficult to predict;

(© Adult Social Care spending pressures, specifically the risk of further growth
in the cost of care packages. Growth provided in the budget is less than
previous practice suggests is needed, and management action will be
required to prevent overspending;

DRAFT GF Budget Report 23-24 21



12.4

12.5

13.
13.1

13.2

(d)  The costs of looked after children, which have seen growth nationally;

(e) The costs of special needs transport, where the forecasts also require
management action to avoid overspending.

The budget seeks to manage these risks as follows:
(@ A minimum balance of £15m of reserves will be maintained,;

(b) Provisions have been made in the budget for likely pressures on pay and
energy costs, and will be kept under review during the year. Provisions of
£5m per year have also been made for any residual costs from the deferral
of adult social care reform;

(c) A contingency of £4m has been included in‘the budget for 2023/24;

(d) As a last resort, managed reservesould be used, but this increases
pressure in 2024/25.

Subject to the above comments, | believe the Council’s,general and earmarked
reserves to be adequate. | also believe estimates made in,preparing the budget
are robust. (Whilst no inflation is provided for the generality of running costs in
2023/24, more exceptions than usualthave beeniymade, andiitiis believed that
services will be able to manage without an allocation).

Financial, Legal and Other implications

Financial Implications

This report is_exclusively concerned withffinancial issues.

Legal Implications

13.2.1 The budget preparations have been in accordance with the Council’s Budget and

Policy Framework “Procedure. Rules — Council’'s Constitution — Part 4C. The
decision withiregard to the setting“of the Council’s budget is a function under the
constitution which is the responsibility of the full Council.

13.2.2 At theybudget-setting\stage, Council is estimating, not determining, what will

happenias,a means ta the end of setting the budget and therefore the council tax.
Setting a budget is not the same as deciding what expenditure will be incurred.
The Local Government Finance Act, 1992, requires an authority, through the full
Council, to calculate the aggregate of various estimated amounts, in order to find
the shortfall to which its council tax base has to be applied. The Council can
allocate greater or fewer funds than are requested by the Mayor in his proposed
budget.

13.2.3 As well as detailing the recommended council tax increase for 2023/24, the report

also complies with the following statutory requirements:-
(@) Robustness of the estimates made for the purposes of the calculations;
(b)  Adequacy of reserves;

(© The requirement to set a balanced budget.

DRAFT GF Budget Report 23-24 22



13.2.4 Section 65 of the Local Government Finance Act, 1992, places upon local
authorities a duty to consult representatives of non-domestic ratepayers before
setting a budget. There are no specific statutory requirements to consult residents,
although in the preparation of this budget the Council will undertake tailored
consultation exercises with wider stakeholders in addition to representatives of
ratepayers.

13.2.5 The discharge of the ‘function’ of setting a budget triggers the duty in s.149 of the
Equality Act, 2010, for the Council to have “due regard” to its public sector equality
duties. These are set out in paragraph 11. There are considered to be no specific
proposals within this year’s budget that could result in new changes of provision
that could affect different groups of people sharing protected characteristics.
Where savings are anticipated, equality asseéssments will be prepared as
necessary. Directors and the City Mayor have freedom to vary or abort proposals
under the scheme of virement wher@ there hare unacceptable equality
consequences. As a consequence,{there are ‘mo) service-specific ‘impact
assessments’ that accompany thegbudget. There is noyrequirement in law to
undertake equality impact assessments as the only meansitoidischarge the s.149
duty to have “due regard”. The discharge,of the duty is not achieved by pointing to
one document looking at a,snapshot in“timegand the report evidences that the
Council treats the duty as'a live,and enduring one. Indeed case law is clear that
undertaking an EIA on an ‘envelope=setting’ budget is of limited value, and that it
is at the point in time when palicies are developed which reconfigure services to
live within the budgetary constraint when impact is best assessed. However, an
analysis of equality impaects has been preparedin respect of the proposed increase
in council tax; and this is set out in Appendix Three.

13.2.6 Judicial review is‘the mechanism by which the lawfulness of Council budget-setting
exercises are,most likely to be‘challenged. There is no sensible way to provide an
assurance that a,process, of budget setting has been undertaken in a manner
whieh is immunefrom challenge. Nevertheless the approach taken with regard to
due'precess and equality impacts is regarded by the City Barrister to be robust in
law.

Provided byaKamal Adatia, City Barrister

Catherine Taylor / Mark“Noble
13" December 2022

DRAFT GF Budget Report 23-24 23



Appendix One

Budget Ceilings (provisional)

Latest Growth National Budget
budget Savings planned Insurance Non pay ceiling
restated agreed inbudget adjustments inflation 23/24

1. City Development & Neighbourhoods

1.1 Neighbourhood & Environmental Services

Divisional Management 239.3 (0.6) 238.7
Regulatory Services 2,033.7 (14.4) 2,019.3
Waste Management 18,148.5 (1.8) 3,317.5 21,434.2
Parks & Open Spaces 4,218.7 (35.9) 4,117.8
Neighbourhood Services 5,508.4 (11.6) 5,470.8
Standards & Development 1,680.1 (9.4) 1,611.7

Divisional sub-total 31,828.7 (73.7) 3,317.5 34,892.5

1.2 Tourism, Culture & Inward Investment

Arts & Museums 4,052.9
De Montfort Hall 386.7
City Centre 170.4
Place Marketing Organisation 368.3
Economic Development (45.1)
Markets (238.1)
Adult Skills (870.4)
Divisional Managemen 183.7
Divisional sub-tota (21.7) 0.0 4,008.4

1.3 Planning, Transportation
(14.3) 9,719.0
(28.5) 2,476.1
(10.5) 975.1
(0.8) 137.4
(350.0) 0.0 (54.1) 0.0 13,307.6
1.4 Estates & Build i 2 (1,046.2) (29.3) 4,343.7
1.5 Housing Services 3,308.9 (174.0) 1,000.0 (25.8) 4,109.1
1.6 Departmental Overheads 827.6  (256.0) (2.0 569.6
DEPARTMENTAL TOTAL 59,424.4 (2,304.4) 1,000.0 (206.6) 3,317.5 61,230.9

DRAFT GF Budget Report 23-24 24



Appendix One

Budget Ceilings (provisional)

Latest Growth National Budget

budget Savings planned Insurance Non pay ceiling

restated agreed inbudget adjustments inflation 23/24
2.Adults

2.1 Adult Social Care & Safeguarding

Other Management & support 744.8 (2.6) 742.2
Safeguarding 228.6 (0.9) 227.7
Preventative Services 6,910.0 (16.6) 6,893.4
Independent Sector Care Package Costs 130,634.6 18,743.0 2,723.1 152,100.7
Care Management (Localities) 7,874.0 (24.7) 7,849.3
Divisional sub-total 146,392.0 0.0 18,743.0 (44.8) 2,723.1 167,813.3

2.2 Adult Social Care & Commissioning

Enablement &Day Care 3,091.6 (13.3) 3,078.3
Care Management (LD & AMH) 5,252.1 (20.3) 5,231.8
Preventative Services 1,024.1 (0.3) 1,023.8
Contracts,Commissioning & Other Suppori 6,298.3 (18.4) 6,279.9
Departmental (33;696.3)  (339.0) (2.8) (34,038.1)
Divisional sub-total (18,030:2)  (339.0) (55.1) (18,424.3)
DEPARTMENT TOTAL 128,361.8 (339.0) 18,743.0 (99.9) 2,723.1 149,389.0

3. Education & Children's Services

3.1 Strategic Commissioning & BusinessSuppor 2,315.6 \ (214.0) (10.5) 2,191.1

3.2 Learning Quality & Performance

Raising/Achievement 373.0 (3.1) 369.9
Learning &Inclusion 1,285.4 (29.1) (6.0) 1,250.3
Special Education Needs and Disabilities 16,009.6 1,500.0 (29.1) 17,480.5
Divisional sub-total 17,6680  (29.1) 1,500.0 (38.2) 00  19,100.7

3.3 Children, Young People and Families

Children In Need 14,363.6  (456.4) (34.9) 13,872.3
Looked After Children 40,569.0 (15.0)  3,000.0 (29.3) 210.3 43,735.0
Safeguarding & QA 2,513.8 (26.7) (7.7) 2,479.4
Community Safety 877.6 (2.2) 875.4
Early Help Targeted Services 5,723.7 (1.5) (17.4) 5,704.8
Early Help Specialist Services 3,192.8 (8.9) (13.6) 3,170.3
Divisional sub-total 67,240.5 (508.5) 3,000.0 (105.1) 210.3 69,837.2
3.4 Departmental Resources 1,455.1 (61.0) (2.4) 1,391.7
DEPARTMENTAL TOTAL 88,679.2 (712.6) 4,500.0 (156.2) 210.3 92,520.7

DRAFT GF Budget Report 23-24 25



4. Health and Wellbeing

Adults' Services

Children's 0-19 Services
Lifestyle Services
Staffing & Infrastructure& Other

Sports Services

DEPARTMENT TOTAL

5. Corporate Resources Department

5.1 Delivery, Communications & Political Govet

Budget Ceilings (provisional)

Latest
budget
restated

8,985.7
8,819.3
1,216.5
2,508.5
1,915.0

23,445.0

5.2 Financial Services

Financial Support
Revenues & Benefits
Divisional sub-total

5.3 Human Resources

5.4 Information Services

5.5 Legal Services

.

DEPARTMENTAL TOTAL

AV N N

TOTAL -Service Budget Ceilings

Provision for pay a

Total forecast service spendin

DRAFT GF Budget Report 23-24

4,843.7
640.5

3,456.

334,724.9 (3,888.5) 24,243.0

Savings
agreed

(140.0)
(100.0)

(240.0)

Growth
planned

National
Insurance

Appendix One

Budget

Non pay ceiling

in budget adjustments inflation 23/24

W

(172.

(172.
10, :

34,814.5 (292.5)
v

26

(3.3)
(10.0)
(15.5)

(23.5)
(29.1)
(52.6)
(15.4)
(29.2)
(21.5)

(137.9)

(629.4)

8,985.7
8,819.3
1,073.2
2,398.5
1,899.5

23,176.2

5,404.5

4,820.2

6,439.4

0.0 11,259.6
3,778.9

10,505.9

3,435.2

34,384.1

6,250.9  360,700.9
(28,384.2)
2,000.0
5,000.0
20,600.0

359,916.7



10.

11.

Appendix Two

Scheme of Virement

This appendix explains the scheme of virement which will apply to the budget, if it
is approved by the Council.

Budget Ceilings

Directors are authorised to vire sums within budget ceilings without limit, providing
such virement does not give rise to a change of Council policy.

Directors are authorised to vire money between any two budget ceilings within their
departmental budgets, provided such virement does not give rise to a change of
Council policy. The maximum amount by whieh 'any budget ceiling can be
increased or reduced during the course of a year Is £500,000. This money can be
vired on a one-off or permanent basis.

Directors are responsible, in consultati@gmywith the appropriate Assistant Mayor if
necessary, for determining whetherfa proposed virement would give rise to a
change of Council policy.

Movement of money between budget ceilings isfnot virement 10 the extent that it
reflects changes in managément responsiility for the delivery of services.

The City Mayor is authorised“tomincrease or reduce any budget ceiling. The
maximum amount by which any,budgetieeiling can be increased during the course
of a year is £5msglicreases or reductionsycan be carried out on a one-off or
permanent basis.

The Director<ofyFinance may vire ‘money between budget ceilings where such
movements represent changes in aceounting policy, or other changes which do
notaffect'the amounts‘availablefer service provision.

Nothing above requires the City Mayoror any director to spend up to the budget
celling for any service.

Corporate Budgets

The following authorities are granted in respect of corporate budgets:

(@) the Direetor of Finance may incur costs for which there is provision in
miscellaneous corporate budgets, except that any policy decision requires
the approval of the City Mayor;

(b)  the Director of Finance may allocate the provisions for pay awards,
additional waste and energy cost pressures;

(c) The City Mayor may determine how the contingency can be applied and the
provision for residual ASC reforms.

Earmarked Reserves

Earmarked reserves may be created or dissolved by the City Mayor. In creating a
reserve, the purpose of the reserve must be clear.

Directors may add sums to an earmarked reserve, from:

DRAFT GF Budget Report 23-24 27



(@) a budget ceiling, if the purposes of the reserve are within the scope of the
service budget;

(b)  year-end budget underspends, subject to the approval of the City Mayor.

12.  Directors may spend earmarked reserves on the purpose for which they have been
created.

13. When an earmarked reserve is dissolved, the City Mayor shall determine the use

of any remaining balance.

DRAFT GF Budget Report 23-24 28



1.2

2.2

2.3

Appendix Three

Equality Impact Assessment

Purpose

This appendix presents the equalities impact of a proposed 4.99% council tax
increase. This includes a precept of 2% for Adult Social Care, as permitted by the
Government without requiring a referendum.

The alternative option for comparison is a freeze on council tax at 2022/23 levels.
It would of course be possible to set a council tax increase between these two
levels, or indeed to reduce the Band D tax.

Who is affected by the proposal?

As at October 2022, there were 133,370 properties liable for Council Tax in the
city! (excluding those registered asfexempt, such as student,households).

All non-exempt working age househalds in Leicester are required to contribute
towards their council tax bill. Our currentycouncil tax supportischeme (CTSS)
requires working age households to pay at'least 20% of their council tax bill and
sets out to ensure that the mostvulnerable householders are given some relief in
response to financial hardship they maysexperience.

Council tax support for,pensioner households fellows different rules. Low-income
pensioners @re eligible'for, up to 100%¢relief throughythe CTSS scheme.

How are they affected?

Thestablerbelow sets out the financial impact of the proposed council tax increase
on different‘properties, before any. discounts or reliefs are applied. It shows the
weekly increase in, each band, and the minimum weekly increase for those in
receipt of a reductiomunderithe, CTSS for working-age households.

Band® |aNo. of Properties Weekly increase :\:Icnrlg;:emuvr:/zzl:léTss
A- 305 £0.93 £0.19
A 78,707 £1.12 £0.22
B 26,640 £1.31 £0.26
C 15,547 £1.49 £0.45
D 6,636 £1.68 £0.63
E 3,377 £2.05 £1.01
F 1,522 £2.42 £1.38
G 600 £2.80 £1.75
H 36 £3.36 £2.31

Total 133,370

1 This number is expected to reduce in the final budget for 2023/24 as more student exemptions will be
registered

DRAFT GF Budget Report 23-24 29



3.2

3.3

3.4

4.2

In most cases, the change in council tax (around £1.31 per week for a band B
property with no discounts; and just 26p per week if eligible for the full 80%
reduction under the CTSS) is a small proportion of disposable income, and a small
contributor to any squeeze on household budgets. A council tax increase would be
applicable to all properties - the increase would not target any one protected group,
rather it would be an increase that is applied across the board. However, it is
recognised that this may have a more significant impact among households with a
low disposable income.

Households at all levels of income have seen their real-terms income decline due
to cost of living increases, and wages that have failed to keep up with inflation.
These pressures are not limited to any protected group; however, there is evidence
that low-income families spend a greater proportion of their income on food and
fuel (where price rises have been highest), and are therefore more affected by
current price increases.

The government has confirmed that pensions and most benefit rates will increase
by inflation in April. However, thisédoes not apply to Local Housing Allowance
(LHA) rates for those renting in the private sector. This will putifurther pressure on
lower-income renters if their rents increase. [NBfcouncil and housing association
tenants are not affected by this as their rent@Support is calculated differently and
their full rent can be compensated,from benefits].

Alternative options

The realistic alternative to a 5% council‘tax increase would be a lower (or no)
increase. ltgshould be noted that the' proposed increase is significantly below
inflation, and“therefore fepresents‘@a real-terms cut in council tax payable and
therefore our income. A reduced tax increase would represent a permanent
diminution‘ef.our income unless we hold acouncil tax referendum in a future year.
In my view, such a referendum is“unlikely to support a higher tax rise. It would
therefore require@ greater use of reserves and/or more cuts to services in 2024/25.

The“budget situation is alreadyyextremely difficult, and it seems inevitable that
furtherceuts will have severe effects on front-line services. It is not possible to say
precisely where these future cuts would fall; however, certain protected groups
(e.g. older people; families with children; and people with disabilities) could face
disproportionatedimpacts from reductions to services.

Mitigating actions

The Council has a range of mitigating actions for residents. These include: funding
through Discretionary Housing Payments, Council Tax Discretionary Relief and
Community Support Grant awards; the council's work with voluntary and
community sector organisations to provide food to local people where it is required
— through the network of food banks in the city; through schemes which support
people getting into work (and include cost reducing initiatives that address high
transport costs such as providing recycled bicycles); and through support to social
welfare advice services. The “BetterOff Leicester” online tool includes a calculator
to help residents ensure they are receiving all relevant benefits.

DRAFT GF Budget Report 23-24 30



5.2  The Household Support Fund has been extended to March 2024 and will continue
to provide food vouchers, water and energy bill support and white goods to
vulnerable households.

6. What protected characteristics are affected?

6.1 The table below describes how each protected characteristic is likely to be affected
by the proposed council tax increase. The table sets out anticipated impacts, along
with mitigating actions available to reduce negative impacts.

6.2 Some protected characteristics are not, as far as we can tell, disproportionately
affected (as will be seen from the table) because there is no evidence to suggest
they are affected differently from the population at large. They may, of course, be
disadvantaged if they also have other protected teristics that are likely to be
affected, as indicated in the following anal f impact based on protected
characteristic.

DRAFT GF Budget Report 23-24 31



Analysis of impact based on protected characteristic

Protected
characteristic

Impact of proposal:

Risk of negative impact:

Mitigating actions:

Reassignment

characteristic.

Age Older people (pension age and older) are least affected by a potential | Weorking age households Access to council discretionary funds
increase in council tax and can access more generous (up to 100%) and families with children — | for individual financial crises; access
council tax relief. However, in the current financial climate, a lower incomes squeezed through | to council and partner support for
council tax increase would require even greater cuts to servicesdmdue | reducing,real-terms wages. | food; and advice on managing
course. While it is not possible to say where these cuts woulddall household budgets.
exactly, there are potential negative impacts for this group as older
people are the primary service users of Adult Social Care.

While employment rates remain high, earnings have not kept up with
inflation in recent months so working families are'likelyato already be
facing pressures on household budgets. Younger people, and
particularly children, were more likely to be in poverty.before‘the
current cost-of-living crisis and this is likely.to have continued.

Disability Disabled people are more likely to e in povertyaln addition,many Further erode quality of life | Disability benefits are disregarded in

N disabled people are disproportionately, affected by\household fuel being experienced by the assessment of need for CTSS
costs and may have limited opportunities,to reduce usage. disabled people. purposes. Access to council
The tax increase could have an‘impact on‘such household incomes. d.lscretuona.ry funds for |nd|V|duaI.

financial crises; access to council
However, in the current financial climate, a lowericouncil tax‘increase and partner support for food; and
would require even greater cuts to services,in due course. While it is advice on better managing budgets.
not possible to say where these cuts would fall exactly,there are
potential negative impacts for this group as disabled people are more
likely to be service users of Adult'Social Care.
Gender No disproportionate impact is attributable specifically to this

Preghancy &
Maternity

No disproportionate impact is attributable‘specifically to this
characteristic (although see below for childcare costs; and the impacts
on lone parents).

DRAFT GF Budget Report 23-24




Protected
characteristic

Impact of proposal:

Risk of negative impact:

Mitigating actions:

D

budgets and are responsible for childcareseests. Women are

low wages and reducing

Race Those with white backgrounds are disproportionately on low incomes | Household income being Access to council discretionary funds
(indices of multiple deprivation) and in receipt of social security further squeezed through for individual financial crises, access
benefits. Some ethnic minority people are also low income and on low wages and reducing to council and partner support for
benefits. levelsiohbenefit income. food and advice on managing

household budgets. Where required,
interpretation and translation will be
provided to remove barriers in
accessing support.

Religion or No disproportionate impact is attributable specifically tosthis

Belief characteristic.

- Sex Disproportionate impact on women who tend to manage household Inecomes squeezed through | If in receipt of Universal Credit or tax

credits, a significant proportion of

poverty and unemployed. This would mean they are more likely to be
on benefits and there could be a disproportionate impact.

further squeezed through
low wages and reducing
levels of benefit income.

o disproportionately lone parents, who'are'more likely to experience levels of benefit income. childcare costs are met by these
poverty. Inereased risk for women as | sources.
they are more likely to be Access to council discretionary funds
lone parents. for individual financial crises, access
to council and partner support for
food and advice on managing
household budgets.
Sexual Gay men and Lesbian women are more likelyito be injpoverty than _ _ . _
. , . : Household income being Access to council discretionary funds
Orientation heterosexual people and Transypeople even'more likely to be in

for individual financial crises, access
to council and partner support for
food and advice on managing
household budgets. Local support
organisations such as the LGBT
Centre can signpost individuals to
advice and support services.

DRAFT GF Budget Report 23-24




450

400

350

300

250

Appendix Four
Medium Term Financial Outlook 2023/24 — 2025/26

The purpose of this medium term financial outlook is to provide members with
details of the forecast financial position of the Council for the next 3 years, and to
set the context within which the budget process will need to work to achieve a
balanced position. The figures are indicative and volatile, and depend heavily on
government decisions about future funding of services.

Our central forecasts for the period up to 2025/26 are set out in the table at
paragraph 5, and show that:

e Expenditure pressures are increasing atsa faster rate than income.
Over the period we expect expenditure £0 InCrease by over 35% (in cash
terms) while income projections risedby only 20% assuming there is no
change in Government policy.

e In recent years, the biggest factor in these increases has been the
rising cost of adult social care, as illustrated inithe chart below. These
increases have been seen nationally for several years,yand now present a
substantial challenge to the“authority’syfuture sustainability. These
pressures arise fram,factors largelyhoutside the authority’s control (e.g.
increases in the minimumwage, demographic pressures and pressures on
fee levels). The rate of growthiis likely to'accelerate.

Expenditure & income projections, 2022/23 to 2025/26

22/23 23/24 24/25 25/26

Baseline spend Inflation ASC growth Other changes ~ ewm=|ncome

NB scale does not start at zero

DRAFT GF Budget Report 23-24

e We have already invested significant amounts in social care. Since
2016 we have seen the cost of adults’ social care packages increase by
over £50m, or 70%, due to a combination of increasing need and higher

34



wage costs. Over the same period we have invested over £20m in
children’s social care.

e Since the 2022/23 budget was set, sharp increases in inflation have
added over £25m to our costs. In particular, energy costs and pay
awards have been far higher than predicted.

e Other budget areas have already seen significant cuts in the last
decade. Expenditure on services other than adults’ and children’s social
care fell from £192m in 2010 to £106m in 2020.

3. The 2022/23 budget was balanced by using £24m of reserves. On current
projections, sufficient reserves remain to balance the 2023/24 budget and provide
partial support to the 2024/25 budget. Ongoing savings will need to be found to
ensure the longer-term financial stability of the Zouncil.

4. Departments are working on achieving avings, where possible. This is a
continuous process and identified savings will be made throughout the course of
the year.

5. A summary of the central budget‘projections for the nextithree years is set out
below:

2023124 2024/25 2025/26
£m £m £m
Net service budget (including inflation) 369:6 394.9 417.6
Corporate and other centrally held budgets 44 5.0 5.8
Contingency 4.0
Planning provision 8.0 12.0
Expenditure total 378.0 407.9 435.4
Business rates inceme 73.6 76.4 77.6
Top4up payment 55.7 57.9 58.9
Revenue,Support Grant 29.9 29.9 29.9
Council Tax 143.4 153.5 157.5
Collection Fund surplus 3.3
Social Care grants 30.4 37.1 37.1
Other grants 8.6 8.6 8.6
Income Total 344.9 363.4 369.6
Indicative Budget gap 33.1 44.5 65.8
6. The largest area of uncertainty in the forecasts surrounds the amount of

government funding that will be available in 2025/26 which falls into a new government
planning period. We have been warned to expect a new period of austerity.

7. The planned review of local government funding allocations (the “Fair Funding
Review”) is now likely to be delayed until 2025. We do not know what the outcome of
any review will be, but the delay means that authorities are still funded on a formula

DRAFT GF Budget Report 23-24 35



that is at least a decade out of date; and lower income areas (including Leicester) are
still disproportionately affected by the way funding cuts were implemented from 2013 to
2016. In particular, no recognition is given to the city’s increase in population and this
is to some extent still driven by the 2001 census figures. The independent Institute for
Fiscal Studies has commented that “Indeed, the issues with police, local government
and public health funding allocations are so significant that the amounts allocated to
different places are essentially arbitrary.”

8. Key assumptions and risks in the forecast are set out below:

Assumptions — central scenario

Risks & alternative options
modelled

Expenditure

Pay costs

We assume a pay award averaging 5%n
2023/24, 3% in 2024/25 and 2.5% in 2025/26;
as general inflation is expected togeduce.

Energy costs

Assumed that gas prices we pay will increase by
300% in April 2023, whilst electricity prices will
rise by 40% in October 2023.

Costs for 2024/25 are _highly uncertainyAn
indicative increase ©f 30% has been included.

Non-pay
inflation

In line with the policyin'past years, departments
are expected to absorbithe costs of hon-pay
inflation in_most cases. The,exceptions,are
independent sector care package costs,
fostering allowances, energy. and the waste
management contract; an allowance is built in
for these increases. An allowanceihas also been
made from 2023/24 fornSEN transport.

Inflation has been rising in
recent months, reaching
11.1% (CPI) in October 2022.
Forecasts suggest it is likely
to'hegin to reduce later in
2023;.ifit remains high, there
will be additional pressures
on pay awards and non-pay
inflation, partially offset by an
increase in interest on
investments.

Adult social
care costs

Demographic pressures and inereasing need
lead to'cost pressures of 6% ofithe ASC budget
in 2023/24 and 4%'in 2024/25.

This will require,action’in the Department to
remain within these spending totals

Increases in the National Living Wage will also
addto costs.

Forecasts for 2025/26 are particularly volatile;
an indicative’£15m additional budget has been
included for the year.

Other service
cost pressures

Departments are expected to find savings to
manage cost pressures within their own areas.
From 2024/25 onwards, an £8m planning
provision has been included (twice the normal
amount) to meet unavoidable costs that cannot
be managed within departments. This
subsequently increases by £4m in 2025/26.

Costs relating to children who
are looked after have been
increasing nationally, and are
a particular risk for future
years.

Home-to-school transport
costs are also an area of
significant pressure, and will
require action to remain
within budgets.

DRAFT GF Budget Report 23-24

36




Income

Council Tax

Band D Council Tax will increase by 4.99% per
year (3% base increase plus 2% for the Adult
Social Care precept), for 2023/24 and 2024/25;
and then revert to 2.99% for 2025/26.

Council tax baseline increases by 500 Band D
properties per year.

Further economic downturn
leading to increased costs of
council tax support to
residents on a low income.

Business rates

The multiplier freeze for 2023/24, and new
reliefs announced in November 2022, are fully
funded.

Authorities are fully compensated for the effect
of the 2023 rates revaluation.

No significant movements in the underlying
baseline for business rates.

Business rates are
particularly sensitive to
economic conditions.

We believe that the national
business rates system in its
current form is becoming
unsustainable. The local
government business rates
retention system is being
“patehed up” considerably as
a result. Long term stability
seems unlikely.

Government
grant

Government funding.for 2023/24 and 2024/25
follows the plans sét oubin the CSR as adjusted
by the Autumn Statement imNovember 2017,
with no significant distributional ehanges.

We assume.(in line with government
statements) that,existing RSG and top-up
payments continue; but the Services Grantand
New'Homes Bonus may be redistributed. We
have assumed our share of this'based on
previous fundingd@llocatiens; thisimplicitly
assumes a broadly neutral effect of any funding
changes:

We have‘assumed‘that new social care grant
funding is allocated on the same basis as in
Government social careformulae.

Fon2025/26, we assume a cash flat settlement
for'eentrally-funded elements including social
care funding.and RSG (with no allowance for
inflation). The Autumn Statement implied real
terms cuts'of 0.7% for unprotected departments,
which would include local government.

We do notiyet have the
details of local government
funding for 2023/24 and
2024/25.

Local government may be
treated less favourably than
other unprotected
departments. The 2025/26
settlement may lead to grant
cuts in cash terms.

DRAFT GF Budget Report 23-24

37




Earmarked Reserves

Appendix Five

Balance at 31st

March 2022
£000

Ring-fenced Reserves
DSG not delegated to schools -
School Balances 30,095
School Capital Fund 2,491
Education & Skills Funding Agency Learning Programme 971
Arts Council National Portfolio Organisation Funding 319
NHS Joint Working Projects 25,013
Schools Buy Back 1,915
Covid-19 Collection Fund Compensation Grants* 13,397
Total Ring-fenced Reserves 74,201

Corporate Reserves
Capital Programme Reserve 98,834
Managed Reserves Strategy 83,270
BSF Financing 9,034
Insurance Fund 11,495
Sewerance Fund 4,827
Service Transformation Fund 5,195
Welfare Reserve 2,551
Anti- Poverty Reserve 3,000
Total Corporate Reserves 218,206

Earmarked Reserves Departmental
Financial Services Reserve 5119
ICT Development Fund 10,480
Delivery, Communications & Political Governance 2,440
Housing 2,802
City Development (Excl Housing) 12,672
Social Care Reserve 9,998
Health & Wellbeing Division 5,631
Other Departmental Reserves 464
Total Other Reserves 49,606
Total Earmarked Reserves 342,013

DRAFT GF Budget Report 23-24 38



Appendix B

Draft
Capital Programme
2023/24

Decision to be taken by: Council
Date of meeting: 22 February 2023

Lead director: Amy Oliver, Director of Finance

Report for Council — Draft Capital Programme 2023-24 — 22" February 2023

39

Page 1 of 34



Useful information
m Ward(s) affected: All

B Report author: Ben Matthews
B Author contact details: Ben.Matthews@Ieicester.gov.uk
B Report version number: 1.0

1. Summary

1.1 The purpose of this report is to ask the Council to approve a capital
programme for 2023/24.

1.2 Capital expenditure is incurred on works of lasting benefit and is
principally paid for by grant, tenants’ rents, and the proceeds of asset
sales (capital receipts). Money can also be borrowed for capital purposes,
but the scope for this is limited as borrowing affects the revenue budget.

1.3 For the past three years the Council has set a one year capital
programme, due to uncertainty over future resources. This uncertainty
remains, and currently includes:

e The revenue budget outlook, which requires significant savings
e Volatility and inflationary pressures in the construction industry
e The Council’s technical capacity to support a large programme

We are therefore presenting another one year programme, of limited
scale. This will enable capacity to be focussed on key schemes and allow
time to see the long-term impact of inflation.

Schemes already approved and in the current programme will continue.
1.4  The report seeks approval to the “General Fund” element of the capital
programme, at a cost of £46m. In addition to this, the HRA capital
programme (which is elsewhere on your agenda) includes works

estimated at £29m, £15m of which relates to the affordable homes
programme.

Report for Council — Draft Capital Programme 2023-24 — 22" February 2023

40

Page 2 of 34



1.5 The table below summarises the proposed spending for capital schemes
starting in 2023/24, as described in this report:-

£m
Proposed Programme
Schemes — Summarised by Theme
Grant Funded Schemes 23.7
Highways & Infrastructure 5.3
Libraries 1.0
Own buildings 4.7
Parks & Play Areas 2.6
Routine Works 5.7
Feasibility and Contingencies 3.0
Total New Schemes 46.0
Funding
Monies ringfenced to Schemes 44.1
Unringfenced Resources 2.1
Total Resources 46.2

1.6  The table below presents the total spend on General Fund and Housing
Revenue Account schemes:

£m
General Fund 46.0
Housing Revenue Account 29.0
Total 75.0

1.7 The Council’s total capital expenditure now forecast for 2023/24 and
beyond is expected to be around £400m, including the HRA and schemes
approved prior to 2023/24.

1.8  The capital programme is split into two parts:-

@ Schemes which are “immediate starts”, being schemes
which directors have authority to commence once the
council has approved the programme. These are fully
described in this report;

(0) Schemes which are “policy provisions”, where the purpose
of the funding is described but money will not be released
Report for Council — Draft Capital Programme 2023-24 — 22" February 2023

41

Page 3 of 34



until specific spending proposals have been approved by the
Executive.

1.9 Immediate starts have been split into three categories:-

@

©

©

Projects —these are discrete, individual schemes such as a
road scheme or a new building. These schemes will be
monitored with reference to physical delivery rather than an
annual profile of spending. (We will, of course, still want to
make sure that the overall budget is not going to be
exceeded);

Work Programmes — these consist of minor works or similar
schemes where there is an allocation of money to be spent
in a particular year;

Provisions — these are sums of money set aside in case
they are needed, but where low spend is a favourable
outcome rather than indicative of a problem.

2. Recommendations

2.1 The Council is asked to:-

@

©

©

@

Approve the capital programme described in this report and
summarised at Appendices Two to Five, subject to any
amendments proposed by the City Mayor;

For those schemes designated immediate starts, delegate
authority to the lead director to commit expenditure, subject
to the normal requirements of contract procedure rules, rules
concerning land acquisition and finance procedure rules;

Delegate authority to the City Mayor to determine a plan of
spending for each policy provision, and to commit
expenditure up to the maximum available;

For the purposes of finance procedure rules:

e Determine that service resources shall consist of
service revenue contributions; HRA revenue
contributions; and government grants/third party
contributions ringfenced for specific purposes (but see
below for LLEP investment programmes);

e Designate the operational estate & children’s capital
maintenance programme, highways maintenance
programme and transport improvement programme as
programme areas, within which the director can

Report for Council — Draft Capital Programme 2023-24 — 22" February 2023

42

Page 4 of 34



reallocate resources to meet operational requirements.

(e) As in previous years, delegate to the City Mayor:

e Authority to increase any scheme in the programme,
or add a new scheme to the programme, subject to
a maximum of £10m corporate resources in each
instance;

e Authority to reduce or delete any capital scheme,
subject to a maximum reduction of 20% of scheme
value for “immediate starts”; and

e Authority to transfer any “policy provision” to the
‘immediate starts” category.

Q) In respect of Government investment programmes for
which the Council receives grant as the accountable body
to the Leicester and Leicestershire Enterprise
Partnership (LLEP):-

e Delegate to the City Mayor approval to accept
Government offers of funding, and to add this to the
capital programme;

e Delegate to the Strategic Director, City Development
and Neighbourhoods, in consultation with the Director
of Finance, authority to allocate the funding to
individual schemes (in effect, implementing decisions
of the LLEP);

e Agree that City Council schemes funded by the
programme can only commence after the City Mayor
has given approval,

e Delegate to the Director of Finance authority to
reallocate programme funding between schemes, if
permissible, to ensure the programme as a whole can
be delivered; and

e Note that City Council contributions to schemes will
follow the normal rules described above (i.e. nothing
in this paragraph permits the City Mayor to
supplement the programme with City Council
resources outside of normal rules).

(9) Delegate to directors, in consultation with the relevant
deputy/assistant mayor, authority to incur expenditure up
to a maximum of £250k per scheme in respect of policy
provisions on design and other professional fees and
preparatory studies, but not any other type of
expenditure;

(h) Approve the capital strategy at Appendix 6.

Report for Council — Draft Capital Programme 2023-24 — 22" February 2023

43

Page 5 of 34



3. Proposed Programme

Key Policy Issues

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

The key focus of the 2023/24 capital programme is to deliver strategic
objectives as far as possible. It is a limited one year programme, but
nonetheless complements the existing programme and aims to support
the City Mayor’s delivery plan.

The programme is based on key themes, shown at paragraph 1.5 above.

The programme supports the Council's commitment to tackling the
climate emergency, most obviously but not exclusively within the
Transport Improvement Works, Operational Estate and Children’s capital
maintenance programmes.

Similarly, our commitment to invest in the whole city cuts right across our
capital programme. Capital investment will benefit the entire city from our
outer estates to the city centre.

Resources

3.5

3.6

3.7

Resources available to the programme consist primarily of Government
grant and capital receipts (the HRA programme is also supported by
tenants’ rent monies). Most grant is unringfenced, and the Council can
spend it on any purpose it sees fit.

Appendix One presents the resources available to fund the proposed
programme, which total some £46.2m. The key unringfenced funding
sources are detailed below.

@ £2.1m of general capital receipts and £0.7m of Right to Buy
Receipts;

® £21.7m of unringfenced grant funding. Some of these figures
are estimated in the absence of actual allocations from the
Government (the figure for 2024/25 represents a first call on
that year to enable school schemes to be planned);

© £19.6m of resources brought forward, consisting of money set aside
in previous years for covid recovery schemes which has been
reprioritised, money for schemes which have now been funded from
section 106 contributions, savings from completed programmes and

previous years’ underspends.

The Council has a policy of not committing capital receipts until they are
received. This increases the resilience of the capital programme at a time
when revenue budgets are under severe pressure. £2.1m of general
capital receipts are available for 2023/24 based on receipts received or

Report for Council — Draft Capital Programme 2023-24 — 22" February 2023

Page 6 of 34

44



due at the time of writing. Subsequent receipts will be available to fund
the 2024/25 programme.

3.8 The exception to not committing receipts in advance is the expected
receipts from the sale of council housing. Where tenants exercise their
‘Right to Buy” the RTB receipts are layered, with different layers being
available for different purposes. A sum of £0.7m will be available for
general purposes: this is predictable. Further tranches are available to
us but must be used for new affordable housing or returned to the
government.

3.9  For some schemes the amount of unringfenced resources required is less
than the gross cost of the scheme. This is because resources are
ringfenced directly to individual schemes. Ringfenced resources are
shown throughout Appendix Two and include the following:

@ Government grant and contributions made to support the
delivery of specific schemes;

(9) Borrowing. Because borrowing has an impact on the revenue
budget, it is only used for reasons detailed in capital strategy at
Appendix 6 of this report;

© Earmarked reserves, such as the Transformation Fund

3.10 Finance Procedure Rules enable directors to make limited changes to the
programme after it has been approved. For these purposes, the Council
has split resources into corporate and service resources. These are
similar to, but not quite the same as, ringfenced and unringfenced
resources. Whilst all unringfenced resources are corporate, not all
ringfenced monies are service resources. Borrowing, for instance, is
treated as a corporate resource requiring a higher level of approval.

3.11 Directors have authority to add schemes to the programme, provided they
are funded by service resources, up to an amount of £250,000. This

provides flexibility for small schemes to be added to the programme
without a report to the Executive.

Report for Council — Draft Capital Programme 2023-24 — 22" February 2023

45

Page 7 of 34



Proposed Programme

3.12 The whole programme is summarised at Appendix 2. Responsibility for
the majority of projects rests with the Strategic Director of City
Development and Neighbourhoods.

3.13 £23.7m is provided for grant funded schemes. These schemes are
funded either from unringfenced grant (where we have discretion) and
ringfenced resources.

@

()

©

@

©

£15.9m has been provided to continue with the Schools Capital
Improvements Programme. The programme will include routine
maintenance and spending is prioritised to reflect asset condition and
risk. This will be a 2 year programme to allow for better forward
planning. The proposed programme is shown at Appendix 5: detailed

schemes will be developed following consultation with schools.

£3.3m is provided as part of the continued Highway Capital
Maintenance Programme. This is a rolling annual programme
and spending is prioritised to reflect asset condition, risk and
local neighbourhood priorities. The proposed programme is
shown at Appendix 4.

£2.6m is provided in 2023/24 to continue the rolling programme
of works constituting the Transport Improvement Programme.

Some of the priority areas include:
e Delivering cross cutting cycling, walking and public
transport benefits.
e Local safety schemes
e 20mph schemes in Neighbourhoods
e Delivery of the Local Transport Plan

£1.9m has been provided for Disabled Facilities Grants to private
sector householders. This is an annual programme which has existed

for many years. These grants provide funding to eligible disabled
people for adaption work to their homes, and help them maintain
their independence

£150,000 is provided for Grounds Maintenance Equipment to
replace ageing machinery with up to date, energy efficient
models. The replacement of this equipment is met from
borrowing, and a revenue budget exists for this purpose.

3.14 £5.3mis provided for Highways & Infrastructure.

@

£3m has been set aside for St Margaret’s Gateway. The Council

was successful in bidding for levelling up funds in 2021, and further

money has now been made available to improve this gateway into
the city.

Report for Council — Draft Capital Programme 2023-24 — 22" February 2023

Page 8 of 34

46



@

©

£1.8m is provided for additional Highways Transport and
Infrastructure works. This money will enhance the city centre
and local centres through improvements to public realm, and
improve accessibility by modes other than use of private cars.

£460,000 has been provided to replace the existing St Nicholas
Wall due to its current condition. The works will be undertaken
following engagement and agreement with Historic England.

3.15 £1mis provided for Libraries.

@

£1m is provided for Library Investment, to transform local
libraries into facilities capable of delivering multiple customer
facing services.

3.16 £4.7mis provided for the Council’s own buildings.

@

©

©

@

£4m has been provided to support the annual Operational
Estate Capital Maintenance Programme of works to
properties that the Council occupies for its own use. This is a
rolling annual programme and spending is prioritised to reflect
asset condition and risk. The proposed programme is shown at
Appendix 3, but may vary to meet emerging operational
requirements.

£400,000 has been provided for Decarbonisation of Malcolm
Arcade. Carbon reduction measures such as improvements to
natural ventilation, solar panels and natural light improvements
will be undertaken.

£195,000 is provided to complete the final phase of the district
heating programme, connecting Aikman Avenue to the
existing district heating network.

£100,000 has been provided for additional car parking spaces at
Phoenix Arts following the expansion of the cinema and arts
centre.

3.17 £2.6m is provided for Parks & Play Areas.

@

©

£2.5m has been provided to support the improvement of the Councils
Multi Use Games Areas (MUGA'’s). This will help increase physical

activity and participation in recreational sport across the city.

£150,000 has been provided for Spinney Hill Park Play Area

Refurbishment. The works will include resurfacing and
replacement of play equipment.

Report for Council — Draft Capital Programme 2023-24 — 22" February 2023

Page 9 of 34

47



3.18 £5.7mis provided for Routine Works.

@ £3.8m has been made available for the annual Fleet
Replacement Programme. Wherever possible, ultra low
emission vehicles (ULEVs) will be sought to support the
Council’s climate emergency response. In previous years, this
programme has been funded by borrowing, but in 2023/24 it will
be funded from corporate resources to reduce revenue budget
pressures.

(9) £400,000 has been provided for Local Environmental Works
in wards. This scheme will focus on local neighbourhood issues
including residential parking, local safety concerns, pedestrian
routes, cycle ways and community lighting to be delivered after
consultation with ward members.

© £400,000 has been provided for the compulsory purchase and
statutory works at St Paul’s Church, as part of the Council’s
obligation to prevent irreparable damage to listed buildings.
Whilst these works will initially need to be funded by the Council,
on completion the Council will be able to sell the building to
recoup these costs.

(0) £300,000 is provided to continue the Flood Risk Prevention
scheme into 2023/24. The programme supports the local flood
risk management strategy and action plan, and the delivery of
our statutory role to manage and reduce flood risk in
collaboration with the Environment Agency & Severn Trent
Water.

© £200,000 has been provided for the Front Walls Enveloping
Scheme and is a continuation of previous schemes. It involves
the enclosure of small spaces in front of housing. Enveloping
schemes can make a significant improvement to local
neighbourhoods and enable occupiers to tend house fronts more
effectively.

)] £200,000 is provided in 2023/24 to continue the programme of
Repayable Home Repair Loans. These grants aid vulnerable,
low income home owners to carry out repairs or improvements
to their homes, to bring properties up to decent home standards.
Any loan will remain in place until a change of ownership or sale
of the property, after which repayment of the loan is required.

© Following the success of the current scheme, £185,000 has
been put aside for the extension of the Heritage Interpretation

Panels Programme. This scheme uses digital technology to
interpret heritage stories in new ways, e.g. via mobile devices.

Report for Council — Draft Capital Programme 2023-24 — 22" February 2023

48

Page 10 of 34



(p) £130,000 will pay for specialist equipment to fell trees affected
by Ash Die Back that pose a risk to the public.

0 £50,000 has been provided for a Historic Building Grant
Programme. This will provide match funding to city residents
and organisations to support the repair of historic buildings and
the reinstatement of lost original historic features.

0 £50,000 continues to be made available for Acquisition of
Long Term Empty Homes. The Empty Homes Team gives
advice and assistance to owners, helping them bring homes
back into occupation. As a last resort, when all avenues have
been exhausted, we have to use compulsory purchase. £50,000
covers the incidental costs associated with acquisition where
CPO or negotiated purchase is required, where such costs
cannot be recouped from the sale proceeds.

3.19 £3mis provided for feasibility and contingencies:.

@ £1.5m is provided for Feasibility Studies. This will enable
studies to be done, typically for potential developments not
included elsewhere in the programme or which might attract
grant support, without requiring further decisions.

® A Programme Contingency of £1.5m has been set aside for
cost pressures arising from construction inflation, or (if not
needed for this purpose) for any emerging capital needs such as
match funding for new government programmes.

Proposed Programme — Policy Provisions

3.20 Policy provisions are sums of money which are included in the
programme for a stated purpose, but for which a further report to the
Executive (and decision notice) is required before they can be spent.
Schemes are usually treated as policy provisions because the Executive
needs to see more detailed spending plans before full approval can be
given.

3.21 Executive reports seeking approval to spend policy provisions must state
whether schemes, once approved, will constitute projects, work
programmes or provisions; and, in the case of projects, identify project
outcomes and physical milestones against which progress can be
monitored.

3.22 Some of the schemes described above will be treated as policy
provisions. These are denoted as such in Appendix Two.

Report for Council — Draft Capital Programme 2023-24 — 22" February 2023

49

Page 11 of 34



Capital Strategy

3.23 Local authorities are required to prepare a capital strategy each year,
which sets out our approach for capital expenditure and financing at high
level.

3.24 The proposed capital strategy is set out at Appendix 6.
Consultation

3.25 To be added later following consultation.

Report for Council — Draft Capital Programme 2023-24 — 22" February 2023

50

Page 12 of 34



4. Financial, legal, equalities, climate emergency and other implications

4.1 Financial implications

4.1.1 This report is exclusively concerned with financial matters.

4.1.2 There is proposed prudential borrowing in the programme for
replacement grounds maintenance machinery for £150k. The anticipated
revenue costs arising will be £13k per year, for which revenue budget
exists. This borrowing is affordable, sustainable and prudent (this is
further described in the Treasury Strategy on your agenda).

4.2 Legal implications

4.2.1 Asthe report is exclusively concerned with financial matters, there are no
direct legal implications arising from the report. In accordance with the
constitution, the capital programme is a matter that requires approval of
full Council. The subsequent letting of contracts, acquisition and/or
disposal of land etc all remain matters that are executive functions and
therefore there will be the need to ensure such next steps have the
correct authority in place prior to proceeding. There will be procurement
and legal implications in respect of individual schemes and client officers
should take early legal advice.

Kamal Adatia, City Barrister & Head of Standards

4.3 Equalities implications

4.3.1 Under the Equality Act 2010, public authorities have statutory duties,
including the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) which means that, in
carrying out their functions they have to pay due regard to the need to
eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation, to
advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who don’t and to foster good relations between
people who share a protected characteristic and those who don’t.

4.3.2 Protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010 are age, disability,
gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief,
sex, sexual orientation.

4.3.3 People from across all protected characteristics will benefit from the
improved public realm arising from the proposed capital programme.
However, as the proposals are developed and implemented,
consideration should continue to be given to the equality impacts of the
schemes in question, and how they can help the Council to meet the three
aims of the Public Sector Equality Duty.

4.3.4 The capital programme includes schemes which improve the city’s
infrastructure and contribute to overall improvement of quality of life for

Report for Council — Draft Capital Programme 2023-24 — 22" February 2023

51

Page 13 of 34



people across all protected characteristics. By doing so, the capital
programme promotes the PSED aim of fostering good relations between
different groups of people by ensuring that no area is disadvantaged
compared to other areas as many services rely on such infrastructure to
continue to operate.

4.3.5 Some of the schemes focus on meeting specific areas of need for a
protected characteristic: Disabled Facilities Grants (disability), home
repair grants which are most likely to be accessed by elderly, disabled
people (age and disability), and the Children’s Capital Improvement
Programme (age).

4.3.6 Other schemes target much larger groups of people who have a range of
protected characteristics reflective of the diverse population within the
city. Some schemes are place specific and address environmental issues
that also benefit diverse groups of people. The delivery of the capital
programme contributes to the Council fulfilling our Public Sector Equality
Duty (PSED). For example, schemes which support people in being able
to stay in their homes, to continue to lead independent lives, and to
participate in community life help promote equality of opportunity, another
one of the aims of the PSED.

4.3.7 Where there are any improvement works to buildings or public spaces,
considerations around accessibility (across a range of protected
characteristics) must influence design and decision making. This will
ensure that people are not excluded (directly or indirectly) from accessing
a building, public space, or service, based on a protected characteristic.
All schemes should consider the PSED and conducting Equality Impact
Assessments where relevant to inform the process.

Kalvaran Sandhu, Equalities Manager

4.4 Climate Emergency implications

4.4.1 The city council declared a climate emergency in February 2019 and is
delivering it's Climate Emergency Strategy & Action Plan, which sets an
ambition for the council and city to achieve net zero carbon emissions.
The council is one of the largest employers and landowners in the city,
with a carbon footprint of 16,852 tCO2e from its own operations. The
council therefore has a vital role to play in reducing emissions from its
operations, working with its partners and leading by example on tackling
the climate emergency in Leicester. The report notes the importance of
tackling the climate emergency through the capital programme, with a
number of the projects outlined directly playing a positive role in reducing
carbon emissions in the city.

4.4.2 There is not sufficient information within this report to provide specific
details of climate change implications for individual projects, which may
have significant implications and opportunities. Detailed implications
should therefore be produced for individual projects as and when plans

Report for Council — Draft Capital Programme 2023-24 — 22" February 2023

52

Page 14 of 34



are finalised. At a high level, there are some general principles that should
be followed during the planning, design and implementation of capital
projects, as detailed below. A toolkit is also being developed to support
the achievement of reduced carbon emissions in council capital
construction and renovation projects.

4.4.3 New buildings should be constructed to a high standard of energy
efficiency, and incorporate renewable energy sources where possible,
with projects aiming to achieve carbon neutral development or as close
as possible to this. Maintenance and refurbishment works, including
replacement of systems or equipment, should also seek to improve
energy efficiency wherever possible. This will reduce energy use and
therefore bills, delivering further benefits. Major projects will also need to
meet Climate Change policy CS2 in the Leicester City Core Strategy
planning document, which requires best practice in terms of minimising
energy demand for heating, ventilation and lighting, achieving a high level
of fabric efficiency, and the use of low carbon or renewable sources of
energy

4.4.4 Projects involving procurement, including for construction works, should
follow the Council’s sustainable procurement guidelines. This includes
the use of low carbon and sustainable materials, low carbon equipment
and vehicles and reducing waste in procurement processes. Transport
projects should seek to enable a greater share of journeys to be safely
and conveniently undertaken by walking, cycling or public transport
wherever possible, and many of the planned works will directly contribute
to this. Flood risk and environmental works are also a key part of
increasing resilience to a changing climate in the city.

Aidan Davis, Sustainability Officer

4.5 Other implications (You will need to have considered other implications in
preparing this report. Please indicate which ones apply?)

Report for Council — Draft Capital Programme 2023-24 — 22" February 2023

53

Page 15 of 34



Equal Opportunities Yes Paragraph 4.3

Policy Yes The capital programme is
part of the Council’s overall
budget and policy framework,
and makes a substantial
contribution to the delivery of
Council policy.

Sustainable and Environmental Yes Paragraph 4.4
Crime and Disorder No
Human Rights Act No
Elderly/People on Low Income Yes A number of schemes will

benefit elderly people and
those on low income.

5. Background information and other papers:

6. Summary of appendices:

Appendix 1 — Corporate & Unringfenced Capital Resources.
Appendix 2a - A City to Enjoy

Appendix 2b — A Fair City

Appendix 2c — Health and Care

Appendix 2d — Lifelong Learning

Appendix 2e — Sustainable Leicester

Appendix 2f — Operational Estate

Appendix 2g — Routine Works

Appendix 2h — Other

Appendix 3 — Operational Estate Maintenance Capital Programme
Appendix 4 — Highways Maintenance Capital Programme
Appendix 5 — Children’s Capital Improvement Programme
Appendix 6 — Capital Strategy 2023/24

Report for Council — Draft Capital Programme 2023-24 — 22" February 2023

54

Page 16 of 34



7. Is this a private report (If so, please indicate the reasons and state why it is
not in the public interest to be dealt with publicly)? No

8. Is this a “key decision”? If so, why? No — it is a proposal to the Council.

Report Author: Ben Matthews

Report for Council — Draft Capital Programme 2023-24 — 22" February 2023

55

Page 17 of 34



Appendix One
Capital Resources

23/24 24/25 Total
{£000} {£000} {£000}
Resources Brought Forward
Previous years' savings 19,630 - 19,630
Total One Off Resources 19,630 - 19,630
Capital Receipts
General Capital Receipts 2,082 - 2,082
Council Housing - Right to Buy Receipts 700 - 700
Total Receipts 2,782 - 2,782
Unringfenced Capital Grant
Education maintenance 9,855 6,000 15,855
Integrated Transport 2,576 - 2,576
Transport maintenance 3,262 - 3,262
Total Unringfenced Grant 15,693 6,000 21,693
TOTAL UNRINGFENCED RESOURCES 38,105 6,000 44,105
Ringfenced resources 2,131 - 2,131
TOTAL CAPITAL RESOURCES 40,236 6,000 46,236

Report for Council — Draft Capital Programme 2023-24 — 22" February 2023

56

Page 18 of 34



Grant Funded Schemes

Corporate

Appendix 2a

L Scheme Ringfenced Total
Division Type Program_me Funding Approval
Funding

{£000} {£000} {£000}

Grant Funded Schemes
Children’s Capital Maintenance Programme CDN (EBS) WP 15,857 - 15,857
Highway Capital Maintenance CDN (PDT) WP 3,262 - 3,262
Transport Improvement Works CDN (PDT) WP 2,576 - 2,576
Disabled Facilities Grants CDN (HGF) WP - 1,861 1,861
Grounds Maintenance Equipment CDN (NES) WP - 150 150
TOTAL 21,695 2,011 23,706

Key to Scheme Types : PJ = Project; WP = Work Programme

Summary of Ringfenced

Funding

{£000}
Disabled Facilities Grant 1,861
Prudential Borrowing 150
TOTAL RINGENCED FUNDING 2,011

Report for Council — Draft Capital Programme 2023-24 — 22" February 2023

57



Highways, Transport & Infrastructure

Appendix 2b

L Scheme Corporate Ringfenced Total
Division Tvpe Programme Fundin Approval
yp Funding 9 PP
{£000} {£000} {£000}
Highways, Transport &
Infrastructure
St Margaret’'s Gateway CDN (PDT) PP 3,000 - 3,000
Highways, Transport & CDN (PDT) PP 1,800 - 1,800
Infrastructure
St Nicholas Wall CDN (EBS) PJ 460 - 460
TOTAL 5,260 - 5,260

Key to Scheme Types : PJ = Project ; PP = Policy Provision

Report for Council — Draft Capital Programme 2023-24 — 22" February 2023

58



Appendix 2c¢

Libraries
L Scheme Corporate Ringfenced Total
Division Tvbe Programme Fundina Apbroval
yp Funding 9 APP
{£000} {£000} {£000}
Libraries
Library Investment CDN (NES) PP 1,000 1,000
TOTAL 1,000 - 1,000

Key to Scheme Types : PP = Policy Provision ; WP = Work Programme

Report for Council — Draft Capital Programme 2023-24 — 22" February 2023

59



Appendix 2d

Own Buildings
Corporate _.
L Scheme Ringfenced Total
Division Tvpe Programme Fundin Approval
yp Funding g PP
{£000} {£000} {£000}
Own Buildings
Operational Estate Maintenance CDN (EBS) WP 4,000 - 4,000
Malcolm Arcade - Decarbonisation CDN (EBS) PJ 400 - 400
Aikman Avenue District Heating CDN (EBS) PJ 195 - 195
Phoenix Arts Car Park CDN (EBS) PJ 100 - 100
TOTAL 4,695 - 4,695

Key to Scheme Types : PJ = Project ; WP = Work Programme

Report for Council — Draft Capital Programme 2023-24 — 22" February 2023

60



Parks & Play Areas

Appendix 2e

L Scheme Corporate Ringfenced Total
Division Tvpe Programme Fundin Approval
yp Funding g PP

{£000} {£000} {£000}

Parks & Play Areas
Multi Use Games Areas (MUGAS) CDN (NES) PJ 2,500 - 2,500
Spinney Hill Park Play Area CDN (NES) PJ 150 - 150

Refurbishment

TOTAL 2,650 - 2,650

Key to Scheme Types : PJ = Project ; WP = Work Programme ; PV = Provision

Report for Council — Draft Capital Programme 2023-24 — 22" February 2023

61



Routine Works

Corporate

Appendix 2f

L Scheme Ringfenced Total
Division Type Programme Funding Approval
Funding

{£000} {£000} {£000}

Routine Works
Fleet Replacement Programme CDN (HGF) WP 3,795 - 3,795
Local Environmental Works CDN (PDT) WP 400 - 400
St Paul's Church CDN (EBS) PJ 400 - 400
Flood Risk Prevention CDN (PDT) WP 300 - 300
Front Walls Enveloping CDN (PDT) WP 200 - 200
Repayable Home Repair Loans CDN (HGF) WP 200 - 200
Heritage Panels CDN (TCI) WP 185 - 185
Ash Die Back Equipment CDN (NES) PJ 130 - 130
Historic Building Grant Fund CDN (PDT) WP 50 - 50
E:r(])gtr;;g%n;es Acquisition CDN (HGF) PV 50 i 50
TOTAL 5,710 - 5,710

Key to Scheme Types : PJ = Project ; WP = Work Programme ; PV = Provision

Report for Council — Draft Capital Programme 2023-24 — 22" February 2023

62



Feasibilities and Contingencies

Corporate

Appendix 29

L Scheme Ringfenced Total
Division Tvpe Programme Fundin Approval
yp Funding 9 PP
{£000} {£000} {£000}
Feasibilities and
Contingencies
Programme Contingency All Divisions PP 1,500 - 1,500
Feasibility Studies CDN (Various) WP 1,345 120 1,465
TOTAL 2,845 120 2,965
Key to Scheme Types : PP = Policy Provision ; WP = Work Programme
Summary of Ringfenced
Funding
{£000}
Transformation Fund (Earmarked Reserves) 120
TOTAL RINGENCED FUNDING 120
GRAND TOTAL —ALL 43,855 2131 45,986

SCHEMES

Report for Council — Draft Capital Programme 2023-24 — 22" February 2023

63



Appendix 3
Operational Estate Maintenance Capital Programme

Description Amount
£000’s

Accessibility Works - To review the accessibility of complex sites in 55

line with the Equalities Act.

Building Works - Essential maintenance at the Council's 818

operational and investment buildings. Key works include a roof
replacement and lifecycle replacements in line with lease
agreements.

Compliance Works - Generally consisting of surveys to gain 440

condition data across the estate and works arising from the various
risk assessments that are undertaken.

Electrical Works - Replacement fuse boards, fire alarms, mains 345
distribution panels and lighting works.

Mechanical Works - Ventilation and plumbing works required at 99
the Council's neighbourhood centres and open spaces.

Sustainability Works - to carry out works to aid the 1,969

decarbonisation of the Council’s estate. Including works to support
the energy efficiency technology programme that is in the current
capital programme.

Emergency Provision — Provision for emergency reactive works 274
that could be required across the Council's estate

TOTAL 4,000

Report for Council — Draft Capital Programme 2023-24 — 22" February 2023

64



Appendix 4

Proposed Highways Maintenance Capital Programme

Description Amount
£000’s
Major Public Realm & Transport Improvement Schemes - 100

Public realm and ftransport maintenance works associated with
transforming cities and active fravel fund

Principal Roads - 500
Broad Avenue (The Langhill to Gwendolen Road), Victoria Road East
(Gipsy Lane to Hastings Road)

Classified Non-Principal Roads - 365
Saffron Lane continuation (Burnaston Road to Pork Pie Island),
University Road (Welford Road to Regent Road)

Unclassified Neighbourhood Roads - 135
Regent Road (Welford Road to Waterloo Way)
LEAN Carriageway & Pothole Repairs — 410

Target large carriageway pothole repairs to provide longer term
repairs in readiness for surface dressing.

Footway Relays and Reconstructions — 627
Focus on local neighbourhood priorities; Narborough Road
contfinuation, Melton Road footway improvements, Outer estate
footway improvement schemes and cycleway resurfacing schemes.

Strategic Bridge Deck Maintenance & Replacement 185
Works Friday Street bridge and Burleys Way feasibility study.
Bridge Improvement & Maintenance Works — 200

Parapet replacements, structural maintenance works and technical
assessment review project.

Traffic Signal Installations Renewals and Lighting Column 240
Replacements —

Signalling Upgrades, Lamp Column Replacements, llluminated
Bollards and Sign Replacements.

DIT / Whole Government Accounting Lifecycle Asset 500
Management Development Project —

Strategic asset management development, data analysis, lifecycle
planning and reporting in support of DT Challenge Funding bidding
linked to asset management performance.

TOTAL 3,262

Report for Council — Draft Capital Programme 2023-24 — 22" February 2023

65



Appendix 5

Children’s Capital Improvement Programme

Description Amount
£000’s
Building Works - Typical works include roof replacements, sports 5,060

hall floor replacements, playground resurfacing and window
replacements.

Compliance Works - This work stream will mainly be used to 2,165
ensure the playing fields and pavilions used by schools are fully
compliant with current regulations and to conduct health and safety
WOrKks.

Mechanical Works - schemes being undertaken within the 1,185
programme typically consist of re-piping heating systems and end of
life ventilation replacements

Safeguarding Works - building works to ensure sites are secure. 400

Sustainability Works - to carry out works to aid the 6,407
decarbonisatfion of the Council’s estate. Including works to support
the energy efficiency technology programme that is in the current
capital programme.

Individual Access Needs Works - This is a provision to allow 195
works to be carried out to enable children with additional needs to
access mainstream school.

Emergency Provision - This is provision within the programme to 445
allow for emergency unforeseen works to be carried out.

TOTAL 15,857

Report for Council — Draft Capital Programme 2023-24 — 22" February 2023

66



1.2

2.1

2.2

2.3

Appendix 6

Capital Strateqy 2023/24

Introduction

It is a requirement on local authorities to prepare a capital strategy each year,
which sets out our approach to capital expenditure and financing at a high level.
The requirement to prepare a strategy arises from Government concerns about
certain authorities borrowing substantial sums to invest in commercial property,
often primarily for yield and outside the vicinity of the Council concerned
(something the Council has never done).

There is also a requirement on local authorities to prepare an investment
strategy, which specifies our approach to making investments other than day
to day treasury management investments (the latter is included in our treasury
management strategy, as in previous years). The investment strategy is
presented as a separate report on your agenda.

This appendix sets out the proposed capital strategy for the Council’s approval.

Capital Expenditure

The Council’s capital expenditure plans are approved by the full Council, on the
basis of two reports:-

(@) The corporate capital programme — this covers periods of one or more
years, and is always approved in advance of the period to which it
relates. It is often, but need not be, revisited annually (it need not be
revisited if plans for the subsequent year have already been approved);

(b)  The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) capital programme — this is
considered as part of the HRA budget strategy which is submitted each
year for approval.

The capital programme is split into:-

(@) Immediate starts — being schemes which are approved by the Council
and can start as soon as practical after the council has approved the
programme. Such schemes are specifically described in the relevant
report;

(b) Policy provisions, which are subsequently committed by the City Mayor
(and may be less fully described in the report). The principle here is that
further consideration is required before the scheme can start.

The corporate capital programme report sets out authorities delegated to the
City Mayor. Decisions by the City Mayor are subject to normal requirements in
the constitution (e.g. as to prior notice and call-in).

Report for Council — Draft Capital Programme 2023-24 — 22" February 2023

67



2.4  Monitoring of capital expenditure is carried out by the Executive and the
Overview Select Committee. Reports are presented on 3 occasions during the
years, and at outturn. For this purpose, immediate starts have been split into
three categories:-

(@) Projects — these are discrete, individual schemes such as a road
scheme or a new building. These schemes are monitored with reference
to physical delivery rather than an annual profile of spending. (We will,
of course, still want to make sure that the overall budget is not going to
be exceeded);

(b)  Work Programmes — these will consist of minor works or similar
schemes where is an allocation of money to be spentin a particular year.

(©) Provisions — these are sums of monies set aside in case they are
needed, but where low spend is a favourable outcome rather than
indicative of a problem.

2.5 When, during the year, proposals to spend policy provisions are approved, a
decision on classification is taken at that time (i.e. a sum will be added to
projects, work programmes or provisions as the case may be).

2.6  The authority does not capitalise expenditure, except where it can do so in
compliance with proper practices: it has never applied for directions to
capitalise revenue expenditure.

2.7 The table below forecasts the past and forecast capital expenditure for the
current year and 2023/24. It therefore, includes latest estimates of expenditure
from the 2022/23 programme that will be rolled forward.

2022/23 | 2023/24 &

Department / Division Estimate Beyond
£m Estimate

£m

All Departments - 7.7
Corporate Resources 0.2 3.0
Planning, Development & Transportation 59.2 106.1
Tourism, Culture & Inward Investment 12.7 39.0
Neighbourhood & Environmental Services 1.8 3.9
Estates & Building Services 20.8 24.6
Adult Social Care 0.6 6.4
Children's Services 15.8 29.0
Public Health 2.1 2.5
Housing General Fund 5.5 13.2
Total General Fund 118.7 2354
Housing Revenue Account 34.3 172.4
Total 153.0 407.8

Report for Council — Draft Capital Programme 2023-24 — 22" February 2023

68



2.8

2.9

The Council’s Estates and Building Services Division provides professional
management of non-housing property assets. This includes maintaining the
properties, collecting any income, rent reviews, ensuring that lease conditions
are complied with and that valuations are regularly updated at least every 5
years. A capital programme scheme is approved each year for significant
improvements or renovation.

The Housing Division provides management of tenanted dwellings. Apart from
new build and acquisitions, the HRA capital programme is almost entirely
funded from tenants’ rents. The criteria used to plan major works are in the table
below:-

Component for
Replacement

Leicester’s Replacement
Condition Criteria

Decent Homes
Standard: Maximum
Age

Bathroom

All properties to have a
bathroom for life by 2036

30 - 40 years

Central Heating
Boiler

Based on assessed
condition

15 years (future life span
of new boilers is
expected to be on
average 12 years)

Chimney Based on assessed 50 years
condition

Windows & Based on assessed 40 years

Doors condition

Electrics Every 30 years 30 years

Kitchen All properties to have an 20 - 30 years
upgraded kitchen by 2036

Roof Based on assessed 50 years (20 years for
condition flat roofs)

Wall finish Based on assessed 80 years

(external) condition

Wall structure Based on assessed 60 years
condition

Financing Capital Expenditure

Most capital expenditure of the Council is financed as soon as it is spent (by
using grants, capital receipts, revenue budgets or the capital fund). The Council
will only incur spending which cannot be financed in this way in strictly limited
circumstances. Such spending is termed “prudential borrowing” as we are able
to borrow money to pay for it. (The treasury management strategy explains
why in practice we don’t need to borrow on the external market: we must still,
however, account for it as borrowing and make “repayments” from revenue
each year). Circumstances in which the Council will use “prudential borrowing”
are:-

(@) Where spending facilitates a future disposal, and it is estimated that the
proceeds will be sufficient to fully cover the initial costs;

(b) Where spending can be justified with reference to an investment
appraisal (this is further described in the separate investment strategy).

Report for Council — Draft Capital Programme 2023-24 — 22" February 2023

69



3.2

3.3

4.2

4.3

4.4
4.5

4.6

This also includes social housing, where repayment costs can be met
from rents;

(©) Other “spend to save” schemes where the initial cost is paid back from
revenue savings or additional income;

(d) Where, historically, the Council has used leasing for vehicles or
equipment, and revenue budgets already exist to meet the cost;

(e) “Once in a generation” opportunities to secure significant strategic
investment that will benefit the city for decades to come.

The Council measures its capital financing requirement, which shows how
much we would need to borrow if we borrowed for all un-financed capital
spending (and no other purpose). This is shown in the table below:-

2022/23 | 2023/24 | 2024/25 2025/26

Estimate

£m
HRA 265 301 316 336
General Fund 266 262 259 254

(The table above excludes PFI schemes).

Projections of actual external debt are included in the treasury management
strategy, which is elsewhere on your agenda.

Debt Repayment

As stated above, the Council usually pays for capital spending as it is incurred.
However, this has not always been the case. In the past, the Government
encouraged borrowing and money was made available in Revenue Support
Grant each year to pay off the debt (much like someone paying someone else’s
mortgage payments).

The Council makes charges to the general fund budget each year to repay debt
incurred for previous years’ capital spending. (In accordance with Government
rules, no charge needs to be made to the Housing Revenue Account: we do,
however, make charges for newly built and acquired property).

The general underlying principle is that the Council seeks to repay debt over
the period for which taxpayers enjoy the benefit of the spending it financed.

Where borrowing pays for an asset, debt is repaid over the life of the asset.

Where borrowing pays for an investment, debt is repaid over the life of the
Council’s interest in the asset which has been financed (this may be the asset
life, or may be lower if the Council’s interest is subject to time limits). Where
borrowing funds a loan to a third party, repayment will never exceed the period
of the loan.

Charges to revenue will be based on an equal instalment of principal, or set on
an annuity basis, as the Director of Finance deems appropriate.

Report for Council — Draft Capital Programme 2023-24 — 22" February 2023

70



4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

411

4.12

Debt repayment will normally commence in the year following the year in which
the expenditure was incurred. However, in the case of expenditure relating to
the construction of an asset, the charge will commence in the year after the
asset becomes operational or the year after total expenditure on the scheme
has been completed.

The following are the maximum asset lives which can be used:-

(@) Land — 50 years;

(b) Buildings — 50 years;

(©) Infrastructure — 40 years;

(d) Plant and equipment — 20 years;
(e) Vehicles — 12 years.

Some investments governed by the treasury strategy may be accounted for as
capital transactions. Should this require debt repayment charges, an
appropriate time period will be employed.

Authority is given to the Director of Finance to voluntarily set aside sums for
debt repayment, over and above the amounts determined in accordance with
the above rules, where he/she believes the standard charge to be insufficient,
or in order to reduce the future debt burden to the authority.

In circumstances where the investment strategy permits use of borrowing to
support projects which achieve a return, the Director of Finance may adopt a
different approach to debt repayment to reflect the financing costs of such
schemes. The rules governing this are included in the investment strategy.

The ratio of financing costs to net revenue budget is estimated to be:-

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

% % %

General Fund 1.1 0.5 0.5
HRA 11.4 13.6 14.9

Commercial Activity

The Council has for many decades held commercial property through the
corporate estate. It may decide to make further commercial investments in
property, or give loans to others to support commercial investment. Our
approach is described in the investment strategy, which sets the following
limitations:-

(@) The Council will not make such investments purely to generate income.
Each investment will also benefit the Council’s service objectives (most
probably, in respect of economic regeneration and jobs). It will, however,
invest to improve the financial performance of the corporate estate;

(b)  The Council will not make investments outside of the LLEP area (or just
beyond its periphery) except as described below. We would not, for
instance, borrow money to buy a shopping centre 100 miles from
Leicester;

Report for Council — Draft Capital Programme 2023-24 — 22" February 2023

/1



5.2

5.3

5.4

(c) There is one exception to (b) above, which is where the investment
meets a service need other than economic regeneration. An example
might be a joint investment in a solar farm, in collaboration with other
local authorities; or investment in a consortium serving local government
as a whole. In these cases, the location of the asset is not necessarily
relevant.

Such investments will only take place (if they are of significant scale) after
undertaking a formal appraisal, using external advisors if needs be.
Nonetheless, as such investments also usually achieve social objectives, the
Council is prepared to accept a lower return than a commercial funder might,
and greater risk than it would in respect of its treasury management
investments. Such risk will always be clearly described in decision reports (and
decisions to make such investments will follow the normal rules in the Council’s
constitution).

Although the Council accepts that an element of risk is inevitable from
commercial activity, it will not invest in schemes whereby (individually or
collectively) it would not be able to afford the borrowing costs if they went wrong.
As well as undertaking a formal appraisal of schemes of a significant scale, the
Council will take into account what “headroom” it may have between the
projected income and projected borrowing costs.

In addition to the above, the Council’s treasury strategy may permit investments
in property or commercial enterprises. Such investments may be to support
environmental and socially responsible aims, and are usually pooled with other
bodies. For the purposes of the capital strategy, these are not regarded as
commercial activities under this paragraph as the activity is carried out under
the treasury strategy.

Knowledge and Skills

The Council employs a number of qualified surveyors and accountants as well
as a specialist team for economic development who can collectively consider
investment proposals. It also retains external treasury management consultants
(currently Arlingclose). For proposed investments of a significant scale, the
Council may employ external specialist consultants to assist its decision
making.

Report for Council — Draft Capital Programme 2023-24 — 22" February 2023

72



248 Appendix C

Office for Health
Improvement
& Disparities

and young people in the East
idland

October 2022

73



Contents

Introduction 2
Wider impacts of COVID-19 on child health 4
Risk and protective factors for children and young people’s wellbeing 6
Vulnerability in children and young people 7
The impact of COVID-19 on:

e Child poverty 8
» Pregnancy, birth and early weeks 12
e Infant and child deaths 14
o Early years 16
e Education 19
o Safeguarding 22
» Children with special educational needs and disabilities 24
e Oral health 26
e Children and young people’s nutrition 28
» Children and young people’s physical activity 30
e Children and young people’s mental health 32
» Young people’s sexual health 34
» Children and young people’s access to health services 36
e Vaccination uptake 38
Appendix 40

Page 1

74



Introduction

What has happened, what we know and next steps

The outbreak, spread and response to Covid-19 from March 2020 has impacted on everyone and all aspects of life.
While children and young people (CYP) of all ages have been diagnosed with COVID-19, symptoms are generally
mild and severe illness is rare.! However, the wider impact of the pandemic on their education, mental and physical
wellbeing, access to services and life circumstances has been profound. Schools were closed, expected health care
appointments did not take place, and children’s mental health deteriorated. There is evidence that children were
disproportionally affected? with some having been more vulnerable than others to the effects of the pandemic,
particularly those with pre-existing vulnerabilities.?

In July 2022 life for babies, children and young people seems to be largely back to normal. The country is now
focussing on system wide recovery and responding to the long-lasting impacts of the pandemic. Early identification,
intervention and prompt treatment are particularly important for children and young people, as poor health in
childhood can have lifelong consequences.

This report presents a broad overview of the impacts of the pandemic on babies, children, and young people,
highlighting the longer-term and ongoing areas of concern. This report does not encompass everything. Evidence of
many of the impacts of the pandemic on babies, children and young people are still emerging and many are yet
unknown.

Alongside a collection of literature on the effect of the pandemic this report presents data from the indicators of child
and maternal health and wellbeing from the Office of Health Improvement and Disparities (OHID) Fingertips and the
Wider Impacts of COVID-19 on Health tool (WICH). Many of these indicators are derived from pre-pandemic data
(2019/20) and are included as a baseline from which to measure ongoing impact. More data is expected to become
available over time. The report includes national data and regional data where available.

The aim of the report

This report is not an endpoint but a beginning to give those involved in planning, making decisions, and working with
babies, children and young people an overview and a starting point for prioritising effort.

Next steps

It is expected that the report will be built upon with a series of focussed briefings on babies, children and young
people which can help local partners to work together on monitoring and improving their outcomes.

Acknowledgements

The report has used a report by the London region of Public Health England in 2021 as a template. Thanks go to the
original authors of that publication from healthcare public health, dental public health and Wellbeing and Workforce
Teams, which had large contributions from Dr Marilena Korkodilos, Robert Marr, Jennifer Beturin-Din, Nicky Brown,
Dan Devitt, Dr Katherine Kaczmarczyk, Dr Huda Yusuf, Sally Hudd, Emma Blair and Gina Zelent.

This report has been localised and updated for the East Midlands® region by Christine Nolan, Dr Frances Mason,
Tammy Coles, Elizabeth Adamson and Zachary Gleisner from the Health and Wellbeing and Local Knowledge and
Intelligence Teams in the Office for Health Improvement and Disparities (OHID) Midlands. Contributions and advice
on updating and localisation came from other members of the Midlands Health and Wellbeing team, the Local
Knowledge and Intelligence Team, The UK Health Security Agency (UKHSA) sexual health team, the Healthcare
Public Health and Dental Public Health teams and a number of commissioning colleagues in NHS England and NHS
Improvement Midlands. Many thanks to all those who gave advice and guidance.

References Page 2
1. Heffernon C and others - Arch Disease Child (2020) ‘Priorities for the child public health response to the COVID-19 pandemic recovery in England’
2. Public Health England (2020) ‘No child left behind. A public health approach to vulnerability in childhood’

75


https://adc.bmj.com/content/early/2020/12/09/archdischild-2020-320214
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/913764/Public_health_approach_to_vulnerability_in_childhood.pdf

Introduction

Children and young people in the East Midlands - A snapshot

Indicator East Midlands

Infant mortality (2018 - 20)
Crude rate per 1,000

Smoking status at time of delivery (2020/21)
Crude rate per 1,000

Overweight including obese 10-11 year olds (2019/20)
Proportion (%)

School readiness at the end of Reception aged 5
years (2018/19)
Proportion (%)

MMR vaccination one dose 2 years (2020/21)
Proportion (%)

Children with one or more decayed, missing or filled

teeth (2016/17)
Proportion (%)

16-17 year olds not in education, employment or
training (NEET) (2020)
Crude rate per 1,000

Under 18 conception rate (2020)
Crude rate per 1,000

First time entrants to the youth justice system (2021)
Crude rate per 100,000

Hospital admissions as a result of self-harm (10-24

years) (2020/21)
Directly standardised rate per 100,000

Physically active children and young people (2020/21)
Proportion (%)

m
S
Q
Q
=
=3

References Page 3
1. OHID public health profiles

76


https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/

The wider impacts of COVID-19 on child

health

Why it matters

o Although CYP are generally less clinically vulnerable to COVID-19 than adults, the wider effects of COVID-19
have disproportionately and negatively affected them'

« CYP have experienced additional harm due to social isolation; lack of protective school placements; increased
anxiety and poor mental health; and a reduction/change to access to healthcare from the NHS, education and
social services during the pandemic. These additional harms were particularly experienced by the most
vulnerable children in our society?

« The risks to children’s health, wellbeing and futures are profound and, for some children, lifelong®**

MORE x Access to
LIKE LY services

x Presentation

x Mental health P

e with long term
x Obesity conditions and
; s special
SlgnlfICant x Parental educational
' conflict and needs
ImpaCtS anxiety -
x Immunisation
x Poverty uptake
x Safeguarding x Physical

activity
x Social isolation

x  Vulnerability LESS
and risk LIKELY

References Page 4
1. The Lancet Child and Adolescent Health (Nov 2020) ‘Growing up in the shadow of COVID-19’
2. . BMJ Paediatrics (2020) ‘Wider collateral damage to children in the UK because of social distancing measures designed to reduce the impact of COVID-19 in adults’
3. Scottish Government (June 2021) ‘COVID-19 children, young people and families evidence summary’
4. United Nations (April 2020) ‘The impact of COVID-19 on children’
5. UNICEF UK (2020) ‘Children in lockdown: What Coronavirus means for UK children’

77


https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lanchi/article/PIIS2352-4642(20)30349-7/fulltext
https://bmjpaedsopen.bmj.com/content/4/1/e000701
https://www.gov.scot/publications/report-covid-19-children-young-people-families-september-2020-evidence-summary/
https://unsdg.un.org/sites/default/files/2020-04/160420_Covid_Children_Policy_Brief.pdf
https://downloads.unicef.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/Unicef-UK-Children-In-Lockdown-Coronavirus-Impacts-Snapshot.pdf?_adal_sd=www.unicef.org.uk.1613133875899&_adal_ca=so%3Ddirect%26me%3Dnone%26ca%3Ddirect%26co%3D(not%2520set)%26ke%3D(not%2520set).1613133875899&_adal_cw=1612910122829.1613133875899&_adal_id=6fa9c273-e0cb-46f7-94db-52c8c6c8247a.1612910123.2.1613133867.1612910123.d25377d7-b95a-46c7-9263-38c6dbe740ae.1613133875899&_ga=2.110928192.412351782.1613133866-2070622419.1612910122

The wider impacts of COVID-19 on child
health

The indirect impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and
the measures to curb it have had a huge impact on
all aspects of children and young people’s lives

“After paying my bills | have been

left with about £50 a week to live “While most children will be

on and feed my children, some delighted to return to school, we
weeks | have gorie hungry so that should also remember there will be
they could eat some who may have preferred

learning from home”

“The services we rely on for

Sl were el “Lockdown has not helped with my

non-essential f”d closed down mental health, it's emotionally

for six months draining, like I'm always tired and
I've got a constant headache”

“I've got children on a Child
Protection Plan who are now at

home a’nd not Foming into school “Studying has been very difficult at
. That's what’s keeping me awake home as I can’t get concentrated.

at night” Feeling alone everyday”

| was focusing on filling out DWP

’ ‘ paperwork for my mum who lost

m her job due to coronavirus”

References Page 5
1. CPAG (Dec 2020) ‘Poverty in the pandemic update’
2. APPG for SEND (2021) ‘Forgotten. Left Behind. Overlooked’
3. EIF (2020) ‘COVID-19 and early intervention: Understanding the impact, preparing for recovery’
4. Children’s Commissioner (2021) ‘Welcoming the return to school of children after lockdown’
5. Children’s Commissioner (2021) ‘The state of children’s mental health services 2020/21’
6. Children’s Commissioner (2020) ‘Stress among children in England during the coronavirus |t?(81’
7. Children’s Commissioner (2020) ‘Childhood in the time of COVID-19’

“In lockdown instead of focusing on
remote learning for my yr12 exams



https://cpag.org.uk/sites/default/files/files/policypost/Poverty-in-the-pandemic_update.pdf
https://nasen-prod-asset.s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/APPG%20for%20SEND%20Report%20Spring%202021.pdf
https://www.eif.org.uk/report/covid-19-and-early-intervention-understanding-the-impact-preparing-for-recovery
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/2021/03/08/welcoming-the-return-of-children-to-school-after-lockdown/
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/cco-stress-among-children-in-england-during-the-coronavirus-lockdown.pdf
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/cco-stress-among-children-in-england-during-the-coronavirus-lockdown.pdf
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/cco-childhood-in-the-time-of-covid.pdf

Risk and protective factors for children and

young people’s wellbeing

Risk and protective factors

The measures used to prevent and control the spread of COVID-19 led to disruptions to families,

friendships, daily routines and the wider community dynamic, which put CYP’s wellbeing and
development at risk.! Figure 1 summarises the likely risk and protective factors for CYP’s wellbeing

during the pandemic.

Figure 1: Socio-ecological impact of COVID-19: protective and risk factors

Heightened Erosion of Limited access Family

stigma and social capital; for community separation;

discrimination disruption of support, health reduced access

against specific access to basic care, education, to social

groups services play spaces, support; mental
child welfare illness; poverty

Risk
factors

Socio-

cultural i Society
\
norms

Valuing lives Essential Food banks; Increased time

lived; inter- services health and with parents;

generational available; protection informal

respect and support from messaging; support

care civil society neighbourhood systems; new
organisations check-ins routines

Protective
factors

References Page 6

1. The alliance for child protection in humanitarian action (2020) ‘technical note: Protection of children during the coronavirus pandemic (v2)’

79


https://alliancecpha.org/sites/default/files/technical/attachments/the_alliance_covid_19_tn_version_2_05.27.20_final_2.pdf
https://alliancecpha.org/en/COVD19

Vulnerability in Children and Young People

Prior to the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic in the UK, CYP with vulnerabilities were experiencing poorer health
outcomes than those without. The wider impact of the pandemic is likely to have exacerbated these vulnerabilities
and increased the number of children experiencing vulnerabilities, either temporarily or in the longer term.

In 2020, Public Health England, NHS England and partners developed a framework’ for vulnerability to support ‘child
and young person-centred recovery’ from COVID-19 across 3 broad groups:

1. Clinically vulnerable: Children who are clinically vulnerable to COVID-19 due to underlying health conditions
or those children for who the pandemic has delayed or curtailed their access to health services.

2. Higher risk and have statutory entitlement for care and support: Children and families who are at
increased risk due to family and social circumstances where there is a statutory entitlement for care and
support (education, health and care plan and those with a social worker)

3. Higher risk due to wider determinants of health / other factors leading to poor outcomes: Children who
at a higher risk due to being negatively impacted through wider determinants of health and/or family and social
circumstances.

Importantly, these groups are not discrete and CYP may be in more than one group. Furthermore, CYP not
previously identified as vulnerable may have become so, as the economic and social impacts of the pandemic have
been felt in the family setting.

* Those that are were identified as extremely clinically vulnerable. Mew knowledge
means this number will significantly reduce (see advice RCPH)

Clinically vulnerable * Those that have been negatively impacted from delayed presentation

* Those that may have been impacied by delay for planned / elective treatment (i.e.
CHD sarnces) or reduced uptake of immunisation and early year support

* CYP with mental health needs will require specific support. Mental health needs may
increase with the duration of the response

CYP who are at increased risk due to fﬂll"l“]f and ﬂﬁl‘.'II"'f circumstances whera thera

: . |5 a statutory entitlement for care and support:

Higher risk and have Those with a social worker: CYP up to age of 25 with education, health and care plan: if
statutory entitiement they meet the definition in section 17 of the Children Act 1989; CYP with SEND needs;
for care and support CYP be identified by mental health services; CYP with leaming disabilities, autism, or
both Looked after Children and fostered and adopted children and children subject to
special guardianship orders or wider kinship placements

CYP who may be at higher risk due to family and social circumstances and may not

be known to services

« Wider determinants of health (poverty, worklessness, homelessness, poor housing elc)

* Families with parental conflict, whose parents have mental ill-health, are alcohol'drug
dependent, families within the Troubled Families Programme or families and young
people in contact / on the fringe of the criminal justice system

* CYP expenencing domestic abuse, violence and neglect

« Young caners

Higher risk due to
wider determinants
of health / other
factors leading to
poor outcomes

References Page 7
1. Public Health England (2020) ‘No child left behind. A public health approach to vulnerability in childhood’

80


https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/913764/Public_health_approach_to_vulnerability_in_childhood.pdf

The impact of COVID-19 on child poverty

Definition Child poverty in the East

« Poverty is defined in different ways and there is Midlands in 2020/21
no perfect definition. The proportion of children » 12.3% of children in the East Midlands aged less

living in poverty can look quite different ) . .
than 16 years lived in absolute poverty in the

depending on the measure used'
- three years to 2020/21, better than the England
« A commonly used definition for absolute poverty ) i
average. This ranged from 8.9% in

is people living in households with income below ) ) ] )

. . . o Leicestershire to 22% in Leicester. These are
60% of the (inflation-adjusted) median in some leulated before housi S5
base year, usually 2010/11 A calculated before housing costs

Why it matters 5 Chl|d ren

» A child born into poverty is more likely to have a
low birthweight, to die in infancy and to have
poor physical and mental health as a child?

« Poverty has lifelong impacts. Poverty is strongly . - -
associated with doing less well at school and I Ive I n
poverty

with a range of social and cognitive poorer
outcomes, partly due to families having less
money to spend on children, and partly because
of parental stress and anxiety.® Poverty is
associated with poor housing, poor employment
opportunities and shorter lives, with more years
spent in disability.*

Click on the infographics to be taken to the data source OHID Fingertips, 2019/20

Inequalities

« Children are the most likely of all age groups to

3501000 live in poverty®

» Poverty is unequally distributed; a higher
percentage of children from households where
the head of the household is from an ethnic
minority background are in the lowest quintile for
disposable household income. This is also the
case if someone in the household is disabled,
the child is in a single parent or large family (3 or
more children).”

« Poverty is also associated with household
circumstances that make children more
vulnerable, for example where parents have
mental health or substance misuse needs.?

skip a meal

References Page 8
1. UK Parliament (2022) ‘Poverty in the UK: Statistics’
2. Korkodilos M. BACAPH (2021) ‘The health and wellbeing of children and young people in England’
3. RCPCH (2018) ‘The impact of poverty on child health’
4. The Health Foundation (2021) ‘Relationship between poverty and healthy life expectancy by neighbourhood’
5. OHID public health profiles
6. Children’s Commissioner (2021) ‘Child Poverty: The crisis we can’t keep ignoring’ 8)1
7. DWP (2020) ‘Households below average income: for financial years ending 1995 t
8. Mental Health Foundation (2016) ‘Poverty and mental health’


https://foodfoundation.org.uk/initiatives/food-insecurity-tracking
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/child-health-profiles/data#page/4/gid/1938133224/pat/15/ati/6/are/E12000004/iid/93701/age/169/sex/4/cat/-1/ctp/-1/yrr/1/cid/4/tbm/1
https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/sn07096/
http://pich.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/12/The-health-and-wellbeing-of-CYP-in-England.pdf
https://www.rcpch.ac.uk/news-events/news/impact-poverty-child-health
https://www.health.org.uk/evidence-hub/money-and-resources/poverty/relationship-between-health-and-poverty
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/
http://www.endchildpoverty.org.uk/child-poverty-in-your-area-201415-201819/
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/households-below-average-income-for-financial-years-ending-1995-to-2020
https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/sites/default/files/Poverty%20and%20Mental%20Health.pdf

Child poverty and outcomes for children and young

people across the East Midlands going into the
pandemic

The charts below compare pre-pandemic outcomes for CYP in Leicestershire (which had the second
lowest proportion of child poverty in the East Midlands before housing costs in 2020/21 (8.9%)) to
Leicester (which had the highest proportion of child poverty (22%) in the East Midlands).
Rutland,which had the lowest proportion in the region, has limited data for the below indicators due to
small sample size.

Leicestershire

‘ Deaths
Infant Mortality per
100,000
Leicester births
School Readiness
including obesity, in
10 to 11 year olds 1.25x higher
(2019/20)
5 year olds with
experience of
visually obvious
(2018/19)
References Page 9

1. OHID public health profiles


https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/

The impact of COVID-19 on child poverty in

the East Midlands

The impact of COVID-19 Food poverty

« Emergency food parcels issued by The Trussell
Trust foodbanks (one of many providers and
therefore an underestimate of need) in the East
Midlands increased 1.4 times from 101,788 in
2019/20 to 138,767 in 2020/21. This decreased
to 126,877 in 2021/225

» Food parcels issued to children also increased
1.4 times, from 39,285 in 2019/20 to 54,074 in
2020/21, decreasing to 46,381 in 2021/225

* 11% of households with children in the UK have

Employment low/very low food security®

« The employment rate of young people declined

 Prior to the pandemic, 17.4% of children in
England were living in absolute low-income
families.”

» The impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic have
been harder for those in lower income brackets,
who have been more likely to be made
redundant, lose income, be infected with (and die
from) COVID-19 and less able to support
children with home schooling2

the most compared with other age groups in the Long-term ) )
early stages of the pandemic.3 » Lost learning will cause the greatest damage to
the qualifications and job prospects of pupils who
Lockdown measures are already disadvantaged*
« Lockdown measures disproportionately affected
low income families with young children*
e Qver a third of low income families with children
increased their spending during 2020, while 40% :
of high income families without children reduced near'Y 6 1p 1 O
theirs* v
families
Benefits .
« During the pandemic, the expanded social safety Strugg I | ng
net (increase of universal credit payments by £20 .
week) may have prevented a rise in poverty for baS|C
children in 2020/21. This was withdrawn in .
October 2021" essentials,

» During the pandemic, there has been an
increase in households claiming universal credit.
In the East Midlands, the number of households
claiming Universal Credit increased by 11.1% to
268,491 between March 2020 and November
2020 with 46.1% of these households with
children®

« In the Midlands as a whole (East and West), the
number of households claiming Universal Credit
increased by 80% to 819,485 between March
2020 and May 2021 - nearly half of which had
children®

References Page 10
1. DWP (2020) ‘Households below average income: for financial years ending 1995 to 2020’
2. Child Poverty Action Group (2020) ‘Poverty in the pandemic’
3. Whitehead M. BMJ (2021) ‘Poverty, health and COVID-19’
4. DWP (2022) ‘Households on universal credit dashboard’
5. The Trussell Trust. End of year statistics
6. DWP (2021) ‘Family Resources Survey: financial year 2019 to 2020’ 8 3


https://cpag.org.uk/sites/default/files/files/policypost/Poverty-in-the-pandemic.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/households-below-average-income-for-financial-years-ending-1995-to-2020
https://cpag.org.uk/sites/default/files/files/policypost/Poverty-in-the-pandemic.pdf
https://www.bmj.com/content/372/bmj.n376
https://stat-xplore.dwp.gov.uk/webapi/metadata/dashboards/uch/index.html
https://www.trusselltrust.org/news-and-blog/latest-stats/end-year-stats/
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/family-resources-survey-financial-year-2019-to-2020/family-resources-survey-financial-year-2019-to-2020

The impact of COVID-19 on pregnancy, birth

and early life

Why it matters Risk factors for COVID-19 admission

Pregnant women who were more likely to be admitted

Antenatal health determines not only the health of the ) i
to hospital for COVID-19 included those:

newborn, but also impacts adult health and disease
risk’ + Aged 35 years or older

The impact of COVID-19 + Who had a BMI f)f.30 or more N .
« Who had pre-existing co-morbidity, such as high

» Pregnant women are at a higher risk of . 4

blood pressure and diabetes
becoming seriously ill as a result of COVID-19
infection? Inequalities

 Alterations to the immune system during
pregnancy mean that pregnant women may be
more vulnerable to severe infection and at
increased risk of requiring admission to an
intensive care unit or needing invasive
ventilation®*

« A national surveillance study in 2020* found that
of pregnant women admitted to hospital in the
UK with COVID-19:

o Most women were in the late second or
third trimester

o One in 10 women needed respiratory
support in a critical care setting and one in
100 died

» Pregnant women with COVID-19 are at
increased risk of delivering preterm and their
babies being admitted to the neonatal unit. But
overall rates of spontaneous preterm births are
not high. Stillbirth and neonatal death rates are
low in women with suspected or confirmed
covipD-19*

+ The MBRRACE-UK rapid report® highlighted two
instances where women died by suicide, where
referrals to perinatal mental health teams were
refused or delayed because of restrictions
related to COVID-19

« Pregnant women from ethnic minority
backgrounds or living in areas or households of
increased socio-economic deprivation were more
likely than other women to be admitted to
hospital for COVID-194

« The MBRRACE-UK rapid report® highlighted that
of the eight women who died from COVID-19
seven (88%) were from ethnic minority
backgrounds

Black pregnant
women
8 times more

Asian
women
4 times

MBRRACE-UK (2020)

References Page 11
1. EBCOG Scientific Committee (2015) The public health importance of antenatal care
2. NHS (2021) ‘Pregnancy and coronavirus’
3. RCOG guidelines (2020) ‘COVID-19 infection in pregnancy’
4. BMJ (2020) ‘Characteristics and outcomes of pregnant women admitted to hospital with confirmed SARS-CoV-2 infection in the UK: national based cohort study’
5. MBRRACE (2020) ‘Rapid report: Learning from SARS-CoV-2-related and associated maternal deaths in the UK’

84


https://www.npeu.ox.ac.uk/assets/downloads/mbrrace-uk/reports/MBRRACE-UK_Maternal_Report_2020_v10_FINAL.pdf
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4402443/
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/coronavirus-covid-19/people-at-higher-risk/pregnancy-and-coronavirus/
https://www.rcog.org.uk/globalassets/documents/guidelines/2020-07-24-coronavirus-covid-19-infection-in-pregnancy.pdf
https://www.bmj.com/content/369/bmj.m2107
https://www.npeu.ox.ac.uk/assets/downloads/mbrrace-uk/reports/MBRRACE-UK_Maternal_Report_2020_v10_FINAL.pdf

The impact of COVID-19 on infant and child

deaths

Why it matters

« Infant, child and adolescent death rates in the
UK have declined and continue to fall. However,
the UK has one of the worst child mortality rates
in Western Europe1

o Too many CYP are still dying unnecessarily. In
2019, of all deaths among CYP aged 0 to 19
years in the UK, 33.7% were considered
avoidable (1,590 deaths out of 4,717) with an
age-standardised mortality rate of 10.5 deaths
per 100,000. Overall, avoidable deaths in CYP
made up 1% of the total number of avoidable
deaths in the UK?

The impact of COVID-19 on
infant and child deaths

Direct impact
» Most childhood cases of COVID-19 are mild and
self-limiting with few recorded child deaths?®

20%

increase in babies
killed

harmed

fi

» Between March 2020 and February 2021:

o There were 25 deaths in children and
young people due to SARS-CoV-2
infection (mortality rate, two per million),
16 of which had 2 or more comorbidities®

o The case-fatality rate in children with
COVID-19 was <0.1%3

o There was no evidence of excess child
mortality*

Wider impact
« The COVID-19 pandemic may have increased
infant and child mortality indirectly as a
consequence of strained health systems,
household income loss and disruptions to care-
seeking and preventative interventions like
vaccination®

Health seeking behaviours
« A British Paediatric Surveillance Unit (BPSU)
snapshot survey in April 2020 found that delay in
taking children to the emergency department
during lockdown may have contributed to the
deaths of nine children®

Serious incidents and harm

« Serious incident notifications involve death or
serious harm to a child where abuse or neglect is
known or suspected, and also deaths of children
in care and children in regulated settings.
Between April and September 2020 Ofsted
received 285 serious incident notifications across
England, a 27% increase on the same period in
2019/20. Of these notifications, 119 related to
child deaths, an increase from 89 in the same
period of 2019/207

» Nationally, there was a 20% rise in babies being
killed or harmed during the first lockdown. Sixty-
four babies were deliberately harmed in England
- eight of whom died®

References
1. Nuffield Trust (2022) ‘Stillbirths and neonatal and infant mortality’
2. ONS (2019) ‘Avoidable mortality in the UK’

Page 12

3. C Smith et al (2021) ‘Deaths in children and young people in England after SARS-CoV-2 infection during the first pandemic year’
4. Ladhani S and others. Arch Dis Child (2020) ‘COVID-19 in children: analysis of the first pandemic peak in England’

5. UNICEF (2021) ‘Child mortality and COVID-19’

6. BPSU (2020) “snap-shot’ survey - delayed presentations to hospitals’ 85

7. Ofsted (January 2021) ‘Serious incident notifications’
8. Ofsted (2020) ‘Amanda Spielman at NCASC 2020’


https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/serious-incident-notifications
https://www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk/resource/infant-and-neonatal-mortality
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/causesofdeath/bulletins/avoidablemortalityinenglandandwales/2019#avoidable-mortality-in-children-and-young-people
https://www.nature.com/articles/s41591-021-01578-1
https://adc.bmj.com/content/105/12/1180
https://data.unicef.org/topic/child-survival/covid-19/
https://www.rcpch.ac.uk/work-we-do/bpsu/snap-shot-survey-delayed-presentations
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/serious-incident-notifications
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/amanda-spielman-at-ncasc-2020

The impact of COVID-19 on infant and child

deaths

Deaths by suicide

« A review of child suicides in England during the

COVID-19 pandemic raised a concerning signal
that child suicide deaths may have increased
during the first 56 days of lockdown in March to
May 2020, but that the risk remained low and the
numbers were too small to reach definitive
conclusions™2

. Poor communication and information

sharing

. Domestic abuse
. Poor home environment
. Consanguinity (parents are known blood

relatives to each other)

. Mental health condition in a parent or

carer

« Factors related to COVID-19 or lockdown were
thought to have contributed to 12 (48%) of the 25
post-lockdown deaths. Amongst the likely suicide
deaths reported after lockdown, restriction to
education and other activities, disruption to care
and support services, tensions at home and
isolation appeared to be contributing factors’

delays
seeking healthcare
more

Road traffic fatalities

« One positive effect of the measures implemented
to control the spread of COVID-19 was the
reduction of traffic on both urban and interurban
roads; this resulted in a marked fall in the
number of traffic-related injuries and fatalities
during lockdowns?

e In 2020 (including a total of 4 months of national
lockdowns - April to June and November), there
were an estimated 1,460 people killed in
reported road accidents. This is a decrease of
22% compared to the equivalent period of 2019.
This decrease is statistically significant at the
95% confidence level. In contrast, child fatalities
(aged 0-16) increased in 2020 compared to 2019
(52 vs. 49 child fatalities, respectively)*

child deaths

Risk factors

« Social deprivation has a detrimental effect across
all causes of child death®”’

« The most common modifiable factors recorded
by CDOPs for all child death reviews in order of
frequency were®:

1. Smoking by a parent or carer

2. Quality of service delivery

3. Unsafe sleeping arrangements

4. Substance and/or alcohol misuse by a
parent or carer

5. Maternal obesity during pregnancy

6. Challenges with access to services

References
1. National Child Mortality Database (2020) ‘Child suicide rates during the COVID-19 pandemic in England: Real-time surveillance’
2. Public Health England (2020) ‘COVID-19 mental health and wellbeing surveillance report’
3. ETSC (2020) ‘The impact of COVID-19 lockdowns on road deaths in April 2020’
4. Department for Transport (2021) ‘Reported road casualties in Great Britain, annual report: 2020
5. BMJ (2020) ‘Clinical characteristics of children and young people admitted to hospital with COVID-19 in United Kingdom’
6. National Child Mortality Database (2020) ‘Report on deprivation announced’ 8 6
7. PHE (2016) ‘Reducing child mortality in London’
8. National Child Mortality Database (2021) ‘Second Annual Report’

Page 13


https://www.ncmd.info/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/REF253-2020-NCMD-Summary-Report-on-Child-Suicide-July-2020.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-mental-health-and-wellbeing-surveillance-report/7-children-and-young-people
https://etsc.eu/wp-content/uploads/PIN-Corona-Briefing_final.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/reported-road-casualties-great-britain-annual-report-2020/reported-road-casualties-great-britain-annual-report-2020
https://www.bmj.com/content/370/bmj.m3249
https://www.ncmd.info/news/deprivation1/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/551123/Reducing_child_deaths_in_London.pdf
https://www.ncmd.info/publications/2nd-annual-report/

The impact of COVID-19 on the early years

Why it matters

« Experience and development in the early years
are crucial to CYP’s long-term outcomes in later
life including in educational attainment, physical,
mental and emotional wellbeing

« Access to high quality early education and
childcare plays a vital role in improving the life
chances of CYP and consequently in reducing
health inequalities.? There is good evidence of
children’s learning and development in the early
years having been affected by the pandemic.3

The impact of COVID-19 on the
early years

Early years settings

e In 2019, around 78% of children aged two to four
years old in England accessed formal education
or childcare.* Comparatively, only 7% of parents
of two to four years old reported to have
continued attending these settings. Lower
attendance at early years settings continued
throughout 2020 and 2021. In January 2022,
attendance at setting was at around 84% of the
expected level®

« The pandemic may have harmed the financial
viability of some early years settings, and thus
availability of early education for some children.
In 2020, a third of early years settings were
worried that financial problems might mean they
would have to close. Between August 2020 and
March 2021, the number of registered
childminders in England reduced by 1800 (a 5%
reduction), continuing an existing downward
trend.®

Improve

« The reduced attendance at early years settings
is likely to have had implications for the
wellbeing, learning and development of children
including:

o Exacerbating existing inequalities

o Widening of the attainment gap

o Increased risk of mental disorders and of
safeguarding issues®

Health visiting services

» Health visiting services provide vital support to all
families with babies and small children as part of
the Healthy Child Programme’ to ensure that
they get the best start in life. COVID-19 placed
significant pressure on health visiting services®

« At some points in the pandemic, health visiting
teams were reduced by up to 50-70% in some
areas in England due to widespread staff
redeployment.® Across both the East and West
Midlands, several local health authorities
reported they redeployed 20% to 30% of their
health visiting workforce. The remaining staff
experienced higher caseloads and a significant
proportion of child safeguarding work®

Health inequalities

 During the pandemic, children from
disadvantaged backgrounds had less access to
resources, learning and play space at home and
some struggled to settle back into their early
years settings as a result. Some early years
providers reported deterioration in behaviour for
disadvantaged children®

» Surveys carried out by the Sutton Trust reported
negative impacts on the child’s physical, social
and emotional development'?

References
1. Dyson A. and others (2010) ‘Childhood development, education and health
inequalities. Task group report to the strategic review of health inequalities in England
post 2010 (Marmot Review)’
2. Stewart K. and Walfogel J. (2017) ‘Closing gaps early: The role of early years policy
in promoting social mobility in England’

3. Ofsted. (July 2022) ‘Education recovery in early years providers. Summer 2022 N8 7

4. Department for Education (2019) ‘Official Statistics: Childcare and early years su
of parents: 2019’

Page 14

5. Explore education statistics - GOV.UK (2022) ‘Attendance in education and early

years settings during the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic, Week 6 2022’
6. Ofsted (2021) ‘Childcare Providers and Inspections as at 31 March 2021’
7. GOV.UK (2009) ‘Healthy Child Programme’
8. Conti, G. and Dow, A. (2020) ‘The impacts of COVID-19 on health visiting in England:

First results’
9. Ofsted (2020) ‘COVID-19 series: Briefing on early years, November 2020’

10. The Sutton Trust (July 2020) ‘Covid 19 and Social Mobility. Impact Brief 4 Early Years’


https://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/early-years-and-education-task-group-report-/task-group-1-early-years-and-education-full.pdf
https://www.lse.ac.uk/business/consulting/assets/documents/closing-gaps-early.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/education-recovery-in-early-years-providers-summer-2022
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/childcare-and-early-years-survey-of-parents-2019
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/attendance-in-education-and-early-years-settings-during-the-coronavirus-covid-19-outbreak
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/childcare-providers-and-inspections-as-at-31-march-2021/main-findings-childcare-providers-and-inspections-as-at-31-march-2021#providers-registers-places
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-child-programme-pregnancy-and-the-first-5-years-of-life
https://discovery.ucl.ac.uk/id/eprint/10106430/8/Conti_Dow_The%20impacts%20of%20COVID-19%20on%20Health%20Visiting%20in%20England%20250920.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/943492/COVID-19_series_briefing_on_early_years_November_2020.pdf
https://www.suttontrust.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Early-Years-Impact-Brief.pdf

The impact of COVID-19 on the early years

Mental health and wellbeing

« Parents/caregivers of younger children reported
experiencing more anxiety, stress and
depression as a result of COVID-19 and
lockdown'

» This was particularly the case for those who
were facing financial difficulties. Findings from
the ‘Babies in Lockdown’ survey showed a
negative correlation between income and
anxiety, with 55% of respondents earning the
least reporting feeling ‘a lot’ more anxious
compared to 32% of those earning the most. A
similar trend was also seen across parents of
different ages, with younger parents reporting
feeling more anxious?

« Providing responsive and nurturing care which is
crucial to healthy brain and emotional
development during the early years period is
likely to have been more challenging and
problematic without the usual support available3

placed

. significant

Increased vulnerability

« Anincrease in financial hardship is a potential
stressor that could lead to tensions, mental and
emotional health issues; these conditions are
linked to an increased risk of physical, emotional,
and domestic abuse and neglect*
Reduced capacity in health visiting services and
limited face-to-face contacts (following COVID-
19 restrictions) coupled with limited access to
early years settings may have resulted in
emerging needs and vulnerabilities of families
and children being missed during the pandemic®

References Page 15
1. Co-SPACE Study (2021) ‘Changes in parents/carers’ ability to balance childcare and work between March 2020 to February 2021’
2. Best Beginnings, Home-Start UK and the Parent-Infant Foundation (2020) 'Babies in lockdown: Listening to parents to build back bette’r
3. NCB (2020) ‘A vision for recovery: Early years recovery briefing’
4. NSPCC evidence team (2020) ‘Isolated and struggling’
5. NCB (2020) ‘Early years recovery briefing’

88


https://cospaceoxford.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/Report_09_15march2021.pdf
https://babiesinlockdown.files.wordpress.com/2020/08/babies-in-lockdown-main-report-final-version-1.pdf
https://www.ncb.org.uk/sites/default/files/uploads/attachments/early-years-recovery-briefing.pdf
https://learning.nspcc.org.uk/media/2246/isolated-and-struggling-social-isolation-risk-child-maltreatment-lockdown-and-beyond.pdf
https://www.ncb.org.uk/sites/default/files/uploads/attachments/early-years-recovery-briefing.pdf

The impact of COVID-19 on children and

young people in educational settings

Why it matters

« School attendance is very important for CYP and

is critical to reduce inequality, improve life
chances and enhance physical and mental
health’

School closures

 In order to reduce the spread of COVID-19,
educational institutions were closed at different
times during the pandemic. Face to face
provision was provided for children of key
workers and vulnerable children. Remote
schooling was provided for all other children’

Timeline

20/03/20

01/06/20

15/06/20

02/09/20

05/01/21

08/03/21

All school and childcare facilities
are closed to most children

Partial opening of primary schools
for children in nursery, reception,
Year 1 and 6

Partial opening of secondary
schools for children in Year 10
and 12 GSCE

Full reopening of school and
childcare facilities

Closure of primary and secondary
schools to most children. Early
years settings open as normal

Schools, colleges and further
education settings open to all
students

The impact of COVID-19 on CYP
in educational settings

There are significant educational, developmental and
mental health impacts caused by school closures,
particularly for younger and more vulnerable CYP,'
including:

Educational achievement

» Time out of school has a detrimental effect on
children’s cognitive and academic development
and their long-term productivity?

o Emergent learning problems may be missed,
potentially missing opportunities for early
intervention?

» Progress made to narrow the attainment gap in
the last decade could reverse. The median
estimate indicates that the gap could widen by
36%3

Wellbeing

« School closures cause deterioration in children’s
mental health:

o Evidence suggests that the mental health
of adolescents is particularly affected?

o Social isolation and lack of contact with
peers is likely to be particularly harmful for
adolescents?

» Levels of physical activity are likely to be lower
as a result of remote schooling?

« For children with special educational needs
(SEN), school also provides an environment in
which other interventions can be offered. These
include interventions such as speech and
language therapy or occupational therapy

References

Page 16

1. Department for Education (2020) ‘Remote Education Temporary Continuity (No.2) Direction: explanatory note’

2. SPI-M and DfE (2020) ‘Benefits of remaining in education: Evidence and considerations’

3. EEF (2020) ‘Impact of school closures on the attainment gap’

89


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/remote-education-temporary-continuity-direction-explanatory-note
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/935192/spi-b-dfe-benefits-remaining-education-s0861-041120.pdf
https://educationendowmentfoundation.org.uk/public/files/EEF_(2020)_-_Impact_of_School_Closures_on_the_Attainment_Gap.pdf

The impact of COVID-19 on children and

young people in educational settings

The impact of COVID-19

Inequalities
« The unequal provision of remote schooling for
children has exacerbated existing inequalities for
students across socio-economic groups1

Safeguarding and vulnerable children
» Vulnerable children are likely to be most affected

by school closures’

Under normal circumstances, schools are vital

for detecting early signs of abuse and neglect.

During the first lockdown there was a reduction

« Compared with children from more affluent in child protection referrals and an increase in
backgrounds, children from disadvantaged reports of domestic violence and abuse to
backgrounds were disproportionately affected by children’
school closures in the following ways: » School closures may have increased children’s

o Greater loss of learning time use of the internet which is associated with some

o Less access to online learning and negative consequences such as: increased
educational resources susceptibility to digital dependency; online

o Less access to private tutoring and abuse; bullying; exposure to violent content and
additional educational resources pornography’

o Inequalities in the exam grading systems
by the use of teacher assessed grades2
+ Children with special educational needs and their b |gg est
families were particularly disadvantaged through

school closures? Ch an g e

Families
» Schools offer an important physical space for
children to have time away from home. The
financial insecurity of some families during
lockdown, combined with family members all at N Ot atte N d | N g
home in close proximity has made life more
challenging for some children’

References Page 17
1. SPI-M and DfE (2020) ‘Benefits of remaining in education: Evidence and considerations’
2. Institute of Health Equity (2020) ‘Build back fairer: The COVID-19 Marmot Review’
3. Centre for Economic Performance (2020) ‘COVID-19 school shutdowns: What will they do to our children’s education?’

90


https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/935192/spi-b-dfe-benefits-remaining-education-s0861-041120.pdf
https://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/build-back-fairer-the-covid-19-marmot-review
https://cep.lse.ac.uk/pubs/download/cepcovid-19-001.pdf

The impact of COVID-19 on safeguarding

Why it matters The impact of COVID-19 on

safeguarding

« Safeguarding is the action that is taken to

promote the welfare of CYP to protect them from
harm’

Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018
states a requirement of all agencies to work
together to promote the welfare of CYP'. Local
safeguarding partnerships (including local
authorities, health and police) provide a local
framework that makes arrangements to work
together to safeguard and promote the welfare of
local children including identifying and
responding to their needs and working together
to share information.

« Safeguarding in CYP means:

o Protecting children from abuse and
maltreatment

The impact of COVID-19 on vulnerable children and
families is significant:

The pandemic put specific pressures on the
social care sector and exacerbated existing
pressures?

The number of children referred to children’s
social care services for support fell by almost a
fifth between April and June 20203

Referrals to children’s social care from 1 April to
30 June 2020 increased by 31% in a UK tertiary
centre compared with data from the same period
in 2018 and 20194

Referrals for child protection medical
examinations reduced by 39.7% from 2018 to

2020 and 37.3% from 2019 to 2020 at
Birmingham Community Healthcare NHS Trust®
Fewer referrals were initiated by school staff in
2020, 12 (26%) compared with 36 (47%) and 38
(52%) in 2018 and 2019°

o Preventing harm to children’s health or
development

o Ensuring children grow up with the .
provision of safe and effective care

o Taking action to enable all CYP to have

the best outcomes’ « During the first half of 2020-21:

3in 10
vulnerable children

o There were 285 serious incident
notifications, an increase of 27% on the
same period in 2019-20
o 35.8% of serious incidents related to
children under the age of one®
« There were 119 serious incident notifications
relating to child deaths in 2020-21, an increase
from 89 in the same period of 2019/20°
« Between 23 March and 23" April 2020 ten
babies were reviewed with non-accidental head
injuries at Great Ormond Street, 15 times higher
than the average for the same period over the
previous three years (0.67 cases per month)’

England. (2020/21)

References
1. Her Majesty’s Government (2018) ‘Working together to safeguard children’
2. Ofsted (2022) ‘Children’s social care 2022: recovering from the Covid 19 pandemic’
3. Children’s Commissioner (2021) ‘Building back better’
4. Archives of Diseases of Childhood (2020) ‘Safeguarding in the COVID-19 pandemic: a UK tertiary children’s hospital experience’
5. BMJ Open (2020) ‘Effect of COVID019 lockdown on child protection medical assessments: a retrospective observational study in Birmingham, UK’
6. Explore education statistics - GOV.UK (2021) ‘Serious incident notifications, Part 1 9 to September) 2020-21’
7. British Orthopaedic Association (2020) ‘Non-accidental injury in children in the tim t OVID-19 pandemic’

Page 18


https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/cco-building-back-better.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/942455/Working_together_to_safeguard_children_Statutory_framework_legislation_relevant_to_safeguarding_and_promoting_the_welfare_of_children.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-social-care-2022-recovering-from-the-covid-19-pandemic/childrens-social-care-2022-recovering-from-the-covid-19-pandemic
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/cco-building-back-better.pdf
https://adc.bmj.com/content/106/4/e24
https://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/10/9/e042867
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/serious-incident-notifications
https://www.boa.ac.uk/resources/non-accidental-injury-in-children-in-the-time-of-covid-19-pandemic.html

The impact of COVID-19 on safeguarding

The impact of COVID-19 on vulnerable children and families is significant’

Increase in stressors to Increase in children’s
parents and caregivers vulnerabilities

« Stressors include financial
insecurity, alterations to
routine, juggling multiple
responsibilities including
work, full-time childcare
and care for family
members who may be
shielding or ill

= The exacerbation of
existing stressors and
introduction of additional
ones could increase the
risk of physical, emotional,
and domestic abuse,

For children and young
people who are already
experiencing abuse or
neglect by household
members, confinement at
home has meant prolonged
exposure to potential harm
and also have reduced
access to trusted adults

Increase access to social
media and online resources
increases the risk of
grooming or other online
harms

Reduction in normal

protective services

Lockdown has meant that
families are having fewer
interactions with the
services and social
institutions designed to
help them and are
receiving only a fraction of
the support and scrutiny
that would normally work
together to protect their
children from maltreatment

neglect

Inequalities

» Risk factors that increased CYP and their families’ vulnerability to abuse and neglect during the
pandemic included?-3:

o Poverty

o Living in temporary accommodation or having a lack of space, for example the sharing of one
room (multiple occupancy)

o Being isolated due to poor support networks during lockdown

o Lack of contact with professional support systems such as schools, health visitors and social
care

o Digital exclusion (lack of access to a computers, tablet or mobile phone) to connect with friends,
family or professional networks

o Ethnic minority backgrounds

o Refugees and asylum seekers

o Being homeless

o Families with a disability or long term condition

References Page 19
1. NSPCC Learning (2020) ‘Social isolation and the risk of child maltreatment in lockdown and beyond’
2. Public Health England (2017) ‘Health profile for England. Chapter 5 inequality in health’
3. Public Health England (2020) ‘No child left behind. A public health approach to vulnerability in childhood’

92


https://learning.nspcc.org.uk/media/2246/isolated-and-struggling-social-isolation-risk-child-maltreatment-lockdown-and-beyond.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-profile-for-england/chapter-5-inequality-in-health
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/913764/Public_health_approach_to_vulnerability_in_childhood.pdf

The impact of COVID-19 on children with

special educational needs and disabilities

Why it matters

« The challenges already faced by CYP with
special educational needs and disabilities
(SEND) and the parents and carers who support
them have been exacerbated by the COVID-19
pandemic’

» A small group of CYP with SEND, specifically
those with complex respiratory and neurological
disorders, are clinically extremely vulnerable and
at greater risk of morbidity and mortality if they
contract the virus?

The impact of COVID-19 on CYP
with SEND

Children with SEND may have been
disproportionately impacted by the pandemic.
The impacts for some CYP at some points in the
pandemic may have included:

Reduced access to healthcare
« Reduced access to services and disruption of
healthcare such as cancellation of routine
rehabilitation appointments34
« Delays for new equipment such as leg gaiters to
enable physical therapy at home*

Reduced access to support

« Social care being unable to respond effectively,
such as closure of day centres and an increased
reliance on family and informal carers®

» Funding stopped for normal support services
without any alternatives®

« Support stopped or reduced?®

« Absence of trusted key worker staff*

Education

¢ |n October 2021, CYP with education, health and
care plans (EHCPs) continued to have lower
levels of attendance in primary and secondary
schools compared to their peers, especially for
pupils with SEND who attend special schools®

o Education learning materials for CYP who were
learning from home were inaccessible or
inappropriate®

» Some of the specialist resources and support
that are available for CYP with SEND at school
could not be replicated at home*

« Social aspects of education were affected by the
learning at home during lockdown*

« Delays to the ECHP process may have had a
detrimental effect on CYP’s education®

Inequalities

« CYP with SEND are more likely to live in
disadvantaged households, so are less likely to
have internet access and the ability to use digital
materials®

References
1. Kuper H and others. Wellcome Open Research (2020) ‘Disability inclusive COVID-19 response’

2. The Green Book (2021) ‘Greenbook chapter 14a COVID-19’
3. LSE (2021) ‘Disabled people and the impact of COVID-19’
4. APPG for SEND (2021) ‘Forgotten. Left Behind. Overlooked’

Page 20

5. Ofsted (2021) ‘Attendence in education and early years settings during the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic. Week 44 2021
6. Children and Young People’s Commissioner Scotland (2021) ‘The pandemic’s imp%hildren and young people with disabilities and ASNs’


https://wellcomeopenresearch.org/articles/5-79
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1043861/Greenbook-chapter-14a-24Dec21.pdf
https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/politicsandpolicy/disabled-people-impact-of-covid19/
https://nasen-prod-asset.s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/APPG%20for%20SEND%20Report%20Spring%202021.pdf
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/attendance-in-education-and-early-years-settings-during-the-coronavirus-covid-19-outbreak
https://www.cypcs.org.uk/coronavirus/independent-impact-assessment/pandemic-impact-children-young-people-disability-asn/

The impact of COVID-19 on children with

special educational needs and disabilities

Difficulties with systems of control
« Difficulties practicing social distancing 2
« Communication problems associated with the use of face coverings experienced by CYP who are deaf or hard
of hearing'

Mental wellbeing

« The mental health of CYP and their families has been impacted'
« Impact of the sudden changes to routines on CYP with autism’

Transition to adult services
« The inability to visit new settings due to their closures impacted heavily on young people’s transition’

Inequalities

» Families with disabled children are more likely be on lower incomes due the difficulty of combining working
and caring®

3x higher

References Page 21
1. APPG for SEND (2021) ‘Forgotten. Left Behind. Overlooked’
2. LSE (2021) ‘Disabled people and the impact of COVID-19’
3. SCOPE (2019) ‘The disability price tag’

94


https://www.scope.org.uk/campaigns/extra-costs/disability-price-tag/
https://nasen-prod-asset.s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/APPG%20for%20SEND%20Report%20Spring%202021.pdf
https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/politicsandpolicy/disabled-people-impact-of-covid19/
https://www.scope.org.uk/campaigns/extra-costs/disability-price-tag/

The impact of COVID-19 on oral health

Why it matters The impact of COVID-19 on CYP
« Good oral health is essential to children’s oral health
physical, social, educational and psychological

« From 25" March - 20" June 2020 all non-urgent
dental care was paused. As a result, CYP could
not access routine dental care, but could access
urgent dental care

» The pandemic has exacerbated existing oral
health inequalities®

wellbeing

» The impacts of poor oral health disproportionally
affect the most socially disadvantaged children
highlighting oral health inequalities’

« In 2019, in the East Midlands, 24.7% of five year
olds had tooth decay and there is variation
between local authorities, ranging from 38.6% in Reduced access to routine and preventative
Leicester to 17.1% in Derbyshire2 dental care

« The prevalence of tooth decay varies by ethnic
group, with experience of decay being highest
amongst five year olds from ‘other ethnic groups
(44.3%) and the Asian/Asian British ethnic group
(36.9%)?

» Tooth extraction is the most common reason for
hospital admission for children aged six to 10

years.’

e Children have had long periods with limited
access to routine dental care and preventative
advice due to COVID-19,increasing the risk of
dental disease*

e The COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in fewer
children in the East and West Midlands being
seen by dental professionals. The percentage of
child population seen across the Midlands in the
year to 31 March 2020 was 58.6%. In the year to
31 March 2021, this had dropped to 22.2%. Data
suggests that the largest drop in access seems
to have been within the 0-4 age group which in
the year to March 2021 was well below 50% of
the year to March 2020 figure. From a low point

d e I ayS in 31 March 2021 the percentage of child
. population seen in the Midlands in the previous
In dental

12 months to December 2021 has recovered to

42.7% of the child population®
¢ Due to school closures, there was limited access
to prevention including supervised tooth brushing
and fluoride varnish programmes
e For children who cannot manage treatment in the
dental chair, treatment under GA is the main way
their oral health is restored
o Untreated tooth decay can result in
sleepless nights, difficulty concentrating on
schoolwork and increased stress for
parents’
+ Reduced face-to-face contact also made
identifying any safeguarding concerns more
difficult.

References Page 22

1. Public Health England (2022) ‘Child oral health: applying All Our Health’

2. Public Health England (2020) ‘National Dental Epidemiology Programme for England: oral health survey of 5-year-olds 2019’

3. General Dental Council (2020) ‘The impacts of COVID-19 on oral health and dentistry’

4. NHS England (2022) ‘Letters, updates and additional guidance for dental teams’

5. <a href="https://app.powerbi.com/view?
r=eerIjoiYTRIMzJiYTEtMTgwMiOOZTdiLngMWUtZGM5Y2NmMTI5MGE4IiwidCI%wNszLWJiZmUtNDAxYSO4ODAzLTY3Mzc00GU2MjIIMiIsImMinh9>NHS Digital (2021)
‘NHS Dental Statistics for England Dashboard’


https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-oral-health-applying-all-our-health/child-oral-health-applying-all-our-health
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/oral-health-survey-of-5-year-old-children-2019
https://www.gdc-uk.org/information-standards-guidance/covid-19/the-impacts-of-covid-19
https://www.england.nhs.uk/coronavirus/publication/preparedness-letters-for-dental-care/
https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiYTRlMzJiYTEtMTgwMi00ZTdiLTgzMWUtZGM5Y2NmMTI5MGE4IiwidCI6IjUwZjYwNzFmLWJiZmUtNDAxYS04ODAzLTY3Mzc0OGU2MjllMiIsImMiOjh9

The impact of COVID-19 on oral health

« Health visitors and school nurses play a valuable
role in giving oral health advice, especially to 1 ? 4
vulnerable families. These duties and community I n
outreach activities were limited at some points
during the pandemic?

Wider impact
« ltis very likely that disruption of dental care
provision has disproportionately impacted more
disadvantaged children and existing health
inequalities will have been widened'
» De-prioritising dental treatment under GA has

increased pressure on dental services® tOOth d ecay

Eating behaviours
« Children increased snacking of sugary food

occurred in lockdown,* increasing their risk of .

tooth decay

PHE Oral Health Survey of 5-year-olds (2019)

References Page 23

1. BMJ (2020) ‘COVID-19 and the impact on child dental services in the UK’

2. NHS England (2022) ‘Letters, updates and additional guidance for dental teams’

3. BMJ (2020) ‘COVID-19 and community dental services: The challenges ahead’

4. Sustain (2021) ‘COVID-19 and children’s food: Parens’ priorities for building back better’

96


https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/oral-health-survey-of-5-year-old-children-2019
https://bmjpaedsopen.bmj.com/content/5/1/e000853
https://www.england.nhs.uk/coronavirus/publication/preparedness-letters-for-dental-care/
https://www.nature.com/articles/s41404-020-0426-4
https://www.sustainweb.org/publications/covid19_childrens_food/

The impact of COVID-19 on children and

young people’s nutrition

Why it matters . Possit?le re.asons for changes in eating
behaviour included:
« Eating well is essential for physical and mental o Change of routine
wellbeing, growth and the development of o Lack of available food
children’ o Using food as a coping strategy
» Poor diet is now the biggest risk factor for o Increase cost of food
preventable ill health including obesity, diabetes, o Families buying cheaper, often less
coronary heart disease and tooth decay? healthy food®

« Healthy food behaviours in childhood and
teenage years can set patterns for later life?

« The National Child measurement Programme
(NCMP) annual report published on 16
November 20213 shows the largest increases in
childhood obesity prevalence across the country
since the programme’s inception in 2006/07.
Obesity rates in both Reception-aged and Year 6
school children increased by around 4.5
percentage points between 2019-20 and 2020-
21, this is the highest annual rise since the
NCMP began in 2006/07, the previous highest
rise was less than 1 percentage point.

The impact of COVID-19 on
CYP’s nutrition

« The COVID-19 pandemic left more people than
before struggling to afford or access nutritious
food. This is associated with negative health and
educational outcomes that include:

o Nutrient deficiencies

o Increased risk of obesity

o Increased risk of tooth decay

o Poor mental health

o Poor academic performance

Inequalities

» Low-income families are most likely to have poor
diets and experience worse health outcomes®

» The pandemic exacerbated this further due to
negative impacts on household income,
increased use of food banks, closure of schools,
skipping meals, food shortages and increases in
food prices®

« Families with children have been significantly
affected by the pandemic with 38% of
households needing support from a food bank
during April 2020, this is an 89% increase
compared to the previous year’

4

Food behaviours
« Eating behaviours changed during the pandemic;
CYP ate more junk food and snacks, but fewer
fruit and vegetables. These behaviours were
more prevalent among children from more
deprived households’

References Page 24
1. ‘National food strategy’ 2020
2. Weichselbaum, Nutrition Bulletin (2014) ‘Diet, nutrition and schoolchildren: An update’
3. NHS Digital (2021) ‘National Child Measurement Programme, England, 2020/21 School Year’
4. Food Foundation (2021) A Crisis Within a Crisis: The Impact of Covid-19 on Household Food Security
5. Child Poverty Action Group (2020) ‘Poverty in the pandemic’
6. FSA (2021) ‘Renew Normal: Food in a pandemic’ 9 7
7. DWP (2022) ‘Universal Credit: Households’
8. The Trussell Trust (2021) ‘Mid-Year Stats’


https://foodfoundation.org.uk/sites/default/files/2021-10/FF_Impact-of-Covid_FINAL.pdf
https://www.nationalfoodstrategy.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/NFS-Part-One-SP-CP.pdf
https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/nbu.12071
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/national-child-measurement-programme/2020-21-school-year
https://foodfoundation.org.uk/publication/crisis-within-crisis-impact-covid-19-household-food-security
https://cpag.org.uk/sites/default/files/files/policypost/Poverty-in-the-pandemic.pdf
https://www.food.gov.uk/sites/default/files/media/document/fsa-food-in-a-pandemic-march-2021.pdf
https://dwp-stats.maps.arcgis.com/sharing/oauth2/authorize?client_id=arcgisonline&response_type=token&state=%7B%22portalUrl%22%3A%22https%3A%2F%2Fdwp-stats.maps.arcgis.com%22%7D&expiration=20160&redirect_uri=https%3A%2F%2Fdwp-stats.maps.arcgis.com%2Fapps%2FCascade%2Findex.html%3Fappid%3D8560a06de0f2430ab71505772163e8b4&redirectToUserOrgUrl=true
https://www.trusselltrust.org/news-and-blog/latest-stats/mid-year-stats/

The impact of COVID-19 on children and

young people’s nutrition

» Mid-year statistics from the Trussell Trust show a
24.5% rise (N=56,387) in the number of food .
parcels given in the East Midlands from April - 1 I n 9
September 2021 compared with the same period
in 2019 (N=45,283), a slight reduction on 2020
figures (N=66,181)8

Food insecurity
 Increases in food prices, lack of special offers
and older children returning home created extra = =
financial burdens on family budgets’ fOOd I n Secu rlty
e About 2.2 million households in the UK
experienced food insecurity in 2019/20%3, with
roughly 1.4 million children living in households
that were food insecure?*
» Food insecurity levels in May 2020 were 250%
higher than pre COVID-19 levels®
« The proportion of households that are food
insecure is increased among:
o Single parents
o Families with more than 3 children
o Families with an adult or child with
disabilities or health issues
o Black or other minority ethnic groups?

ily Resources Sury,

Free school meals

» 19.7% of pupils were eligible for free school
meals at October 2020. This was an increase
from 17.3% in January 2020. This amounts to
1.63 million children, an increase from 1.44
million in January 2020. Of those 1.63 million,
302,400 have become eligible for free school
meals since the first national COVID-19
lockdown was announced. Over the same period
in 2019, prior to the pandemic, 208,500 children
became eligible for free school meals®

References Page 25
1. Child Poverty Action Group (2020) ‘Poverty in the pandemic’
2. DWP (2021) ‘Family Resources Survey 2019/20
3. ONS (2021) ‘Families and Households in the UK: 2020’
4. ONS (2021) ‘Population estimates for the UK, England and Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland: mid-2020’
5. The Food Foundation (May 2020) ‘Food Insecurity Tracking Survey - Round 4’
6. Explore Education Statistics (2021) ‘Free School Meals: Autumn Term’ 9 8


https://view.officeapps.live.com/op/view.aspx?src=https%3A%2F%2Fassets%2Epublishing%2Eservice%2Egov%2Euk%3A443%2Fgovernment%2Fuploads%2Fsystem%2Fuploads%2Fattachment%5Fdata%2Ffile%2F972867%2FCh9%5FHousehold%5FFood%5FSecurity%2Exlsx&wdinitialsession=769bb133-5083-44a3-865e-94665b122749&wdrldsc=5&wdrldc=1&wdrldr=DeploymentInvalidViewSession
https://cpag.org.uk/sites/default/files/files/policypost/Poverty-in-the-pandemic.pdf
https://view.officeapps.live.com/op/view.aspx?src=https%3A%2F%2Fassets.publishing.service.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fuploads%2Fsystem%2Fuploads%2Fattachment_data%2Ffile%2F972867%2FCh9_Household_Food_Security.xlsx&wdOrigin=BROWSELINK
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/families#:~:text=Families%20and%20households%20in%20the%20UK%3A%202020&text=There%20were%20an%20estimated%2027.8,over%20the%20last%2010%20years.
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/bulletins/annualmidyearpopulationestimates/mid2020#age-structure-of-the-uk-population
https://foodfoundation.org.uk/initiatives/food-insecurity-tracking
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/free-school-meals-autumn-term/2020-21-autumn-term

The impact of COVID-19 on children and

young people’s physical activity

Why it matters Physical activity levels
» 7% of children aged 7 to 16 years in England
* Regular physical activity has cumulative health reported being physically inactive during the first
benefits for children that include: national lockdown (March - June 2020)*
o Improved bone health and development  44.9% of CYP in the East Midlands were
o Improved cardiovascular fitness physically active in 2020/21, which is similar than
o Maintaining a healthy weight the England average (44.9%)°
o Positive mental health and wellbeing » There was a 2.3% decrease in the number of
outcomes’ active CYP between May to July 2020 compared
» Physical activity also contributes to a wider range to 20196
of social benefits for individuals and « When children returned to school in September
communities, throughout the life stage’ 2020, 75% of teachers across England surveyed
» Current guidelines state that CYP should engage by the Youth Sport Trust reported noticeable low
with an average of 60 minutes of physical activity levels of physical fitness among their pupils?
per day each week'
Inequalities
The impact of COVID-19 on CYP « Certain groups were more affected than others

during the pandemic:
o Boysin years 5 to 6 (aged 9 to 11)
o CYP from ethnic minority backgrounds
o CYP from most affluent background had
the largest decrease in activity levels
although activity levels for CYP from the
least affluent background remains lower®

» Over one third of CYP reported that they had
less chance to be active as they were not at
school?

e CYP from low income families are more likely to
rely on school playgrounds for exercise and are
less likely to have access to space or additional
resources to support mental or physical
wellbeing®

‘ * 61% of clinically vulnerable CYP, including those

with a disability, reported a reduction in physical
activity levels for June to July 2020. Reasons
included shielding, lack of access to facilities and
lack of equipment”

physical activity

» The COVID-19 pandemic resulted in school
closures, and thus the pausing of recreational
sports and athletics activities which removed
physical activity routines for CYP, disrupting the
amount and type of activity undertaken by CYP?

» The most popular way to stay active during
periods of local and national lockdown included
walking, cycling and fitness activities®

negative impact

References Page 26
1. Gov.uk (2019) ‘UK Chief Medical Officers’ physical activity guidelines’
2. Youth Sport Trust (2020) ‘The impact of COVID-19 restrictions on children and young people’
3. Sport England (2021) ‘Active lives children and young people survey, academic year 2019-20
4. Sport England (2020) ‘Children’s experience of physical activity’
5. OHID public health profiles
6. Sport England (2021) ‘Active lives children and young people survey, academic yeggm COVID-19 report’
7. Theis N and others. Disability and Health Journal (2021) ‘The effects of COVID-19 weétsefions on physical activity and mental health of children and young adults with physical and/or
intellectual disabilities’


https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/832868/uk-chief-medical-officers-physical-activity-guidelines.pdf
https://www.youthsporttrust.org/news-insight/research/the-impact-of-covid-19-restrictions-on-children-and-young-people
https://sportengland-production-files.s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/2021-01/Active%20Lives%20Children%20Survey%20Academic%20Year%2019-20%20report.pdf?4Ti_0V0m9sYy5HwQjSiJN7Xj.VInpjV6
https://www.thinkactive.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/Sport-England-Childrens-experience-of-physical-activity.pdf
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/physical-activity/data
https://sportengland-production-files.s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/2021-01/Active%20Lives%20Children%20Survey%20Academic%20Year%2019-20%20Coronavirus%20report.pdf?2yHCzeG_iDUxK.qegt1GQdOmLiQcgThJ
https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7825978/

The impact of COVID-19 on children and

young people’s physical activity

Attitudes to physical activity
The social component of physical activity is a key factor in CYP’s enjoyment of being active:

» 37% of children aged six to 15 years said in June 2020 that they saw sport and physical education as more
important now than before the first national lockdown'

« Despite restrictions easing between May and July 2020, some CYP reported less enjoyment from taking part
in physical activity, feeling less confident and less competent as they returned to activities they had not been
able to do, which may explain delay in returning or dropping out?

Restricted opportunities
» The Youth Support Trust survey in September 2020 found that 22% of Key Stage 3 and 26% of Key Stage 4
teachers delivered less or no physical education compared to before the pandemic’
» Logistical issues relating to the implementation of COVID-19 guidance was reported as a key barrier and
concern for secondary schools’
» Opportunities to be active were restricted in the 2021 lockdown; indoor and outdoor facilities remained closed
and the timing of the lockdown coincided with colder, darker months3#

References Page 27
1. Youth Sport Trust (2020) Returning to school after COVID restrictions. The view from PE and school leads
2. Sport England (2021) ‘Active lives children and youn people survey academic year 2019-20 COVID-19 report’
3. Sport England (April 2021) ‘Understanding the impact of COVID-19’
4. Gov.uk (2020) ‘Prime Minister Announces National Lockdown - Government News’

100


https://www.youthsporttrust.org/news-insight/research/returning-to-school-after-covid-19
https://sportengland-production-files.s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/2021-01/Active%20Lives%20Children%20Survey%20Academic%20Year%2019-20%20Coronavirus%20report.pdf?2yHCzeG_iDUxK.qegt1GQdOmLiQcgThJ
https://sportengland-production-files.s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/2021-04/Understanding%20the%20Impact%20of%20Covid%20April%202021_0.pdf?VersionId=rDJkuKjVEnrsQYsDn9nSYezUmXlu6ZK9
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/prime-minister-announces-national-lockdown

The impact of COVID-19 on children and

young people’s mental health

Why it matters

« Mental health illnesses are a leading cause of
health-related disabilities in CYP and can have
adverse and long-lasting effects’

» Poor mental health and wellbeing is a significant
contributory factor to poor education, health and
social care outcomes including poor physical
health, reduced educational attainment, and
relationships alongside increased risks of
smoking, substance and alcohol misuse,
involvement with youth justice services,
increased risk of self-harm, eating disorders and
suicide ideation®

The impact of COVID-19 on
CYP’s mental health

« Some CYP have experienced greater negative
impacts on their mental health and wellbeing.
These groups include: girls; young carers; CYP
from poorer households; CYP with pre-existing
mental health needs; CYP with SEND and
neurodevelopmental conditions; and CYP from
black and minority ethnic groups3’4

1in5

probable
mental health
condition @

NHS Digital (2020)

Wellbeing
England’s Mental Health of Children and Young People
(MHCYP) survey?® found:

» A 48% increase in probable mental health
conditions reported in 5 to 16 year olds in
England: 2017 (10.8%), 2020 (16.0%)

« Young women had the highest prevalence of
probable mental health problems (27.2%)

e 1in 10 (5.4% of children and 13.8% of young
people) often or always felt lonely

e 21.6% of children and 29.0% of young people
with probable mental health conditions had no
adult at school or work to whom they could turn
during lockdown

Parents and carers reported that, on average,
children’s and young people’s emotional difficulties
decreased during 2021 as Covid-19 related restrictions
eased. However, some groups continued to show
elevated emotional difficulties despite eased
restrictions: CYP living in low income households, and
those with Special Educational Needs or
neurodevelopmental disorders®. The mental wellbeing
of children is often impacted by that of their families. As
adults struggled with their mental wellbeing and mental
health in the pandemic”-8 this is likely to have had an
impact on children and young people.

Behavioural difficulties
« Behavioural and restless/attention difficulties
increased throughout the pandemic up until
February 2021, particularly for primary school
children (4 to 10 years old)?

References

Page 28

1. Korkodilos M. PHE (2016) ‘The mental health of children and young people in England’

2. Children and young people’s mental health outcomes forum (2012) ‘Mental health subgroup’

3. Public Health England (2021) ‘COVID-19 mental health and wellbeing surveillance report’

4. UK Parliament (2020) ‘Rapid response, child and adolescent mental health during COVID-19’

5. Lancet (2021) ‘Child mental health before and after lockdown’

6. Co-SPACE (2021) ‘Report 11: Changes in children’s mental health symptoms fromﬂfmo to June 2021’
7. NHS Digital (2020) ‘Mental health of children and young people in England 2020

8. Wider Impacts of COVID-19 on Health (WICH) monitoring tool


https://files.digital.nhs.uk/CB/C41981/mhcyp_2020_rep.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/575632/Mental_health_of_children_in_England.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/216853/CYP-Mental-Health.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-mental-health-and-wellbeing-surveillance-report/7-children-and-young-people
https://post.parliament.uk/child-and-adolescent-mental-health-during-covid-19/
https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lanpsy/article/PIIS2215-0366(20)30570-8/fulltext
http://cospaceoxford.org/findings/changes-in-childrens-mental-health-symptoms-from-march-2020-to-june-2021/
https://files.digital.nhs.uk/CB/C41981/mhcyp_2020_rep.pdf
https://analytics.phe.gov.uk/apps/covid-19-indirect-effects/

The impact of COVID-19 on children and

young people’s mental health

Disabilities
« The mental health of CYP with disabilities was
impacted by the pandemic. Anxiety was
frequently reported’

Eating disorders
« The national referral statistics for eating
disorders in England show a doubling in the
number of urgent referrals during 2020 and a
smaller increase in non-urgent referrals?

Self harm and suicide

« The incidence of self-harm recorded in primary
care was substantially lower than expected for
10-17 year olds in April 2020 but returned to pre-
pandemic levels by September 20202

« There were concerns that child suicide deaths
may have increased between 23 March to 17t
May 2020, although the numbers (25 deaths)
were too low to be definitive.2:3 Contributing
factors reported included restriction to education
and other activities, disruption to care and
support services, tensions at home and isolation®

Health service use
In 2021, the Royal College of psychiatrists’ analysis*
found:

» 80,226 more CYP were referred to mental health
services between April and December 2020, up
by 28% on 2019 to 372,438

» 600,628 more treatment sessions were given to
CYP, up by a fifth on 2019 to 3.58 million

» 18,269 CYP needed urgent or emergency crisis
care, an increase of 18% on 2019

The pandemic has led to an unprecedented and
ongoing demand for mental health services for children
and young people most notably for eating disorders.®

References Page 29
1. APPG for SEND (2021) ‘Forgotten. Left Behind. Overlooked’
2. Ford T. BMJ (2021) ‘Mental health of children and young people during pandemic’
3. National Child Mortality Database (2020) ‘Summary report on child suicide - July 2020’

4. RCPsych (2021) ‘Press release’

5. NHS Digital (2022) ‘Mental Health Services Monthly Statistics’


https://nasen-prod-asset.s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/APPG%20for%20SEND%20Report%20Spring%202021.pdf
https://www.bmj.com/content/372/bmj.n614
https://www.ncmd.info/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/REF253-2020-NCMD-Summary-Report-on-Child-Suicide-July-2020.pdf
https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/news-and-features/latest-news/detail/2021/04/08/country-in-the-grip-of-a-mental-health-crisis-with-children-worst-affected-new-analysis-finds
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/mental-health-services-monthly-statistics

The impact of COVID-19 on young people’s

sexual health

Why it matters Access to services
» Young people have been disproportionately
» Sexual health education and the provision of impacted by service disruption and have
sexual and reproductive health services make an experienced difficulties in accessing sexual
important contribution to both individual and health services, free condoms, and
populations’ health' contraception.® The pandemic response led to a
+ Sexually transmitted infections (STls) are a reprioritisation and disruption in provision of, and
major public health concern, which impact the patient access to, sexual health services (SHS):

health and wellbeing of individuals, as well as
being costly to healthcare services. If left
undiagnosed and untreated, common STIs can
cause a range of complications and long-term
health problems, from adverse pregnancy
outcomes to neonatal and infant infections, and
cardiovascular and neurological damage2

» Young people aged 15-24 experience the highest
diagnosis rates of the most common STIs®

The impact of COVID-19 on
young people’s sexual health

COVID-19 has highlighted how difficult it can be for
young people to access Relationships, Sex and Health
Education (RSHE) and healthcare:

Remote education

» Relationships, Sex and Health Education
(RSHE) providers were unable to deliver
sessions so some young people experienced
over a year without any school-based education
on critical topics such as healthy relationships,
consent and looking after their sexual health*

« There is evidence to suggest that during the
pandemic, young people may have experienced
greater difficulty, or hesitated to use, online
services and testing®

» The closure of schools meant that the Free
Period Products scheme was no longer available
at schools and a relatively small number of
schools signed up*

« The combination of lack of access to RSHE and
delay in sexual debut due to lockdown periods
could have implications for some young people’s
sexual wellbeing, leaving them vulnerable to
adverse circumstances®

o

In England, from January to June in 2020,
there was a 30% reduction in tests for
chlamydia, gonorrhoea and syphilis at
SHS compared to the same period in 2019
Nationally, the number of bacterial STI and
HIV tests in SHS declined sharply
between January and April 2020, by 71%
for STlIs and 77% for HIV

Compared to 2019, the number of new
STI diagnoses in 2020 among young
people aged 15 to 24 years in England
decreased by 34%

The proportion of bacterial STI and HIV
tests accessed via internet services has
increased substantially since April 20207
Internet testing for chlamydia increased by
50.4% in the East Midlands in 2020.8
However, there is evidence to suggest
that, during the pandemic, young people
may have experienced greater difficulty, or
hesitated to use, online services and
testing.b

There was a disproportionately larger
reduction across the country in
attendances at a SHS in young people
aged less than 18 years compared with
those aged 18 and over during the weeks
preceding and following lockdown in
March 2020°

References
1. Nuffield Trust (2021) ‘Effectiveness of sexual health services’
2. PHE (2019) ‘Health matters: Preventing STIs’
3. PHE (2020) ‘Sexually transmitted infections and screening for chlamydia in England’
4. Brook (2020) ‘Inside out. Young people’s health and wellbeing’
5. Dema et al (2020) ‘Initial impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on sexual and

Page 30

7. PHE (2020) ‘The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on prevention, testing, diagnosis
and care for sexually transmitted infections, HIV and viral hepatitis in England’

8. PHE (2020) ‘Sexually transmitted infections and screening for chlamydia in England’

9. Thompson-Glover F and others. BMJ Sexually Transmitted Infections (2020) ‘COVID-
19 and young people’s sexual health’

reproductive health service use and unmet need in Britain: findings from a quasi- 1 O 3

representative survey (Natsal-COVID)
6. Mercer and others. BMJ (2021) ‘Impacts of COVID-19 on sexual behaviour in Britain:
findings from a large, quasi-representative survey (Natsal-COVID)’


https://www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk/resource/effectiveness-of-sexual-health-services-1
https://ukhsa.blog.gov.uk/2019/08/21/health-matters-preventing-stis/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1015176/STI_NCSP_report_2020.pdf
https://www.brook.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/Inside-Out-NYA-Brook-2020-1.pdf
https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lanpub/article/PIIS2468-2667(21)00253-X/fulltext
https://sti.bmj.com/content/early/2021/12/14/sextrans-2021-055210
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/943657/Impact_of_COVID-19_Report_2020.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1015176/STI_NCSP_report_2020.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/943657/Impact_of_COVID-19_Report_2020.pdf

The impact of COVID-19 on young people’s

sexual health

Health inequalities

» Lockdown disproportionately impacted on young women'’s access to contraception in England, 18% of 19 year
olds were not able to access their usual contraception®

« The closure of smaller clinics and poor transport connections affect young people reliant on public transport*

« Young people with vulnerabilities such as mental health concerns, learning disabilities and language barriers
may struggle with navigating new ways of accessing sexual healthcare, exacerbated by the interruption of
their usual professional carer support’

» Young people who identify as part of the lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and queer (LGBTQ+) community,
particularly trans and non-binary young people, are at a higher risk of experiencing depression, anxiety,
substance misuse and suicide compared to heterosexual and cisgender populations. Covid-19 is likely to have
exacerbated these inequalities.?3

» Online services and postal delivery of STI tests may deter young people with the lack of a private postal
address*

Barriers for accessing services
Barriers for young people accessing SHS include:

« Service changes e.g. cessation of walk in services, closing of outreach provision, changes to clinic opening
times

« Limited access to public transport

« Concern around COVID-19 exposure

« Fear of judgement by adults if they have not adhered to social distancing guidance

+ Remote methods of managing patients may present problems of confidentiality and privacy for young people
living at home

« Limited access to online devices, lack of credit/data on mobile phones and a poor household internet
connection

» Young people may experience greater difficulty in finding, accessing and engaging with relevant online sexual
health information'-®

References Page 31
1. Thompson-Glover F and others. BMJ Sexually Transmitted Infections (2020) ‘COVID-19 and young people’s sexual health’
2. C Ormiston and F Williams (2021) ‘LGBTQ youth mental health during COVID-19: unmet needs in public health and policy’
3. Brook (2020) ‘Inside out. Young people’s health and wellbeing’
4. McGown and others. BMJ (2021) ‘Life under COVID-19 for LGBT+ people in the UK: systematic review of UK research on the impact of COVID-19 on sexual and gender minority
populations’
5. BASSH (2020) ‘COVID-19 and young people’s sexual health’ 1 04


https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/943657/Impact_of_COVID-19_Report_2020.pdf
https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(21)02872-5/fulltext
https://www.brook.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/Inside-Out-NYA-Brook-2020-1.pdf
https://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/11/7/e050092
https://sti.bmj.com/content/96/7/473

The impact of COVID-19 on children and

young people’s access to health services

Why it matters

« Access to healthcare is important throughout
childhood to promote health and identify and
treat health problems

« The disruption to health services and reduced
capacity to treat CYP for conditions other than
COVID-19 is likely to have affected the health of
young people both directly1 and as the children
of those parents or carers who are affected

« The delivery plan for tackling the Covid 19
backlog of elective care acknowledged key
challenges facing elective recovery such as
growing waiting lists and capacity issues and the
negative impact on patients including CYP

« Long waits before accessing planned care can
have lifelong consequences on the development
of children and young people. Long waits have
an impact on their ability to access education
and live full and active lives exacerbating existing
inequalities

The impact of COVID-19 on
CYP’s access to health services

Community care

+ The pandemic has exacerbated pressures on
community services. NHSEI data from January
2022 estimates that nationally there were over
900000 children and adults waiting as part of the
community services backlog. For community
CYP services the most significant waits
nationally were in speech and language therapy,
community paediatrics, occupational therapy,
physiotherapy and neuro-developmental
assessments for those with suspected autism
and ADHD?

e During the COVID-19 pandemic, the
redeployment and reprioritisation of some
community services staff meant that some local
teams reduced in size and individual case loads
increased.

« For health visitors face-to-face contacts and
home visits were also limited at some points in
the pandemic meaning the needs of many
children may have been missed, including:

o The identification of children in homes at
risk of domestic violence and abuse

o The identification of children with growth,
development and special educational
needs and disabilities

o Opportunities to support breastfeeding®

Primary care

« Primary care services provide the first point of
contact in the healthcare system acting as the
front door of the NHS for CYP and their families.
In the early months of the pandemic the number
of CYP seen by GPs fell rapidly alongside a
large decrease in referrals to hospital care.* NHS
appointment data has showed a recovery in
appointments however face to face appointments
are still at a lower level than before the
pandemic. The impact of different appointment
modes for CYP is not yet known

References

1. NHS England (2022) Delivering plan for tackling the COVID-19 backlog of elective care’

Page 32

2. Community Network (2022) ‘Hidden waits: the lasting impact of the pandemic on children’s services in the community’
3. Conti G., Dow A. (2020) ‘The impacts of COVID-19 on Health Visiting in England, September 2020’

4. NHS digital (2022) ‘NHS digital Appointments in General Practice August 2022’

105


https://www.england.nhs.uk/coronavirus/delivering-plan-for-tackling-the-covid-19-backlog-of-elective-care
https://www.nhsconfed.org/publications/Hidden-waits-lasting-impact-pandemic-childrens-community-services
https://discovery.ucl.ac.uk/id/eprint/10106430/
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/appointments-in-general-practice/august-2022

The impact of COVID-19 on children and

young people’s access to health services

Secondary care

The impact of the Covid 19 pandemic on CYPs « The NHS delivery plan for tackling the covid 19
secondary care use was significant particularly at the backlog of elective care (2022) outlines the
start of the pandemic: ongoing challenges in CYP elective care.

Elective activity data suggests that CYP elective
activity from the start of the pandemic to April
2022 was behind elective activity for adults with
CYP waiting lists increasing at a faster rate than
for adults.

» In a Royal College of Paediatrics and Child
Health (RCPCH) survey of clinical leads between
April and July 2020:

o Overall, children’s presentation to most
health services dropped during lockdown

o Many respondents were worried about the
children they weren’t seeing

o Delayed presentations were reported, the
top being delayed presentation of
diabetes, safeguarding concerns, mental
health issues and sepsis’

« Disruptions to planned outpatient visits,
operations or healthcare have prompted anxiety
for families and may have led to increased 62 0/ |
morbidity for some children? 0 Owe r

» A BPSU snapshot survey in April 2020 found:

o Late presentations during labour resulted
in adverse maternal/neonatal outcomes

o Early hospital discharges after birth due to
COVID-19 before feeding had been
established resulting in infants returning
with feeding difficulties and severe
dehydration

o Delay in taking children to the emergency
department during lockdown may have
contributed to the deaths of nine children3

« 200,000 CYP in England were identified as
Clinically Extremely Vulnerable (CEV).# In April
2020, A&E attendances for CEV people under
the age of 30 were 66% lower than in April
2019.5 It is likely that CEV CYP experienced
particular challenges in access to health and
care services

« During the various lockdowns, the availability
and delivery of secondary care services was
reduced for specific groups of CYP, increasing
the existing inequalities in place. For example,
those with disabilities®, SEND” and other
additional needs®°.

England. The Health Foung

References Page 33
1. RCPCH (2020) ‘The impact of COVID-19 on child health services’ 8. The Health Foundation (2020) ‘Build Back Fairer: The COVID-19 Marmot Review’
2. Ashikkali L and others (2020) ‘The indirect impact of COVID-19 on child health’ 9. RCSLT (2021) ‘Building Back Better: Speech and Language Therapy Services after
3. BPSU (2020) “snap-shot’ survey - delayed presentations to hospitals’ COVID-19

4. ONS (5th August 2020) ‘Coronavirus and shielding of extremely clinically vulnerable
people in England’

5. The Health Foundation (2020) ‘How has hospital use among those CEV to COVID-19 1 O 6
been impacted by the pandemic?’

6. Disabled Children’s Partnership (2021) ‘The Longest Lockdown’

7. Ofsted (Nov 2020) ‘COVID-19 series: briefing on local areas’ SEND provision’


https://www.health.org.uk/news-and-comment/charts-and-infographics/hospital-use-clinically-extremely-vulnerable-population
https://www.rcpch.ac.uk/resources/impact-covid-19-child-health-services-report-2020
https://www.paediatricsandchildhealthjournal.co.uk/action/showPdf?pii=S1751-7222%2820%2930158-X
https://www.rcpch.ac.uk/work-we-do/bpsu/snap-shot-survey-delayed-presentations
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/conditionsanddiseases/bulletins/coronavirusandshieldingofclinicallyextremelyvulnerablepeopleinengland/9julyto16july2020
https://www.health.org.uk/news-and-comment/charts-and-infographics/hospital-use-clinically-extremely-vulnerable-population
https://disabledchildrenspartnership.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/The-Longest-Lockdown.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-local-areas-send-provision-november-2020
https://www.rcslt.org/get-involved/building-back-better-speech-and-language-therapy-services-after-covid-19/

The impact of COVID-19 on vaccination

uptake

Why it matters The impact of COVID-19 on

« Immunisation is vital in protecting children from vaccination

serious disease and death from infections such
C . - » The number of MMR (measles, mumps, and
as pertussis, diptheria, measles, meningitis and

1 rubella) vaccines delivered in England dropped
pneumonia by 20% during the first three weeks of the
« |tis important to maintain the best possible y ° 9

. lockdown®
vaccine uptake to prevent a resurgence of these . . .
. L » There was a substantial decrease in children
infections s i ) i o )
. . receiving routine childhood immunisations in
» Many vaccine preventable diseases are more

infectious than COVID-19, for example measles 2,020 com.pared to 2019,' Across the country,
. - . L since April 2020, fewer infants have completed
is around six times more infectious

the full course of three Hexavalent vaccines by

|nequa|ities six months of age and fewer children have
received MMR1 by 18 months of age®

« Vaccine uptake is lower in: « In 2021, in England, overall vaccination counts
o Deprived populations for Hexavalent and MMR vaccine remained
o Ethnic minority groups lower at 4.9% and 8.7% lower on week 13 in
o CYP with learning disabilities 2021 compared to week 13 in 2019. However,
o Lone parent families vaccination counts were 8.5% and 29.9% higher
o Large families* during week 13 in 2021 compared to week 13 in

2020, respectively®

« The pandemic led to reduced uptake. This
tended to be more marginal and short lived for
GP delivered immunisations compared to school
delivered immunisations

* Only 54.4% of boys and 59.2% of girls got the
priming dose of HPV vaccine in 2019/20
compared with a rate of 88% in girls the previous
academic year’. The routine school aged
vaccination was offered in 2020/21 with an offer
to catch up on cohorts which had missed out.
Although coverage increased significantly in
2020/21 from the previous year it is still not back
up to pre-pandemic levels®

has
been
affected

References Page 34
1. NICE (2020) ‘Clinical guidance for healthcare professionals on maintaining immunisation programmes during COVID-19
2. AJPH (1985) ‘Benefits, risks and costs of immunisation for measles, mumps and rubella’
3. Vaccine (2016) ‘The economic cost of measles’
4. PHE (2021) ‘National Immunisation Programme: health equity audit’
5. BMJ (2020) ‘Routine vaccination during the COVID-19 response’
6. PHE (2021) ‘Impact of COVID-19 on vaccination counts to week 13 in 2021’ JmQY
7. Public Health England (2020) ‘HPV vaccination coverage in adolescent females an: ih England: 2019 to 2020’

8. UK Health Security Agency (Dec 2021) ‘HPV vaccination coverage in adolescent females and males in England: 2020 to 2021’


https://www.nice.org.uk/media/default/about/covid-19/specialty-guides/maintaining-immunisation-programmes.pdf
https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/3923849/
https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26944712/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/957670/immnstn-equity_AUDIT_v11.pdf
https://www.bmj.com/content/369/bmj.m2392
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/978882/hpr0721_chlhd-vc_wk13.pdf

The impact of COVID-19 on vaccination

uptake

Barriers to vaccination

« The COVID-19 pandemic may have led to
missed opportunities for routine vaccination
uptake in CYP due to:

o Lack of clarity around whether vaccination
services were operating as usual. When
schools were closed less convenient
community settings were offered

o Parental difficulties in organising
vaccination appointments

o Parental concerns about contracting
COVID-19 while attending general
practice’

References Page 35
1. PLOS (2020) ‘Parents’ and guardians’ views and experiences of accessing routine vaccinations during the COVID-19 pandemic’
2. PHE (2021) ‘Impact of COVID-19 on childhood vaccination counts to week 4 in 2021, and vaccine coverage to December 2020 in England: interim analyses’
3. OHID public health profiles

108


https://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0244049
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/961539/hpr0321_chldhd-vc_wk4d.pdf
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/

Appendix 1: Fingertips data for the
East Midlands

More indicators are available at: https:/fingertips.phe.org.uk Page 36

109


https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/

Infant Mortality

« Infant mortality is considered an important » In 2018 - 20, 607 babies in the East Midlands did
indicator of both maternal and newborn health not live to see their first birthday, about 5.5
and care’ babies every week?®

» The Department of Health and Social Care’s » The infant mortality rate was 2.3 times higher in
ambition is to halve the number of stillbirths and Nottingham (6.1 per 1,000) compared to
neonatal deaths in England by 20302 Lincolnshire (2.6 per 1,000)3

ot s p—

Becent frends: — Could notbe = Mo significant t Increasing & f Increasing & .'. Decreasing & ', Decreasing &

calculated change getting worse getfing betier getting worse getting better

Infant mortality rate 2018 - 20 Crude rate - per 1,000
Area F_{:_:::t Count Value Lof:e‘}:. a UpB:enf cl
England - 7.1 39 H 38 40
East Midlands region - 607 42 = 3.8 45
Nottingham - 58 s+ NN 47 77
Leicester - 50 s NI 46 73
Derby - 50 B 41 73
Nottinghamshire - 101 43 — 35 52
West Northamptonshire - 58 42 — 3.2 54
Derbyshire - 88 40 = 32 50
North Northamptonshire - 40 35 — 25 a7
Rutland - 3 34 F i 0.7 10.0
Leicestershire - 65 3.3 — 25 41
Lincolnshire - 54 26 0 2.0 35
References Page 37

1. PHE (2015) ‘Reducing infant mortality: an evidence based review<’/a>
2. DHSC (2015) ‘New ambition to halve rate of stillbirths and infant deaths’
3. OHID child and maternal health profiles

110


https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/431516/Reducing_infant_mortality_in_London_2015.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-ambition-to-halve-rate-of-stillbirths-and-infant-deaths
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/child-health-profiles/data

Infants receiving a 6 to 8 week review

« All babies should have a routine physical exam
between 6 to 8 weeks'

» The review is an opportunity for support with
breastfeeding if required, allows an assessment
of the mother’s mental health and reinforces the
discussions and messages from the new birth
visit'

 Itis an opportunity to ensure the mother has had
a six-week postnatal check, and to remind the
parents about vaccinations for their baby’

Similar

Recent trends:

p—

= Could not be = Mo significant

t Increasing &

« Support to the mother around receiving benefits
she is entitled can be discussed and offered’

« From 2020/21, 85.8% of babies in the East
Midlands received a 6 to 8 week review?

« The proportion of babies that received a review
was 1.3 times higher in Derby (98.8%) compared
to Leicestershire (75.1%)?

4 Increasing & ) Decreasing & JJ Decreasing &

calculated change getting worse getfing betier getting worse getting better

Proportion of infants receiving a 6 to 8 week review 2020121 Proportion - %
Area }?I_T_:ﬁ:t Count Value Lo:vs:f al Upsps:/: cl

England - 449,298 80.2* | 301 80.4
East Midlands region - 39,126 ssa 85.4 86.1
Derby - 2,830 g 98.3 99.1
Nottinghamshire - 6.826 so7 90.1 91.4
Lincolnshire - 5928 soa [ 397 911
Nattingham - 2484 7s.0 NG 76.5 79.4
Derbyshire - 5203 772 I 76.2 782
Rutland - 214 76.4 — 711 81.0
Leicester - 3264 751 I 738 763
Leicestershire - 4813 751 NN 74.0 76.1

North Northamptonshire -
West Northamptonshire -

References
1. Department of Health (2009) ‘Healthy child programme’
2. OHID child and maternal health profiles

111

Page 38


https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/167998/Health_Child_Programme.pdf
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/child-health-profiles/data

years

« Immunisation is vital in protecting children from
serious disease and death from infections’

e The number of MMR (measles, mumps and
rubella) vaccines delivered in England dropped
20% during the first lockdown?

» Vaccination coverage is the best indicator of the
level of protection a population will have against
vaccine preventable communicable diseases®

MMR Vaccination one dose in children aged 2

Coverage is closely correlated with levels of
disease. Monitoring coverage identifies possible
drops in immunity before levels of disease rise3
92.4% of two year olds in the East Midlands
received one dose of MMR in 2020/213

The proportion of 2 year olds who were
vaccinated was 1.1 times higher in Leicestershire
(96.1%) compared to Nottingham (87.3%)3

Similar

Recent trends:

p—

= Could not be = Mo significant
calculated change

4 Decreasing &
getting worse

4§ Decreasing &

t Increasing &
getting better

getting worse

i Increasing &
getfing betier

Population vaccination coverage - MMR for one dose (2 years old) 2020/21 Proportion - %

Area Recent Count Value 95% 5%
Trend Lower Cl Upper CI
England 1] 569,675 90.3 | 90.2 90.4
East Midlands region 1] 46,731 924 | 921 926
Leicestershire = 7,120 ge1 95.6 96.5
Derbyshire 1] 7.105 gs2 94.7 95.7
Nottinghamshire - 7474 929 i 923 834
Lincolnshire 1] 5,350 90.5 i 39.8 91.2
Leicester I 4112 ey 88.9 90.7
Derby - 3,107 so.2 NG 38.1 90.2
Nottingham o 3398 ey | 36.2 883

North Northamptonshire - - -
Rutland - =
West Northamptonshire

References Page 39
1. NICE (2020) ‘Clinical guidance for healthcare professionals on maintaining immunisation programmes during COVID-19
2. BMJ (2020) ‘Routine vaccination during the COVID-19 pandemic’

3. OHID child and maternal health profiles

112


https://www.nice.org.uk/media/default/about/covid-19/specialty-guides/maintaining-immunisation-programmes.pdf
https://www.bmj.com/content/369/bmj.m2392
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/child-health-profiles/data

A&E Attendances in children aged 0 to 4 years

+ CYP are more frequent users of A&E than adults’ » In 2019/20, 166,435 children aged 0 to 4 years in
» A&E attendances in children aged 0-4 years are the East Midlands attended A&E3
often preventable1 « A&E attendances were 1.9 times higher in
» Whilst emergency admissions for CYP continued Nottingham (740.4 per 1,000) compared to Rutland
to increase over the past 10 years, there was a (397.6 per 1,000)3
1,2

decrease in attendance during lockdown

oot s ot e

Recent frends: — Could not be = Mo significant t Increasing & t Increasing & .'. Decreasing & .', Decreasing &

calculated change getling worse getting betier getting worse getting betier

A&E attendances (0-4 years) 2019120 Crude rate - per 1,000
Area Brfzﬁ;t Count Value Lugvsenf(:l upg:;j;fm
England t 2177170 659.8 | 658.9 660.7
East Midlands region 1 166,435 s8] 5139 519.8
North Northamptonshire - 20,925 9215 NG 968.2 994.9
Nottingham - 15,055 7204 I 72856 7523
Derby = 11,025 6755 NG 663.1 688.4
Derbyshire % 25035 627.0 6193 6348
Lincolnshire 23435 601.1 [ 5935 508.9
Leicestershire L 21,175 5719 T 5643 5797
Nottinghamshire - 24100 5456 538.8 552.6
Leicester 1 13,050 5333 5247 543.0
West Northamptonshire - 11,890 4675 4591 476.0
Rutland = 740 3976 - 3685 4262
References Page 40

1. The Nuffield Trust (2017) ‘Emergency hospital care - children and young people’
2. RCPCH (2020) ‘The impact of COVID-19 on child health services’
3. OHID wider impacts of COVID-19 on health

113


https://www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk/files/2018-10/1540142848_qualitywatch-emergency-hospital-care-children-and-young-people-full.pdf
https://www.rcpch.ac.uk/resources/impact-covid-19-child-health-services-report-2020
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/covid19/data

School readiness at the end of reception

« School readiness at age five has a strong impact e 29.7% of children aged five years in the East
on future educational attainment and life choices' Midlands were not school ready3

« In a YouGov survey, on average early years and « The proportion of children aged 5 years who
primary school teachers report that 43% of pupils achieved a good level of development at the end of
arriving at their school are not school ready2 reception was 1.2 times higher in Rutland (77.8%)

» In 2018/19, 38,343 five year olds living in the East compared to Nottingham (66.9%)3

Midlands achieved a good level of development at
the end of Reception3

oot s ot e

Recent frends: — Could not be = Mo significant t Increasing & t Increasing & .'. Decreasing & .', Decreasing &

calculated change getling worse getting betier getting worse getting betier

School readiness: percentage of children achieving a good level of development at the end of Reception 2018119 Proportion - %
Area F.l::i:t Count Value Lo?vs:: al U:::’:’ cl
England t 458,847 71.8 I 717 719
East Midlands region t 38,343 7o.2 NN 59.9 70.7
Rutland = 305 7re 73.4 816
Leicestershire t 5539 72.1 H 711 73.1
Derbyshire e 5,500 70.5 I 59.8 718
Derby t 2,303 70.7 H 69.1 722
Nottinghamshire t 5,585 70.5 59.6 714
Lincolnshire e 5539 s9.5 NI 886 706
Leicester T 3185 7.7 NG 66.4 69.0
Nottingham t 2,502 gy 000 55.4 65.4
North Northamptonshire - - - - -
West Northamptonshire - - - - -
References Page 41

1. PHE (2015) ‘Improving school readiness. Creating a better start for London’
2. YouGov (2020) ‘Kindred? - School readiness’
3. OHID wider impacts of COVID-19 on health

114


https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/459828/School_readiness_10_Sep_15.pdf
https://kindredsquared.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Kindred2-YouGov-School-Readiness.pdf
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/covid19/data

Children receiving a free school meal

« Free school meals (FSM) are a key source of « COVID-19 has increased the demand for FSM?;
nutrition for deprived children and improve this is not reflected currently in available routine
attendance, concentration and academic data
performance’ » In 2018, 84,826 school aged children in the East

e COVID-19 has caused a sharp rise in food Midlands were eligible for a Fsm3
insecurity. 14% of parents or guardians » The proportion of school aged children eligible for
experienced food insecurity between March and free school meals was 4.9 times higher in
August 2020. Four million people, including 2.3 Nottingham (22.9%) compared to Rutland (4.7%)3

million children, live in these households’

oot s ot e

Recent frends: — Could not be = Mo significant t Increasing & t Increasing & .'. Decreasing & .', Decreasing &

calculated change getling worse getting betier getting worse getting betier

Free school meals: % uptake among all pupils (School age) 2018 Proportion - %
Area F.l::i:t Count Value Lo?vs:: al U:::’:’ cl
England 3 1,099,810 135 | 135 13.5
East Midlands region 1 84,826 122 [ 12.1 12.2
Nottingham S 10,483 22. [N 226 233
Derby 1 5,824 152 NN 15.5 16.2
Leicester 3 8712 15.6 (NG 15.3 15.9
Derbyshire 1 13638 127 [ 12.5 12.9
Lincolnshire T 13,205 125 DT 12.3 12.7
Nottinghamshire 1 13,692 11.4 [ 1.2 116
Leicestershire 3 7,353 76 74 77
Rutland e 262 47 TH 43 53
North Northamptonshire - - - - -
West Northamptonshire - - - - -
References Page 42

1. Food for life (October 2020) ‘Protecting vulnerable children’s diets’
2. Food Foundation (October 2020) ‘Demand for free school meals rises sharply as the economic impact of COVID-19 on families bites’
3. OHID wider impacts of COVID-19 on health

115


https://www.foodforlife.org.uk/~/media/files/news/protecting-vulnerable-childrens-diets-mp-briefing.pdf
https://foodfoundation.org.uk/press-release/demand-free-school-meals-rises-sharply-economic-impact-covid-19-families-bites#:~:text=New%20data%20from%20the%20Food,Free%20School%20Meals%20this%20Autumn.&text=8%25%20of%20children%20(over%20600%2C000,school%20this%20term%20(1).
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/covid19/data

Young People

Overweight (including obese) Children and

Childhood obesity is one of the biggest public
health challenges facing the UK’

Being overweight or obese in childhood has
profound impacts on the health and life chances of
children’

The data in this report have highlighted the
significant challenges some families and carers
have experienced during the pandemic

The National Child measurement Programme

« In 2019/20, about 2 in five 10 to 11 year olds in the

East Midlands were overweight or obese®

The proportion of 10-11 year olds who were
overweight or obese was 4.9 times higher in
Nottingham (22.9%) compared to Rutland (4.7%)3
For children with severe obesity, the Midlands has
some of the worst rates. Children in the most
deprived parts of the region are more than twice as
likely to be obese as their peers living in the richest

(NCMP) annual report published on 16 November areas®

20212 shows the largest increases in childhood
obesity prevalence across the country since the
programme’s inception in 2006/07. Obesity rates in

oot s ot e

Recent frends: — Could not be = Mo significant t Increasing & t Increasing & .'. Decreasing & .', Decreasing &

calculated change getling worse getting betier getting worse getting betier
Reception: Prevalence of overweight (including obesity) 2019/20 Proportion - %
Area RT?EET Count Value Lo!:vs:/: cl Up9p51:/: cl

England t 91,723 230 1 228 23.1
East Midlands region - 8,410 20 216 225
Lincolnshire + 1,680 25 ¢ [ 246 26.7
Nottingham - 875 25.2 [N 238 26.7
Rutland - 75 23.1  e— 18.1 271
Nottinghamshire - 1,435 22.0* = 21.0 23.0
Derby - 445 215 — 19.8 234
Derbyshire - 1,000 24 202 226
Leicester - 850 wall 18.3 20.6
Leicestershire 1,265 19.0 18.1 20.0
North Northamptonshire - - - - -

West Northamptonshire - -

Year 6: Prevalence of overweight (including obesity) 201s/20 Proportion - %

Area '?:_:ﬁ:‘ Count Value Lof::‘ . Upﬁ’:’ o
England + 172,831 352 I 35.1 35.3
East Midlands region + 14,185 349 H 344 35.3
Nottingham - 1435 ey 392 424
Derby - 1,245 359 [INNNGNGEGEGEGEE 372 406
Leicester - 1,760 35+ [N 37.0 398
Lincolnshire - 2,445 364 H 352 375
North Merthamptonshire - 560 34.4° = 321 36.7
Nottinghamshire + 2,220 335 - 327 349
Derbyshire - 1675 32.5 [ 315 341
Leicestershire - 2,020 30 I 295 37
West Northamptonshire - 745 30.5- 287 323
Rutland - 85 26 NE— 220 37
References Page 43

1. Korkodilos M. BACAPH (2021) ‘The health and wellbeing of children and young people in England’
2. Jensenn P et al. Paediatrics (2021) ‘COVID-19 and changed in child obesity’
3. OHID wider impacts of COVID-19 on health

116


https://www.bacaph.org.uk/images/documents/bacaph-publications/The%20health%20and%20wellbeing%20of%20CYP%20in%20England.pdf
https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33653879/
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/covid19/data

Teenage pregnancies

« Although the teenage pregnancy rate has reduced, « In 2020, 12.5% of girls aged less than 18 years in
it still remains higher than a number of other the East Midlands became pregnant3
western European countries. About 75% of « The rate of teenage pregnancies was 3.4 times
teenage pregnancies are unplanned and half higher in Nottingham (19.3%) compared to Rutland
(46.6%) end in abortion’ (5.7%)°

» Teenage pregnancy is associated with poorer
outcomes for both young parents and their
children. These include living in poverty, higher risk
of mental health problems in mothers, higher risk
of infant mortality and lower breastfeeding rates in
babies born to teenage mothers compares to older
mothers -2

oot s ot e

Recent frends: — Could not be = Mo significant t Increasing & t Increasing & .'. Decreasing & .', Decreasing &

calculated change getling worse getting betier getting worse getting betier

Under 18s conception rate / 1,000 2020 Crude rate - per 1,000
Area Brfzﬁ;t Count Value Lugvsenf(:l upg:;j;fm
England 4 11,878 13.0 K 12.8 132
East Midlands region 4 969 125 = 1.7 133
Nottingham - 93 193 [N 156 237
Derby 4 67 153 —_— 19 194
Lincolnshire 1 162 14.1 — 12.0 16.4
North Northamptonshire 4 83 137 _ 10.9 17.0
Mottinghamshire 1 166 13.0 —_— 1.1 15.1
Leicester 4 70 114 —— 89 145
Leicestershire = 124 10.8 e 9.0 128
Derbyshire B 129 10.3 86 122
West Northamptonshire '} 66 ggl T/ 7.7 126
Rutland = 5 57 il— 19 133
References Page 44

1. Korkodilos M. BACAPH (2021) ‘The health and wellbeing of children and young people in England’
2. Nuffield Trust (2021) ‘Teenage pregnancy’
3. OHID wider impacts of COVID-19 on health

117


https://www.bacaph.org.uk/images/documents/bacaph-publications/The%20health%20and%20wellbeing%20of%20CYP%20in%20England.pdf
https://www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk/resource/teenage-pregnancy
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/covid19/data

Hospital admissions for asthma in children

aged less than 19 years

o Asthma is the most common long term medical « In 2020/21, 600 CYP aged under 19 years in the
condition in children and is the most common East Midlands were admitted to hospital for
reason for urgen hospital admissions in children’ asthma®

» About 1in 11 children are receiving treatment for » Hospital admissions were 2 times higher in
asthma? Leicester (84.6 per 100,000) compared to

Nottinghamshire (42.4 per 100,000)3

oot s ot e

Recent frends: — Could not be = Mo significant t Increasing & t Increasing & .'. Decreasing & .', Decreasing &

calculated change getling worse getting betier getting worse getting betier

Hospital admissions for asthma (under 19 years) 202021 Crude rate - per 100,000
Area Br?gﬁ;t Count Value LU?VS;?CI Up!:]ﬁ;f(:l
England 9,425 742 H 727 757
East Midlands region 3 600 56.6 - 519 61.1
Leicester - 75 846 " 67.6 107.3
Lincolnshire : 105 677 p— 6.6 834
West Northamptonshire - 60 617 e 43.0 80.6
Nottingham - 45 606 = 46.5 84.2
Derbyshire [ 95 ss.4 = 4738 721
Derby '} 35 52— 36.2 738
North Northamptonshire - 40 a7 = 33.0 63.4
Leicestershire =3 65 4430 32.0 533
Nottinghamshira - 75 24 N 324 519
Rutland - - * - -
References Page 45

1. NHS England (2019) ‘Childhood asthma’
2. Asthma UK (2019) ‘Asthma facts and statistics’
3. OHID wider impacts of COVID-19 on health

118


https://www.england.nhs.uk/childhood-asthma/
https://www.asthma.org.uk/about/media/facts-and-statistics/
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/covid19/data

Vulnerable Children and Young People -

Overview

Indicator Period
Children in care 2021
Average Attainment B score of 2020

children in care

Looked after children aged <5:
Rate par 10,000 population aged
<h

Looked after children aged 10-15 2021

Percentage of looked after children

whose emotional wellbeing is a 202021
cause for concern
Children providing unpaid care 2011

{aged 0-15)
Children providing 20+ hours/wesk 2011
of unpaid care (aged 0-15)

Under 165 conception rate / 1,000 2020

Under 18s conception rate / 1,000 2020

Teenage mothers 202021
First time entrants to the youth 2021
justice system

Homelessness - households owed

a duty under tha Homelessness

Reduction Act (main applicant 16- 2020121
24 yrs)

Hospital admizsions as a rasult of 202021

self-harm (10-24 years)

Hospital admissions as a rasult of

self-harm (10-14 yrs) 2020721
Hospital admissions as a rasult of

selLharm (15-19 yrs) 2020721
Hospital admissions as a rasult of
self-harm (20-24 yrs)

Young people providing unpaid care
(aged 16-24)

Young people providing 20+
hoursfweek of unpaid care (aged 201
16-24)

Children on child protaction plans:

Rate per 10,000 children <18 2020121

2020721

2011

201718 «

=

S

T £ "

[ ™ ™

o @ B =

2 @ IE- g S = E
= | B £ 5 & % B £ E
§ £ &£z ¥ = E E B 3
® % 8 £ & £ 2 £ g £ %
O w o o 3% % 5 =z =z = E
214 25 * 243 229 243 H 240 Bk m =
349 359 H e 45 248 30 287 =
76.9* m 61.6 E 511 484 7838 646 450
365 RENRES 373 351 LN 252 EEEERW 411 G600

=] -
i i A

n i
- -
et ]
La LA

=

-

(1=}

=
[=]

1.1 1143 113 1.08 | 1.14 | 0.84 110  0.580
021 - .22 0417 017 0.04
20 21 2.8 18 17 24 21 2.5 *
1320 125 153 103 114 | 108 130 57

7

=
.

o
wn

—

il =

—

1469 1554

26 2.4 a1

106.7 106.0 172.4 124.5 *

953 1882
1.8% H 1.7 247

186.0 2459 354.0 goired 3094 BN 5099

213.0 (1744 2323 ﬁ 435 960 1535 2213 13289 1520 *

4469

23

E

12

4219 4114 [364.7

G226 5996 5012 gkl 2723 3768 5652 pLULN 4172 6716 401.8

4015 EEEARE 354.8 Lxjky 3645 2677 346.8 Kyl 5554 *

48 | 47 H 4.1 46 45 389 49 3.8

13 12 13 1.4 1.2 13 0.5

0.8 1.3 11
414 461 T71 578 466 H 418 863 4.4 i

References
1. OHID wider impacts of COVID-19 on health

Page 46

119


https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/covid19/data

Appendix 2: Geographical Boundaries

The East Midlands is made up of ten local authorities: Derby, Derbyshire, Leicester, Leicestershire, Lincolnshire, North
Northamptonshire, West Northamptonshire, Nottingham, Nottinghamshire, and Rutland. In April 2021, North
Northamptonshire and West Northamptonshire were formed when Northamptonshire County Council was transformed
into two new unitary authorities.

Huddersfield
Rochdale
ton
Nanchester
Stoke-
on-Trent
Wolverhampton,
Birmingham
Thetford
Caventry ENGLA
Redditch
Bury St
Edmunds
Worcester
|
Cheltenham Stevenage e
References Page 47

120


https://geoportal.statistics.gov.uk/datasets/ons::counties-and-unitary-authorities-december-2021-uk-buc/about

Page 1 0of 3
Children, Young People and Education (CYPE) Scrutiny Commission
WORK PROGRAMME 2022 - 23

Meeting Meeting Items Actions Arising Progress
Date
14 June 1) Provision of Taxi Framework for Vulnerable
2022 People
2) Review of High Needs Block — SEN
Support for Pupils in Mainstream
3) Education White Paper — high level
assessment
6 1) SEND Green Paper — consultation THIS MEETING WAS ADJOURNED DUE
= | September response TO IT BEING INQUORATE
N | 2022 2) New SEND inspection framework - update
= 25 October | 1) Virtual School
2022 2)  SEND Pupil Place Planning

3) SEND Inspection Framework
4)  SEND Accelerated Progress Plan (verbal

update)

5)  SEND Green Paper Consultation
Response (for information)

6) Ashfield Academy Consultation

7) Fostering Annual Report (for information
only)

8) Adoption Annual Report (for information
only)

9) Verbal update on Covid-19 in schools

Updated December 2022

g Xipuaddy



Page 2 of 3

Mgetlng Meeting Iltems Actions Arising Progress
ate
Tuesday 6" | 1) Children not in state-maintained schools
December 2) Youth Justice Plan
2022 3) Journey to Excellence: One Year on from the
Ofsted Inspection of Local Authority Services
(ILACS)
4) Update — Commissioning approach to SEND
transport
Tuesday 1) Draft General Fund 2023/24 Revenue Budget
24t & Draft Capital Programme
January 2) Impact on children’s learning of the impact of
2023 Covid (Primary schools)
3) Residential children’s homes — verbal update
on consultation
H
B Tuesday 1) Impact on children’s learning of the impact of
215t March Covid (Secondary schools)
2023 2) Ash Field Academy Residential Consultation
Report
3) Family hubs

Updated December 2022



ecl

Draft Forward Plan / Suggested Items for 2022/23

Page 3 of 3

Topic

Details / Progress

Proposed Date

Performance Reporting and data
monitoring, including
Quarterly and Qualitative Reports

The commission to receive regular ‘Quarterly Quality Assurance &
Performance’ Reports - (‘Performance Book’ and ‘Dashboard’ is sent

to members as background information).

Note: a request for the sharing of LADO reports to resume, was given in
the Oct 2021 meeting by outside representatives.

STANDING ITEM - as
appropriate

COVID19 Update and Vaccinations in
Schools

This was requested as a standing item by Chair following the Oct

2021 meeting.

STANDING ITEM - as
appropriate

Safeguarding Partnership Annual
report

To receive a report for members consideration.

thc

School Attendance Annual Report
(incorporating update on Children Missing
Education and Elective Home Education)

To receive a report on progress for members consideration

thc

Report on Multisystemic Therapy-Child
Abuse and Neglect (MST-CAN) &
Functional Family Therapy (FFT)
intervention programmes (Annual Report)

To receive a report on progress for members consideration

Oct 20227

Adventure playgrounds

Item carried over from the previous work programme.

thc

School Nursing Provision

Potential joint Item with Health and Well-being Scrutiny

Commission

HWB on 1 December.

Update — SEND bandings moderation
process. Tracie Rees and Sophie Maltby

Deferred from December 2022 meeting

Ash Field Academy Banding
Update: Tracie Rees

Deferred from December 2022 meeting

Updated December 2022






	Agenda
	3 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
	Minutes

	7 DRAFT REVENUE BUDGET 2023/24 AND DRAFT CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2023/24
	Draft Capital Programme 2023-24

	8 PUBLIC HEALTH REPORT - THE IMPACT OF COVID-19 ON CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE IN THE EAST MIDLANDS
	10 WORK PROGRAMME

